REGULATION OF SUBCELLULAR LOCALIZATION OF LIPID PHOSPHATASE SAC1

By

JINZHI WANG

A THESIS/DISSERTATION

Presented to the Department of Cell & Developmental Biology and the Oregon Health & Science University School of Medicine

in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

May 2013

School of Medicine Oregon Health & Science University CERTIFICATE OF APPROVAL

This is to certify that the PhD dissertation

[JINZHI WANG]

has been approved

Mentor/Advisor

Member

Member

Member

Member

Member

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| ABBREVIATIONS | 1 |
|---|----|
| HIGHLIGHTS | 6 |
| SUMMARY | 6 |
| CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION | 8 |
| 1. Phosphoinositides | 8 |
| 2. PI4P function at the Golgi | 9 |
| 3. PI4P metabolism | 10 |
| 4. The Sac phosphatase domain family | 12 |
| 5. Lipid phosphatase Sac1 | 13 |
| 6. Subcellular distribution of Sac1 | 16 |
| 7. ER-to-Golgi transport | 17 |
| 8. Golgi apparatus and Golgi retention | 19 |
| 9. 14-3-3 basics | 23 |
| 10. 14-3-3 structure and action modes | 24 |
| 11. 14-3-3 function | 25 |
| 12. 14-3-3-binding motifs | 26 |
| 13. 14-3-3 inhibitors | 27 |
| 14. Isoform-specific interaction | 28 |
| 15. 14-3-3 proteins in membrane protein trafficking | 29 |
| FIGURES AND FIGURE LEGENDS | 32 |
| Figure 1. Phosphatidylinositol (PI) and the seven phosphoinositides | 32 |
| Figure 2. PI 4-kinases and PI4P phosphatases in yeast and mammalian | 33 |

| | Table 1. Distinctive feature of mammalian PI4-kinase isoforms | 34 |
|----|--|----|
| | Figure 3. Sequence alignments of the Sac1 phosphatases | 35 |
| | Figure 4. 2D topological diagram and protein sequence of human SAC1 | 36 |
| | Figure 5. Ribbon diagram of the structure of yeast Sac1p phosphatase | 38 |
| | Figure 6. Cis-/trans-functional model of Sac1 at the membrane interface | 39 |
| | Figure 7. Human lipid phosphatase SAC1 shuttles between the ER and Golgi | 40 |
| | Figure 8. Bi-directional ER-to-Golgi transport | 41 |
| | Figure 9. Simplified Golgi retention models | 42 |
| | Figure 10. Crystal structures of 14-3-3 isoforms liganded with peptides | 43 |
| С | HAPTER TWO: TWO DISTINCT REGIONS IN LIPID PHOSPHATASE SA | C1 |
| С | ONTROL DISTRIBUTION OF SAC1 WITHIN THE GOLGI | 44 |
| 1. | ABSTRACT | 44 |
| 2. | INTRODUCTION | 45 |
| 3. | MATERIALS AND METHODS | 47 |
| | 3.1 Cell culture and antibodies | 47 |
| | 3.2 Plasmids | 47 |
| | 3.3 Mutagenesis | 49 |
| | 3.4 Immunofluorescence and confocal microscopy | 49 |
| | 3.5 Immunoprecipitation and Western blot | 50 |
| 4. | RESULTS | 51 |
| | 4.1 Identification of Golgi localization domains in SAC1 | 51 |
| | 4.2 The cytoplasmic region adjacent to TM1 is required for ER export | 52 |
| | 4.3 Replacing TM1 with TMtfr2 disrupts Golgi localization of | |

| | GFP-SAC1(478-549) | 53 |
|----|---|-----|
| | 4.4 Inserting TM1 of SAC1 into TfR2 redirects this protein to the Golgi | 53 |
| | 4.5 Lengthening of TM1 triggers PM accumulation of GFP-SAC1(478 549) | 54 |
| | 4.6 The N-terminal cytoplasmic domain of SAC1 contributes Golgi localization | 55 |
| | 4.7 A potential oligomerization domain resides at the adjacent region of TM1 | 56 |
| | 4.8 BFA treatment relocates GFP-SAC1-K2A and GFP-SAC1(478-549) to the ER | 57 |
| 5. | CONCLUSIONS | 58 |
| 6. | DISCUSSION | 58 |
| 7. | FIGURES AND FIGURE LEGENDS | 64 |
| | Figure 11. Mapping the Golgi retention motif in SAC1 | 64 |
| | Figure 12. No mistargeting of GFP-SAC1(478-549) to mitochondrial and peroxisor | nal |
| | membranes | 65 |
| | Figure 13. The cytoplasmic flanking region of TM1 is required for ER export | 66 |
| | Figure 14. The 505-DELE-508 sequence adjacent to TM1 is not required for ER | |
| | export | 67 |
| | Figure 15. Replacing TM1 with the transmembrane domain of TfR2 results in loss | of |
| | Golgi retention | 68 |
| | Figure 16. Insertion of TM1 induces Golgi retention of TfR2 | 69 |
| | Figure 17. Lengthening TM1 by inserting three leucine residues results in a loss of | |
| | Golgi retention | 70 |
| | Figure 18. The N-terminal domain of SAC1 promotes Golgi retention | 71 |
| | Figure 19. A potential oligomerization domain is located at the adjacent region of | |
| | SAC1-TM1 | 72 |

| Figure 20. Brefeldin A (BFA) treatment relocates GFP-SAC1-K2A and GFP- | | |
|---|----|--|
| SAC1(478-549) to the ER compartment | 75 | |
| CHAPTER THREE: 14-3-3 PROTEINS REGULATE ER EXIT OF LIPID | | |
| PHOSPHATASE SAC1 | 76 | |
| 1. ABSTRACT | 76 | |
| 2. INTRODUCTION | 77 | |
| 3. MATERIALS AND METHODS | 79 | |
| 3.1 Cell culture and antibodies | 79 | |
| 3.2 Transfections | 80 | |
| 3.3 Establishment of stable cell line Hep3B/Flag-SAC1 | 80 | |
| 3.4 Plasmids and site-directed mutagenesis | 81 | |
| 3.5 Immunoprecipitation and Western blot | 82 | |
| 3.6 Indirect immunofluorescence microscopy | 82 | |
| 4. RESULTS | | |
| 4.1 14-3-3 σ is a new interacting partner for lipid phosphatase SAC1 | 83 | |
| 4.2 Binding of 14-3-3 σ to SAC1 via recognizing a classic mode II-like motif | 84 | |
| 4.3 Effects of 14-3-3 on the ER export of SAC1 | 85 | |
| 4.4 Isoform-specific binding of 14-3-3 to human SAC1 | 86 | |
| 4.5 S147A/T149A/S150A mutant shows greatly reduced interaction with 14-3-3 | 87 | |
| 5. DISCUSSION | 88 | |
| 5.1 The molecular basis of SAC1 and 14-3-3 interactions | 89 | |
| 5.2 The effect of 14-3-3 binding to SAC1 | 91 | |
| 6. FIGURES AND FIGURE LEGENDS | 94 | |

| Figure 21. 14-3-3 σ is a novel human SAC1 binding protein | 94 |
|---|-----|
| Figure 22. 14-3-3 σ associates with human SAC1 via a classic mode 2-like motif | 95 |
| Figure 23. Effects of 14-3-3 on the ER export of SAC1 | 96 |
| Figure 24. Interaction of 14-3-3 isoforms with human SAC1 | 97 |
| Figure 25. Phosphorylation-dependent binding of 14-3-3 to human SAC1 | 99 |
| CHAPTER FOUR: FUTURE DIRECTIONS | |
| REFERENCES | 105 |
| APPENDICES | 135 |
| Table 2. Plasmid information | 135 |
| Figure 26. Expression and purification of GST and GST-14-3-3 σ in E.coli | 138 |
| Figure 27. Expression of recombimant GST- or His-tagged SAC1 and 14-3-3 p | |
| in E.coli | 139 |

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to express my deepest gratitude to my mentor, Dr. Peter Mayinger, for his constant guidance and support that make it possible for me to finish this dissertation.

I would like to extend my great appreciation to all of my committee members, Chair, Dr. Linda Musil, Dr. Caroline Enns, Dr. Peter Barr-Gillespie, Dr. William Skach and Dr. Show-Ling Shyng for their precious time and invaluable suggestions and encouragements during the past several years.

I would like to thank Dr. Vivek Bhalla (Stanford University) for providing me 14-3-3 plasmids and Dr. Gary Banker (OHSU) for Mito-TagRFP plasmid. Their gifts saved me a lot of time. No words can express my gratitude.

I am again particularly grateful for the assistance given by Dr. Caroline Enns. She provided not only transferrin receptor 2 plasmid but also her valuable and constructive suggestions during the planning and development of my research as well as during my manuscript preparations.

I would like to thank Dr. Teresa Nicolson (OHSU) and all members from her laboratory for sharing their reagents. I am especially thankful to Dr. Weike Mo. He trained me how to use their laser scanning confocal microscope.

I am thankful to the past and current Mayinger lab members, Hailan Piao, Milene Vallejo, Damian Lee and Anastasia Blagoveshchenskaya for sharing laboratory duties with me and for enjoying non-scientific time with me.

Finally, I wish to thank my wife, Juxing Chen, my parents, and parents-in-law for all the support and encouragement throughout my graduate study.

vi

ABBREVIATIONS

AANAT: arylalkylamine-serotonin N-acetyltransferase

AAV: Adeno-associated virus

ACT1: actin

AMPK: AMP-activated protein kinase

AP-1: Adaptor protein complexes-1

Arf1: ADP-ribosylation factor 1

ATP: adenosine triphosphate

BAD: Bcl2 antagonist of cell death

BAX: Bcl-2-like protein 4, Apoptosis regulator BAX

CALM: Clathrin Assembly Lymphoid Myeloid

CERT: ceramide transport protein

Cdc25: Cell division cycle 25

ChREBP: Carbohydrate response element-binding protein

CI-M6PR: cation-independent mannose-6-phosphate receptor

CKII: Casien kinase II

Co-IP: co-immunoprecipitation

COP-I: coatomer complex-I

COP-II: coatomer complex-II

CVB3: coxsackievirus B3

DMEM: Dulbecco's modified Eagle medium

EBBS: Earle's Balanced Salt Solution

EEA1: Early Endosome Antigen 1

EGFP: Enhanced Green Fluorescent Protein EM: electron microscope ENTH: the Epsin N-terminal homology Epsin: EPS-15-interacting protein EpsinR: epsin-related protein ER: endoplasmic reticulum ERGIC-53: The ER-Golgi intermediate compartment ExoS: exoenzyme S FBS: fetal bovine serum FAPP1/2: phosphoinositol 4-phosphate adaptor protein -1/2 FERM: Band 4.1 (F), Ezrin (E), Radixin (R), Moesin (M) FYVE: Fab 1, YOTB, Vac 1, and EEA1 domain GFP: Green Fluorescent Protein GGA: Golgi-localised, γ -ear containing, ADP ribosylation factor-binding GlcNAc6ST-1: N-acetylglucosamine 6-O-sulfotransferases 1 GM130: cis-Golgi Matrix Protein 130kDa GnTI: β-1,2-N-acetylglucosaminyltransferase I GOLPH3: Golgi phosphoprotein-3 GP Iba: platelet glycoprotein Ibalpha GRASP65: Golgi ReAssembly Stacking Protein 65kDa GST: glutathione-Sepharose GTs: Golgi glycosyltransferases HCV: hepatitis C virus

IBV: infectious bronchitis virus

IP: immunoprecipitates

IPTG: isopropylthio-β-galactoside

JAK1: Janus Kinase 1

KCNK3: potassium channel subfamily K member 3

Lsb6: LAS17-binding protein 6, a PI4 kinase

MAP kinases: Mitogen-activated protein kinases

NCS-1: neuronal calcium sensor-1

OCRL1, oculocerebrorenal syndrome of Lowe 1

OSBP: oxysterol binding protein

PACS-2: phosphofurin acidic cluster sorting protein-2

PAR4: proteinase-activated receptors 4

PKA: protein kinase A

P-loop: phosphate-binding loop

PVDF: polyvinylidene difluoride

PBS: phosphate buffer solution

PCR: polymerase chain reaction

PDGF: platelet-derived growth factor

PH: pleckstrin homology

PI: phosphatidylinositol

PI4P: phosphatidylinositol-4-phosphate

PI3K: PI 3-kinase

PI4K: PI 4-kinases

PI4KIIα: type IIα PI 4-kinases

PI4KIIβ: type IIβ PI 4-kinase

PI4KIIIα: type IIIα PI 4-kinases

PI4KIIIβ: type IIIβ PI 4-kinase

PI3P: phosphatidylinositol 3-phosphate

PI4P: phosphatidylinositol 4-phosphate

PI5P: phosphatidylinositol 5-phosphate

PI(3,4)P₂: phosphatidylinositol 3,4-phosphate

PI(3,5)P₂: phosphatidylinositol 3,5-phosphate

PI(4,5)P₂: phosphatidylinositol 4,5-phosphate

PI(3,4,5)P₃: phosphatidylinositol 3,4,5-phosphate

PM: plasma membrane

PV: poliovirus

PX: phox homology

Rac: RAC-alpha serine/threonine-protein kinase, AKT1/PKB

RACK1: Receptor for Activated C Kinase 1

SAC1: Suppressor of actin mutations 1

SDS-PAGE: sodium dodecyl sulfate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis

sec6: an essential subunit of the exocyst complex

sec9: t-SNARE protein, homolog of SNAP-25

sec14: phosphatidylinositol/phosphatidylcholine transfer protein

SKL: serine-lysine-leucine,

TASK-1: TWIK-related acid-sensitive K(+) channel 1

TFEB: transcription factor EB

- TfR2: transferrin receptor 2
- TGN: trans-Golgi network
- TM1: The first transmembrane domain of human SAC1
- TM2: the second transmembrane domain of human SAC1
- TLR: Toll-like receptors
- TRAF: tumor necrosis factor receptor-associated factor
- TS(ts): temperature-sensitive
- UPR: unfolded protein response
- VAPB: VAMP-associated protein B
- Vps74: vacuole protein sorting 74

HIGHLIGHTS

Two distinct regions (TM1 and cytoplasmic N-terminal domain) in SAC1
(Suppressor of <u>actin mutations 1</u>) control its Golgi distribution

 A potential oligomerization motif resides within the N-terminal cytoplasmic region adjacent to SAC1-TM1

SAC1, even the Golgi targeted SAC1-K2A, may localize at the cis/medial/trans
Golgi, absent from the trans-Golgi network (TGN)

14-3-3 proteins are novel SAC1 interacting partners and may regulate ER exit of human SAC1

SUMMARY

At steady state, human lipid phosphatase SAC1 continuously cycles between the ER and cisternal Golgi compartments, which is crucial for the spatial regulation of phosphatidylinositol-4-phosphate (PI4P) at both organelles. In proliferating mammalian cells, a canonical di-lysine motif (583-KEKID-587) at the C-terminus of Sac1 is required for coatomer complex-I (COP-I)-binding and continuous retrieval to the ER. A COP-I binding deficient mutant SAC1-K2A, in which lysines are substituted by alanines, accumulates at the Golgi. However, how the distribution of Sac1 within the Golgi is controlled remains uncertain and the mechanism responsible for Golgi retention of this mutant is unknown. Currently, whether SAC1-K2A mutant localizes at the TGN seems controversial. And it was unclear how ER exit and anterograde transport of SAC1 is regulated. Here, by utilizing the Golgi-targeted SAC1-K2A mutant as a model, we investigated the Golgi retention signal of the human SAC1. We showed that the first of the two transmembrane regions in human SAC1 (TM1) is sufficient for Golgi localization.

In addition, we determined that the N-terminal cytoplasmic domain of SAC1 also promotes Golgi localization, even when TM1 is mutated. We conclude that the distribution of SAC1 within the Golgi is controlled via both passive TM1 lengthdependent partitioning and a retention mechanism that requires the N-terminal cytoplasmic region. We also identified a potential oligomerization motif within the region adjacent to SAC1-TM1, independent of the N-terminal leucine zipper motif. We found that BFA treatment causes the SAC1-K2A mutant to redistribute into the ER, implying that even the Golgi targeted SAC1-K2A mutant may localize at the cis/medial/trans Golgi instead of the TGN at steady state.

Moreover, we found that 14-3-3 proteins are novel SAC1 interacting partners. We showed that binding of 14-3-3 to SAC1 through recognizing a classic mode II-like 14-3-3-binding motif (145-RLSNTSP-151) in the cytoplasmic N-terminal domain of human SAC1. A deletion mutant of SAC1, SAC1(Δ 145-151), which lacks the 14-3-3-binding motif, no longer co-immunoprecipitates with 14-3-3 proteins. When over-expressed, all 14-3-3 isoforms, with the exception of 14-3-3 ζ , can co-immunoprecipitate with SAC1. A SAC1-S147A/T149A/S150A mutant shows much reduced interaction with 14-3-3, indicating that phosphorylation may be involved in regulating the interaction between SAC1 and 14-3-3. The GFP-SAC1 (Δ 145-151) mutant shows a greatly compromised ability to traffic out of the ER compared to wild-type GFP-SAC1. This finding suggests that binding of 14-3-3 may regulate the ER to Golgi transport of lipid phosphatase SAC1.

CHAPTER ONE

INTRODUCTION

1. Phosphoinositides

Phosphoinositides are recently characterized as versatile membrane signaling molecules. Phosphoinositides, which are located at the cytosolic leaflet of the membrane bilayer, are very minor elements of membranes, less than 1% of total lipids, yet they have been reported to play critical roles in signal transduction, membrane trafficking as well as cytoskeleton remodeling^{1,2}. Phosphoinositides are phosphorylated derivatives of phosphatidylinositol³. Addition of a phosphate group to phosphatidylinositol (PI) can occur at three positions of the D-3, D-4 and D-5 of the inositol ring, which creates seven species of phosphoinositides ²⁻⁴. These are phosphatidylinositol 3-phosphate (PI3P), phosphatidylinositol 4-phosphate (PI4P), phosphatidylinositol 5-phosphate (PI5P), phosphatidylinositol 3,4-phosphate ($PI(3,4)P_2$), phosphatidylinositol 3,5-phosphate $(PI(3,5)P_2)$, phosphatidylinositol 4,5-phosphate $(PI(4,5)P_2)$ and phosphatidylinositol 3,4,5-phosphate $(PI(3,4,5)P_3)^{2,5}$ (see Figure 1). Currently, there is a "lipid code" hypothesis, which proposes that distinct phosphoinositide lipids mark individual cellular membranes to enable sequential regulation of the complexity of membrane trafficking reaction and allow for the spatial and temporal signaling in each of the cellular membranes ⁶. For instance, the plasma membrane is enriched in $PI(4,5)P_2$, Golgi membranes are adorned with PI4P, endosomal membranes are decorated with PI3P, and lysosomal membranes contain $PI(3,5)P_2^{5,7}$. Therefore, phosphoinositides are landmarks of distinct subcellular membranes.

The function of phosphoinositides apparently depends on their ability to recruit specific effectors ^{1, 2}. Phosphoinositides can directly transport signalling effects through the binding of their phosphorylated head groups to effectors ³. These effectors are proteins that have phosphoinositide-binding modules ⁸. Well-characterized phosphoinositide-binding modules include PH domains (e.g., FAPP1/2) ⁹⁻¹¹; ENTH domain (e.g., Epsin) ¹²; FYVE domain (e.g., EEA1) ¹³; PX domain (e.g., PI3K) ^{9, 14}; FERM domain (e.g., JAK1) ¹⁵ and CALM domain (e.g., AP180) ^{16, 17}. These modules can be found in cytosolic proteins or cytosolic domains of membrane proteins. Thus, phosphoinositides can regulate the function of integral membrane proteins or recruit cytosolic signalling components and play multiple functions.

2. PI4P function at the Golgi

PI4P is mainly concentrated at the Golgi membranes, especially at the trans-Golgi network (TGN) and functions there. Recruitment of effectors at the Golgi is coordinated by PI4P and activated Arf1 via a coincidence detection mechanism ¹⁸. Among the seven phosphoinositides, PI4P is one of the most abundant ¹. However, the function of PI4P has not been studied as intensively as the function of P(4,5)P₂ in PI3K/AKT signalling. PI4P has long been considered only as a precursor for PI(4,5)P₂^{2, 19}. Besides functioning as a precursor, recently several lines of evidence suggested that PI4P plays crucial roles in such as membrane trafficking and cell signaling ²⁰. Golgi PI4P has been shown to be vital in secretion ²¹. The importance of Golgi PI4P in both vesicular membrane trafficking and non-vesicular lipid transport is well documented. The role of PI4P in membrane trafficking relies on its ability to recruit clathrin adaptors. For example, PI4P can recruit AP-1 ²², GGA proteins ²³ and EpsinR ²⁴. PI4P is also involved in lipid transport via

recruiting lipid-transfer proteins. For example, PI4P can recruit the oxysterol binding protein OSBP²⁵, the ceramide transport protein CERT²⁶ and the phosphoinositol 4phosphate adaptor protein-1/2 (FAPP1/2)^{25, 27}. Another PI4P effector is Golgi phosphoprotein-3 (GOLPH3), a homolog of yeast Vps74. GOLPH3 binds to both PI4P and MYO18A conveying a tensile force at the TGN membrane, which is required for efficient membrane budding ²⁸. GOLPH3 was also found to be an oncogene, which may link PI4P to human cancer²⁹. Membrane microenvironments enriched in PI4P have recently been found to serve as replication platforms required for a number of RNA viruses, such as hepatitis C virus (HCV)³⁰⁻³⁴ coxsackievirus B3 (CVB3), poliovirus (PV) ³⁴, and Aichi virus ³⁵. These are achieved by selectively recruiting host PI4Ks (PI4KIII β or PI4KIII α) to create and enlarge PI4P-enriched replication platforms ^{36, 37}. Furthermore, PI4P at the Golgi is required for COP-II vesicles to fuse with the Golgi membrane through modulating SNARE complex formation at the fusion stage ³⁸. In conclusion, these distinct functions of PI4P rely on recruiting proteins to specific Golgi membrane locations. The distribution of PI4P within the Golgi complex is critical for such functions and discrete Golgi PI4P pools are tightly modulated by specific PI kinases and phosphatases 2 .

3. PI4P metabolism

Like all the other phosphoinositides, PI4P metabolism is regulated in a spatio-temporal manner ¹⁹. This regulation of PI4P is enabled by different PI4P kinases and phosphatases, whose subcellular localizations and membrane associated catalytic activities are regulated both in yeast and in mammalians (see Figure 2A, B) ^{3, 39, 40}. Synthesis of PI4P is controlled by the compartment-specific PI 4-kinases. There are three PI 4-kinases

(PI4Ks) in yeast: Pik1, Stt4 and Lsb6^{3, 39}. Pik1, a type III PI 4-kinase, is the sole Golgi associated PI4K required for biosynthesis of PI4P in the Golgi compartment. The Golgi pool of PI4P synthesized by Pik1 is critical for vesicular Golgi-to-PM trafficking ^{41, 42}. Pik1 can also relocate to the nucleus when nutrients are scarce, although the nuclear function of Pik1 has not been resolved ⁴³⁻⁴⁶. Stt4, another yeast type III PI4K, localizes to the PM, where it is responsible for producing distinct PM pool of PI4P^{42,47}. Stt4 has no clear roles in secretion but may regulate the vacuole morphology and the actin cytoskeleton⁴⁸. Yeast Lsb6, a type II PI4K, localizes to the PM and the vacuolar membrane and may regulate endosome motility ⁴⁹⁻⁵¹. Both Pik1 and Stt4 are vital for producing PI4P. Ablation of either Stt4 or Pik1 is lethal in yeast ⁴². When shifted to the non-permissive temperature, a temperature-sensitive (ts) double mutant, $stt4^{ts}pik1^{ts}$, lost 90% of total cellular PI4P in less than 1 hr⁴². Over-expression of Pik1 cannot compensate for deletion of Stt4 and vice versa ⁵². In conclusion, Pik1 and Stt4 are main yeast PI4-kinases, which regulate spatial-temporal PI4P signaling pathways at distinct subcellular locations in yeast.

In mammals, four PI 4-kinases have been identified (see table 1). Two of them are type III PI 4-kinase isoforms (PI4KIIIα and PI4KIIIβ), which can be inhibited by wortmannin and LY 294002 at high micromolar concentrations probably due to homolog to the PI 3-kinase (PI3K) family members ¹⁷. The other two mammalian PI 4-kinases are type II PI 4-kinases (PI4KIIα and PI4KIIβ), which can be inhibited by low micromolar concentrations of adenosine but are insensitive to wortmannin and LY 294002 ^{17, 53}. PI4KIIα and PI4KIIβ are highly conserved with a molecular weight about 55-kDa ^{54, 55}, whereas PI4KIIIα and PI4KIIIβ are relatively larger with molecular weight 230 kDa and

92 kDa respectively ^{56, 57}. All four mammalian PI 4-kinases create the same PI4P lipid. Although the subcellular localizations of PI 4-kinases are still somewhat controversial, it is generally accepted that PI4KIIa, a homolog of yeast Lsb6, and PI4KIIIB, a homolog of yeast Pik1, mainly localize to the Golgi ^{3, 17}. PI4KIIa is predominately targeted to the trans-Golgi network (TGN) via palmitoylation mediated by a conserved 174-CCPCC-178 motif within its catalytic domain 54, 58, while PI4KIII β is recruited to the Golgi membrane depending on ADP-ribosylation factor 1 (Arf1)⁵⁹ or on neuronal calcium sensor-1 (NCS-1) $^{60, 61}$. It was suggested that the basal levels of PI4P might be generated by PI4KII α while specific pool of PI4P could be the regulated product of PI4KIII β at the Golgi ⁶². Moreover, PI4KII α is also found at endosomes ⁵¹. PI4KIII β , like its homolog Pik1, has been shown to cycle between cytoplasm and nucleus ⁶³. PI4KIIβ is mainly cytosolic in spite of its preserved CCPCC palmitoylation motif, but it can be recruited to the PM upon PDGF stimulation or by constitutive activation of Rac⁶⁴. PI4KIIIa is predominantly found at the ER ⁶⁵. Electron microscopic analysis indicates that PI4KIIIa may associate with multivesicular bodies and mitochondria⁶⁶. In summary, different localization of each of mammalian PI4-kinases creates distinct PI4P pool and regulates corresponding specific signals.

Turnover of PI4P is modulated by PI4P phosphatases ⁶⁷. The major PI4P phosphatase in yeast is Sac1p, which is an originating member of the Sac phosphatase domain family protein ⁶⁷. The purpose of my thesis is to understand how the subcellular localization of human PI4P phosphatase SAC1, a homolog of yeast Sac1p, is regulated.

4. The Sac phosphatase domain family

The Sac phosphatase domain proteins constitute an important family of lipid

phosphatases. These proteins have a common catalytical motif $CX_5R(T/S)$ discovered in many protein tyrosine phosphatases and lipid phosphatases ⁶⁷. This signature motif has a P-loop structure ^{67, 68}. Members of this family are evolutionarily conserved from yeast to mammals ⁶⁸. These proteins include mammalian SAC1, SAC2, SAC3, synaptojanin and its variants as well as yeast Sac1p, Fig4p, and the three dual specificity synaptojanin-like phosphatases Sjl1/Inp51p, Sjl2/Inp52p and Sjl3/Inp53p ^{67, 69-71}. Interestingly, one of the members, Inp51p, exhibits no phosphatase activity because the cysteine, arginine and threonine/serine residues within its $CX_5R(T/S)$ motif are missing ^{70, 72, 73}. In conclusion, Sac domain phosphatase family is composed of important enzymes, which can hydrolyze different species of phosphoinositides ⁶⁷.

5. Lipid phosphatase Sac1

Sac1p was originally discovered in 1989^{74, 75}, but was characterized as an inositide phosphatase a decade later when synaptojanin, a Sac phosphatase domain containing protein, was identified as a major lipid phosphatase⁷¹. Sac1 family proteins from yeast to mammalians are evolutionarily conserved and represent important phosphoinositide phosphatases (see Figure 3). The yeast *SAC1* gene was originally identified in screening temperature sensitive mutations that could suppress defects in *ACT1* (actin) mutants and was named Sac1 (Suppressor of actin mutation 1)^{74, 75}. Sac1 mutants were also found to suppress mutations in several genes encoding factors involved in anterograde trafficking such as defects in *SEC14* (phosphatidylinositol/phosphatidylcholine transfer protein) gene as well as *SEC6* (an essential subunit of the exocyst complex) and *SEC9* (t-SNARE protein, homolog of SNAP-25)⁷⁴. Human gene encoding lipid phosphatase SAC1 is *SACM1L* (or *KIAA0851*)⁷⁶. The *SACM1L* gene is located in chromosome 3 in the human

genome at the position of p21.3. Human SAC1 protein (UniProtKB entry No. Q9NTJ5) consists of 587 amino acid residues with a calculated molecular weight of 67kDa (see Figure 4A, B). Yeast Sac1p (UniProtKB entry No. P32368) is composed of 623 amino acid residues with a longer cytoplasmic C-terminus compared to human SAC1. Biochemical analyses showed that both yeast and mammalian Sac1 are integral membrane proteins containing two transmembrane domains near the C-terminus ^{77, 78}. Both its large N-terminal domain (1-520) and its short 18-residue C-terminal domain (570-587) of human SAC1 face the cytoplasm. The first transmembrane domain (TM1) and the second transmembrane domain (TM2) of human SAC1 are separated by a putative 6-residue luminal region (543-DTWTET-549), which may form a hairpin structure when inserted into membrane bilayers (see Figure. 4A and B). This feature of Sac1 makes it a unique member of Sac phosphatase domain family in which most of them are cytosolic proteins, while Sac1 is an integral membrane protein.

Currently, there is no atomic structure available for mammalian SAC1. Structure of yeast Sac1p N-terminal cytoplasmic domain (residues 1–503) has been resolved by X-ray crystallography at 2.0Å resolution resolution ⁶⁸ (see Figure 5). The cytoplasmic N-terminus of Sac1p can be grouped into three distinct subdomains: a SacN domain (residues 1–182), a catalytic domain (residues 183-461) with the CX5R(T/S) signature motif and a potential unstructured domain (residues 462-521) ⁶⁸. The striking features of the structure are a unique conformation of the catalytic P-loop and a large positively charged groove at the catalytic region ⁶⁸. The potential unstructured domain has been proposed to allow enzymatic activity in trans at the ER and other membranes contact sites ^{68, 79 79} (see Figure 6). Previous studies have demonstrated that human SAC1 can

form oligomers ⁷⁶ and further research revealed that a N-terminal leucine zipper motif in human SAC1 is required for oligomerization during serum starvation ⁸⁰.

The Sac1 phosphatase domain at the cytoplasmic N-terminus of SAC1 is an around 500 amino acid region characterized by the catalytic motif $CX_5R(T/S)^{67, 70}$. In vitro experiments have demonstrated that substrate specificity of yeast Sac1p phosphatase is obscure ⁶⁷. It can hydrolyze phosphate from any of monophosphoinositides PI3P, PI4P and PI5P as well as biphosphoinositides $PI(3,5)P_2$. But Sac1p cannot hydrolyze inositol lipids with adjacent phosphates such as $PI(3,4)P_2$, PI(4,5)P and $PI(3,4,5)P_3$. Only PI3P, PI4P and PI(3,5)P₂ can be efficiently dephosphorylated by Sac1 phosphatase $^{67, 69, 72}$. However, genomic deletion of the yeast SAC1 gene increases intracellular PI4P levels by twelve-fold but no significant increase of other phosphoinositide levels, suggesting that Sac1p is a predominant PI4P lipid phosphatase *in vivo*^{81,82}. Yeast Sac1 phosphatase has been reported to be an allosteric enzyme⁸³. Binding of anionic phospholipids (PI or phosphatidylserine) to the positively charged groove of Sac1 may result in conformational changes of the catalytic P-loop and regulate the enzymatic activity of membrane associated Sac1⁸³. In conclusion, Sac1 is a phosphatase that is responsible for PI4P turnover.

Sac1 appears to be a housekeeping gene in that it plays crucial physiological functions ^{71, 84}. Deletion of yeast *SAC1* gene in yeast is not lethal but *sac1* mutants show pleiotropic phenotypes including abnormal actin cytoskeleton ⁴⁸, defect in ATP transport into the ER ⁸⁵, constitutively-activated unfolded protein response (UPR) ⁸⁶, multi drug sensitivity ^{87, 88}, inositol auxotrophy ^{77, 89}, disruption of vacuole morphology and accumulation of lipid droplets ^{48, 77}. In plants, mutation of SAC1 has been shown to alter

cell morphogenesis, cell wall synthesis as well as actin organization ⁹⁰. However, knockdown of *SAC1* in mice and ablation of Sac1 in Drosophila create lethal phenotypes, implying that Sac1 in these two species could be vital for their organ development ^{91, 92}. Sac1 insufficiencies cause disruption of mammalian Golgi membranes and result in multiple active spindles ⁹¹. Moreover, a recent study from our laboratory showed that downregulation of human SAC1 by siRNA impedes glycosylation fidelity and causes Golgi-specific defects in N- and O-linked glycosylation ⁹³. In conclusion, these phenotypes from Sac1 insufficiencies or Sac1 loss-of-function correlate with subcellular localization of Sac1 and its role in the spatial-temporal regulation of the PI4P lipid pools at distinct cellular membranes ^{7, 79, 91}.

6. Subcellular distribution of Sac1

Studies in mammals have shown that lipid phosphatase SAC1 is located at the ER and Golgi and is responsible for PI4P dephosphorylation at both compartments ^{7, 77}. This ER/Golgi-localization of SAC1 is in agreement with the subcellular distribution of yeast Sac1p ⁷⁷. Compartmental localization of yeast Sac1p phosphatase correlates with the processes that it regulates ⁹⁴. Golgi-localized Sac1p participates in the regulation of Golgi-to-PM trafficking, while ER-localized Sac1p may be involved in such functions as ATP uptake ^{85, 94} and ER-based secretion ⁶⁷. Localization of yeast Sac1p is modulated by growth conditions and MAP kinase signaling ^{95, 96}. Glucose starvation has been shown to promote Golgi accumulation of yeast Sac1p ⁹⁶. Interaction with ER protein Dpm1p confers ER retention of yeast Sac1p ^{46, 96}. At steady state, both yeast Sac1p and human SAC1 are predominately localized at the ER. Human SAC1 continually cycles between the ER and the Golgi. This is achieved by the presence of a di-lysine retrieval motif (583-

KEKID-587) at the extreme C-terminus of human SAC1 ^{76, 80}. In proliferating cells, Sac1 is localized at both ER and cisternal Golgi but is absent from the TGN ⁹³. This distribution of Sac1 is critical for maintaining a polarized localization of PI4P at the TGN ⁹³. During serum starvation and in quiescent cells, Sac1 accumulates at the TGN, which reduces Golgi PI4P levels and slows anterograde trafficking ⁸⁰ (see Figure 7). All mammalian Sac1 orthologs contain two distinct sequence motifs that are required for shuttling between ER and Golgi. The di-lysine motif at the C terminus of Sac1 is critical for interaction with the COP-I machinery and for retrieval to the ER ^{76, 80}. The leucine zipper at the cytoplasmic N-terminal domain promotes oligomerization of Sac1 is a prerequisite for Golgi accumulation ^{76, 80}. Yeast Sac1p lacks both the classic di-lysine retrieval motif and the leucine zipper motif. How the ER/Golgi localiztion of yeast Sac1p is regulated is unclear.

Although the steady-state subcellular localization of SAC1 to the Golgi is known, the retention signals have not been explored. Moreover, the molecular mechanism that modulates ER to Golgi anterograde transport of SAC1 remains to be discovered. These are central questions of my thesis.

7. ER-to-Golgi transport

The ER and the Golgi are two most important endomembrane organelles of the early secretory pathway ⁹⁷. Entry into the ER is the starting point for most newly synthesized secretory soluble and membrane proteins ⁹⁸. The ER provides not only docking sites for translational ribosomes but also an environment for protein folding and post-translational modification of nascent chains ⁹⁸. Once passed the ER quality control, newly synthesized membrane proteins destinated to post-ER compartments are exported from the ER to the

Golgi via the secretory pathway ^{99, 100}. The ER to Golgi anterograde trafficking is mediated by the coat protein complex-II (COP-II). COP-II, consisting of Sar1, Sec23/24 and Sec13/31, is responsible for cargo sorting and vesicle budding at the ER¹⁰¹. Several distinct ER export motifs in the cytoplasmic tails of membrane cargo proteins were found to be required for efficient ER exit, such as the di-acidic DXE motif in VSVG protein ¹⁰², the LXXL/ME motif in certain SNAREs ¹⁰³ and a di-phenylalanine (FF) motif in ERGIC-53¹⁰⁴ and p24 proteins ^{105, 106}. Sec24 subunit can directly bind to transmembrane cargo proteins and recruit them into the emerging vesicles. Two isoforms, Sec24a and Sec24b, have been shown to bind directly to the DXE motif ¹⁰² and the LXXL/ME motif respectively ¹⁰³. The Golgi to ER retrograde traffic is regulated by the coat protein complex-I (COP-I). The COP-I coat is composed of preformed cytoplasmic heptameric $(\alpha, \beta, \beta', \gamma, \delta, \varepsilon, \zeta)$ complexes ¹⁰⁷. COP-I can directly bind to di-lysine motifs and redistribute proteins containing these motifs from the Golgi to the ER^{107, 108}. The first lysine at -3 position are definitely required for β '-COP binding and it is critical that the lysine (-3) must be separated two residues apart from the C-terminal carbonyl groups (-COOH) in KKXX and KXKXX motifs ^{107, 108}. In conclusion, ER-to-Golgi bi-directional traffic is regulated by the classic COP-II and COP-I coatomers and multiple cargo recruitment mechanisms are involved ^{98, 109, 110} (see Figure 8).

To maintain ER homeostasis, ER resident proteins that define ER structural and functional attributes must be separated from the cargo proteins and retained in the ER ⁹⁸. ER retention is accomplished in two ways ⁹⁸: (i) exclusion from entering transport vesicles and (ii) rapid retrieval of "escaped" residents via retrieval motifs. Classic ER retrieval motifs have been identified such as a H/KDEL sequence at the C-terminus of

soluble ER resident proteins ¹¹¹ and a dibasic motif (either di-lysine or di-arginine) in transmembrane proteins ¹¹². Di-lysine motifs (either KKXX or KXKXX, X can be any amino acids) must locate at the extreme cytoplasmic C-terminus of membrane proteins and specific position requirements of these lysines must be met such as -3 and -4 for KKXX motif and -3 and -5 for KXKXX motif ^{107, 112, 113}. The destination of the secretory proteins after the ER is the Golgi apparatus. The anterograde transport vesicles that leave the endoplasmic reticulum are delivered to the cis face of the Golgi apparatus, where they fuse with the Golgi membrane ⁹⁸.

8. Golgi apparatus and Golgi retention

The Golgi apparatus, arranged in a cis to medial to trans-Golgi to the TGN ordered manner, is a central sorting organelle ^{114, 115}. The Golgi is not only responsible for guiding cargo proteins entry from the ER but also for sorting cargo proteins to their different endomembranes ¹¹⁵. Moreover, The Golgi carries out a variety of post-translational modifications ^{114, 115}. A number of important post-translational modifications have been functionally attributed to Golgi resident enzymes ¹¹⁶. For example, Golgi glycosyltransferases (GTs) must be appropriately localized along the cis-Golgi to TGN axis to ensure sequential modification of proteins passing the Golgi compartments ¹¹⁶.

How the Golgi maintains subcompartment-specific distribution of Golgi enzymes was intensively studied in the 1990s. However, unlike sequence-specific target signals, such as the classic ER retention/retrieval motif (KKXX or KXKXX)¹⁰⁷ or the peroxisomal targeting signal (serine-lysine-leucine; SKL) at the extreme C-terminus of some peroxisomal proteins ¹¹⁷, no common Golgi retention sequence motif has been identified ¹¹⁵. Most of our current knowledge of Golgi retention is from studies on GTs

and glycosidases ¹¹⁶. Interestingly, all these proteins are type II membrane proteins that have short cytoplasmic N-termini followed by a membrane-spanning domain and then a large catalytic luminal domain ^{115, 116}. Golgi retention signals have been mostly found to be located within a relatively short region of these proteins consisting of the cytoplasmic tail, the transmembrane domain, and the adjacent luminal region ¹¹⁸⁻¹²⁰.

Currently, two mechanisms have been proposed for Golgi retention signals, the bilayer thickness model and the oligomerization model ¹¹⁵. The bilayer thickness model postulates that retention relies on the length of a membrane-spanning domain and the thickness of the membrane of the Golgi complex ¹¹⁵. A recent bioinformatics investigation supports the idea that along the secretory pathway from the ER to PM, the length of the transmembrane domains of resident proteins varies, with 20 residues in Golgi and 24 residues in TGN and PM in vertebrates ¹²¹. Correspondingly, transmembrane domains have been shown to play key roles in retaining Golgi proteins ¹²². For example, β -galactoside alpha 2,6-sialyltransferase has a 17-residue transmembrane domain, which is sufficient for its Golgi retention ¹²³. Moreover, the transmembrane domain of bovine β 1,4-galactosyltransferase is key for its Golgi localization and removal of 18 of the 24 residues from its cytoplasmic domain did not disrupt the Golgi localization ¹²⁴. The oligomerization model proposes that retention is achieved by forming oligomers, too big to enter transport vesicles. Hassinen et al has shown that four N-glycosylation enzymes, namely, β -1,2-N-acetylglucosaminyltransferase I, β -1,2-Nacetylglucosaminyltransferase II, 1,4-galactosyltransferase I, and alpha-2,6sialyltransferase I, form not only Golgi-localized homodimers, but also Golgi subcompartmental and functional specific heterodimers ¹²⁵. For example, the medial

Golgi enzyme β -1,2-N-acetylglucosaminyltransferase I can heterodimerize with medial Golgi enzyme β -1,2-N-acetylglucosaminyltransferase II, and the trans-Golgi enzyme 1,4galactosyltransferase I can heterodimerize trans-Golgi enzyme alpha-2,6-sialyltransferase I ¹²⁵.

Although, in many Golgi resident proteins, transmembrane domains are key for Golgi retention, no specific signals within transmembrane domains were identified ¹¹⁵. However, cysteine within transmembrane domains may mediate dimerization by forming disulfide bridges, which may contribute to Golgi retention in some cases. For example, mutation of a cysteine residue in the transmembrane domain of β -1,4-galactosyltransferase prevents dimer formation and disrupts its Golgi localization ^{126, 127}. In contrast, two cysteine residues within the stem and transmembrane of N-acetylglucosamine 6-O-sulfotransferases 1 (GlcNAc6ST-1) domain were found to be critical for its dimerization, yet disruption of the dimer by mutagenesis did not change its localization ¹²⁸. Thus, in some cases, cysteines in the transmembrane domain could be a factor affecting Golgi retention but not always.

Besides transmembrane domains (TMs), cytoplasmic domains or luminal domains have also been reported to be required for Golgi retention. For example, the necessary and sufficient Golgi localization signal of uukuniemi virus membrane glycoprotein G1 locates within its cytoplasmic tail ^{9, 129}. And the critical signal for oligomerization and Golgi localization of N-acetylglucosaminyltransferase V lies in the luminal stem region ¹³⁰. Occasionally, a combination of a transmembrane domain and a cytoplasmic domain (or luminal domain) may be the key for Golgi retention ¹³¹. For example, the Golgi localization of plant β -1, 2-xylosyltransferase is dependent on both its cytoplasmic

and transmembrane domain 131 . And all three domains of β -1,2-N-

acetylglucosaminyltransferase I (GnTI) has been shown to significantly contribute to its Golgi localization ¹³². Moreover, interaction with some Golgi proteins may be involved in Golgi retention. Very interestingly, the yeast PI4P binding protein Vps74p, a homolog of mammalian GOLPH3, has been reported to be required for correct subregional localization of a number of GTs ^{133, 134}. Lack of Vps74p results in mislocalization and subsequent degradation of these GTs in vacuole ¹³³. Thus, although TMs have been proved to key players in Golgi retention, regions outside of TM are also important and sometimes are sufficient to confer Golgi retention. Potential Golgi retention models were summarized in a recent review by Banfield ¹¹⁵ (see Figure 9).

Retention of TGN proteins is different from retention of cis/medial/trans Golgi proteins ¹²². TGN proteins are continuously recycled from the PM or from endosomes. In many instances, the cytoplasmic domain carries the TGN localization signal ¹³⁵. For example, the TGN localization signal of TGN38 includes the YQRL motif in its cytoplasmic domain ¹³⁶. Brefeldin A (BFA) treatment causes a dramatic effect on the Golgi morphology and induces a rapid redistribution of Golgi proteins (cis-, medial-, and trans-Golgi markers) into the ER ¹³⁷⁻¹³⁹. However, Several lines of evidence suggest that the TGN proteins do not redistribute into the ER. Instead, TGN proteins mix with endosomes during BFA treatment ^{140, 141}. Thus, the fungal metabolite brefeldin A (BFA) treatment can distinguish the TGN proteins from the cis/medial/trans Golgi resident proteins ¹⁴².

At steady state, human SAC1 shuttles between the ER and the Golgi compartments. When COP-I binding is inactivated, SAC1-K2A mutant accumulates at

the Golgi ⁸⁰, whether SAC1-K2A resides at the cis/medial/trans Golgi or TGN is controversial and needs to be clarified ^{80, 91}. Moreover, the molecular mechanism that regulates ER to Golgi transport of SAC1 is unclear. Mass spectrometric analysis from our previous studies showed that 14-3-3 σ was co-immunoprecipitated with Flag-SAC1 in the COS7 cells, suggesting it could be a new regulator of human SAC1. However, the physiological function of 14-3-3 interactions with SAC1 is unknown.

9. 14-3-3 basics

14-3-3 proteins are highly conserved and ubiquitously expressed in eukaryotic cells ¹⁴³. 14-3-3 was first identified in 1967 as an abundant acidic, cytosolic protein ¹⁴⁴. 14-3-3 was named after its chromatographic elution and migration profile because it eluted in the 14th fraction during DEAE-cellulose chromatography and was found on position 3.3 following starch-gel electrophoresis ¹⁴⁴. There are multiple genes encoding 14-3-3 proteins in different organisms ¹⁴⁵. For example, yeast has two 14-3-3 isoforms ^{146, 147}, human and mouse each have seven isoforms ¹⁴⁸, while higher plants have as many as 15 isoforms ¹⁴⁹. Mammalians have seven 14-3-3 isoforms (named beta (β), epsilon (ϵ), zeta (ζ) , eta (η) , theta (θ) , gamma (γ) and sigma (σ)). They are composed of around 250 amino acid residues. In detail, the β isoform consists of 246 amino acids; γ has 247 residues; η has 246 residues; ζ has 245 residues; θ has 245 residues; σ has 248 residues and ε is the largest one and has 255 residues ¹⁴⁵. Therefore, mammalian 14-3-3 proteins have a molecular weight of around 30 kDa but these proteins predominantly form heteordimers or homodimers with a dimeric molecular mass of about 60kDa in the eukaryotic cells. As an evolutionarily highly conserved family of proteins, 14-3-3 proteins are thereafter identified involving in multiple cellular functions ^{148, 150, 151}. The

14-3-3 family proteins not only share identity at the amino acid level but also harbor a highly conserved structure ¹⁵².

10. 14-3-3 structure and action modes

Crystal structures of all seven human 14-3-3 isoforms coupled with phosphopeptides or nonphosphopeptides have been resolved (see Figure. 10) ¹⁵². All known 14-3-3 crystal structures are from homodimers including both liganded ¹⁵³⁻¹⁵⁵ and non-liganded versions ^{156, 157}. In general, the resolved crystal structures of 14-3-3 isoforms reveal cupshaped dimeric structures ¹⁴⁸. Each monomer of 14-3-3 proteins comprises 9 alpha helixes ($\alpha 1$ - $\alpha 9$) ¹⁴⁸. The first four helices $\alpha 1$ - $\alpha 4$ are responsible for forming the dimer. Helices $\alpha 5$ - $\alpha 9$ arrange into an amphipathic and highly conserved peptide-binding groove. A striking feature of the concaved surface of the peptide-binding groove is the highly conserved positively charged cluster consisting of one lysine and two arginines (Lys49, Arg56, Arg127 as numbered in 14-3-3 ζ) ¹⁵⁸. These core positive residues play a critical role in binding to the phosphate group of the phosphopeptide ligand proteins ¹⁵². In conclusion, each 14-3-3 dimer carries two separate binding sites ¹⁵³. These two binding sites can be found in one ligand or in two independent ligands and this feature diversifies the regulation of the interactions of 14-3-3 with their ligands ¹⁵².

Based on 14-3-3 dimeric structural traits, currently three molecular modes, clamping, scaffolding and masking of 14-3-3 actions were proposed ¹⁵⁹⁻¹⁶¹. Clamping means that binding of 14-3-3 changes the catalytic activity or other properties of the ligand by stabilizing a certain conformation. A typical example is the allosteric clamping of AANAT (arylalkylamine–serotonin N-acetyltransferase) by 14-3-3, which holds the phosphorylated enzyme in an active conformation ¹⁵⁵. Scaffolding tethers molecules

together and serves as backbones for complex assembly. For instance, the scaffolding protein 14-3-3 ζ directly binds to another scaffolding protein RACK1 (Receptor for Activated C Kinase 1)¹⁶². Masking postulates that binding of 14-3-3 prevents additional association of other proteins. For example, binding of 14-3-3 to human κ -opioid receptor (hKOPR) masks the adjacent ER retention signal and prevents COP-I coatomer binding, resulting in efficient plasma membrane delivery of hKOPR¹⁶³. As a result, binding of 14-3-3 proteins to their ligands has diverse biological functions and consequences¹⁶⁴.

11. 14-3-3 function

Over two hundred of 14-3-3 interacting proteins have been reported ¹⁶⁵. 14-3-3 proteins regulate almost all primary biological processes such as signal transduction (e.g., 14-3-3 binds to Raf-1, a key component of signal pathway that regulates mitogenesis and differentiation ¹⁶⁶; and 14-3-3 mediates p85 binding and activates of PI3K/Akt pathway^{167, 168}); apoptosis (e.g.,14-3-3ζ traps BAD in cytosol and prevents translocation of BAD-BAX to mitochondrial and protects stress-induced cell death ¹⁶⁹, and 14-3-3 binding to PACS-2 is released by death ligand TRAIL-induced dephosphorylation at the site of Ser437 in PACS-2, which permits PACS-2 to intercede Bid translocation to mitochondria¹⁷⁰); transcriptional regulation (e.g., 14-3-3 proteins bind to transcription factor EB (TFEB) and retain it in the cytoplasm)¹⁶⁸; metabolism (e.g., 14-3-3 proteins are involved in regulation of cellular energy metabolism through regulating the AMPactivated protein kinase (AMPK) signaling)¹⁷¹; cell-cycle control (e.g., 14-3-3 binding to Cdc25b and Cdc25C, 14-3-3 binding to the S323 site on Cdc25B directly inhibiting the activity of Cdc25B. 14-3-3 binding to Cdc25C lowers the G2 checkpoint arrest)¹⁷²⁻¹⁷⁵. Taken together, depending on its ligand protein, binding of 14-3-3 affects multiple

signaling pathways that determine cell fate ¹⁶⁴.

12. 14-3-3-binding motifs

Studies on the binding of 14-3-3 to Raf-1 result in the discovery of 14-3-3 as one of the class of phosphoserine/threonine sequence-specific binding protein modules ^{166, 176-} ¹⁷⁸. Binding of all 14-3-3 isoforms to their ligands (substrates or interacting proteins) mostly occurs via consensus amino acid sequence-specific interactions¹⁴⁸. Two welldefined motifs are mode I 14-3-3 binding site, which has the consensus sequence RXXpS/pTXP, and mode II 14-3-3 binding site, which has the consensus sequence RXSXpS/pTXP, (where pS/pT stands for the phospho-serine or phospho-threonine and X can be any residues except cysteine)^{158, 176, 179}. Most of 14-3-3 binding proteins have the mode I RXXpS/pTXP motif, but the proline residue at the position of +2 may not be strictly required in more than one-half of the 14-3-3-binding sites ¹⁸⁰. Mode II motifs RXSXpS/pTXP are prominent in plant 14-3-3-binding proteins 180 . Besides these two classic binding motifs, a mode III motif with a consensus of C-terminal sequence RXXpS/pTX-COOH has been identified by genetic screening of a random peptide library ¹⁸¹⁻¹⁸³. The founding signal for this mode III motif is a C-terminal sequence RGRSWTY-COOH that was previously reported ¹⁸⁴. Phosphoserine or phosphothreonine in the motif of RXXpS/pTX-COOH is required for 14-3-3 binding and an arginine (R) residue at the position of -5 was shown to enhance binding affinity ^{182, 183}. There are also other phosphorylation-dependent 14-3-3 binding motifs, for example, the YpTV motif. This non-classic 14-3-3 binding motif (YpTV) was found at the C-terminus of plant plasma membrane protein H⁺-ATPase. Deletion or substitution of these three residues 946-YTV-948 in the H⁺-ATPase abrogates 14-3-3 association ¹⁸⁵. Phosphorylation at the

position of Thr-947 is required for interaction with 14-3-3 ¹⁸⁵⁻¹⁸⁸. In summary, 14-3-3 binding to its ligand mainly through sequence specific motif containing phosphorylated serine/threonine site.

Although phosphorylation of ligand proteins greatly enhances the affinity of 14-3-3 binding to these sites, the 14-3-3 proteins also interact with unphosphorylated proteins. These examples include the *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* virulence factor exoenzyme S (ExoS) (binding motif: DALDL) ^{189, 190}, p190RhoGEF (binding motif: IQAIQNL) ¹⁹¹, and R18 peptide (core motif: WLDLE) ¹⁹². An additional example of a nonphosphorylation-dependent 14-3-3 binding protein is the adhesion receptor, platelet glycoprotein Ibalpha (GP Ib α). Gu et al. ¹⁹³ found that 14-3-3 recognizes the SGHSL motif at the C-terminus of GP Ib α . Because sequence specific phosphoserine peptides can inhibit the binding of 14-3-3 to unphosphorylated ligands ¹⁹⁴, it is possible that both types of ligands utilize the same ligand-binding site on 14-3-3. Thus, regardless of whether 14-3-3 binding sites in target proteins are phosphorylation-dependent or phosphorylation-independent, they seem to bind to the same binding pocket (the amphipathic groove) in 14-3-3 proteins as the classic mode I and mode II motifs ¹⁵⁴.

13. 14-3-3 inhibitors

To suppress the function of 14-3-3, sequence specific peptides from 14-3-3 binding ligands were found to competitively disrupt 14-3-3-ligand interactions ^{154, 158, 176}. Thereafter, in the effort to therapeutically interfere with 14-3-3 functions, some molecules were developed as potent 14-3-3 inhibitors that can regulate 14-3-3-ligand interactions in vitro. For example, R18 peptide (PHCVPRDLSWLDLEANMCLP), an unphosphorylated peptide with high affinity to all the 14-3-3 isoforms, has been shown to

block formation of 14-3-3-Raf-1 complex and is used widely in *in vitro* competitive inhibition experiments ¹⁹⁵. Difopein, a dimeric version of R18 peptide, can also effectively block the ability of 14-3-3 binding to target proteins ^{196, 197}. Recently, FOBISIN (<u>FO</u>urteen-three-three <u>BI</u>nding <u>S</u>mall molecule <u>IN</u>hibitor) 101 was identified as a potent 14-3-3 inhibitor and can efficiently block the binding of 14-3-3 γ to the pS259-Raf-1 peptide and the activity of 14-3-3 isoforms to stimulate ADP ribosyltransferase of exoenzyme S (ExoS) ¹⁹⁸. A more recent lysine-specific molecular tweezer was also reported to inhibit binding of 14-3-3 proteins to a phosphorylated target protein C-Raf and an unphosphorylated ExoS, suggesting a new technique to modulate 14-3-3 proteinprotein interactions and 14-3-3 protein function ¹⁹⁹. In sum, with advances in understanding the physiological role of 14-3-3, more and more 14-3-3 inhibitors could be developed.

However, these small molecules usually function as general 14-3-3 inhibitors. For example, the R18 peptide can bind to all 14-3-3 isoforms with a comparable affinity ¹⁶⁴. Under such circumstances, to determine the specific role of 14-3-3 specific isoform, RNA interference techniques to inhibit different combinations of 14-3-3 genes are still not bad approaches ¹⁶⁴.

14. Isoform-specific interaction

The highly conserved structure and shared identity at the amino acid level of the seven human 14-3-3 isoforms suggests redundant functions ¹⁵². Consistently, some 14-3-3 interacting proteins show no specificity in their interaction with 14-3-3 isoforms. For example, apoptosis signal regulating kinase 1 (ASK-1) ²⁰⁰ and Tuberin ²⁰¹ interact with all seven 14-3-3 isoforms. However, growing evidence suggest some specific roles of 14-
3-3 isoforms ²⁰². Certain 14-3-3 isoform-specific interactions have also been reported ²⁰³, ²⁰⁴. For example, CDC25B strongly interacts with 14-3-3 η , β and ζ proteins, but much less with 14-3-3 ϵ and θ ²⁰⁵. Moreover, the molecular scaffold, KSR1 (kinase suppressor of Ras 1), exhibited the highest binding affinity to 14-3-3 γ and η , lower affinity to β , θ and ζ isoforms, and no apparent binding to the ϵ and σ isoform ²⁰⁶, showing isoformspecific interactions. Thus, some isoform-specific 14-3-3-ligand interactions complicate physiological functions of 14-3-3 proteins ¹⁶¹.

15. 14-3-3 proteins in membrane protein trafficking

Recently, 14-3-3 has also been reported to regulate membrane protein trafficking ^{182, 187, 204, 207}. Binding of 14-3-3 proteins to many transmembrane proteins was suggested to regulate forward transport of these proteins from the ER to the PM ^{159, 160, 208, 209}. Interestingly, these membrane proteins share the common feature of containing both a 14-3-3 binding motif and an ER retention signal, usually a di-arginine motif (RXR) ^{159, 160}. Binding of 14-3-3 was proposed to allow efficient surface expression of these membrane proteins by probing either their multimeric assembly ²⁰⁴ or by modulating ER exit through masking the ER retention signal ^{208, 209}.

Several types of evidence suggest that 14-3-3-mediated ER export of membrane proteins is achieved by interfering with dibasic motif-mediated retention ^{160, 209}. A typical example of such a membrane protein is the potassium channel KCNK3/TASK-1 ²¹⁰⁻²¹². The COP-I interacting motif (dibasic amino acids) is found at the proximal cytosolic Nterminus of KCNK3, whereas a 14-3-3-binding motif (-RRSSPV) is located at the Cterminus of KCNK3. Binding of 14-3-3 to KCNK3 is phosphorylation-dependent ^{210, 212}. O'Kelly et al. ²¹⁰ confirmed the interaction of COP-I with KCNK3 using mutagenesis and sequential co-immunoprecipitation assays and they found that there are two pools of KCNK3 proteins (one pool of KCNK3 interacts with COP-I, the other pool of KCNK3 interacts with 14-3-3), which indicates that the binding of KCNK3 to COP-I and 14-3-3 is mutually exclusive. Therefore, phosphorylation-dependent recruitment of 14-3-3 to KCNK3 promotes cell surface expression of the channel, whereas the unphosphorylated KCNK3 is retrieved back by COP-I ²¹⁰.

Another example is the membrane protein human κ -opioid receptor (hKOPR)¹⁶³. The putative 14-3-3 binding motif (354-RQSTS-358) and the ER retention motif (359-RVR-361) in the hKOPR C-terminal tail are very close to each other. Li et al.¹⁶³ showed that mutation in the ER retention motif (359-RVR-361) of hKOPR reduced binding of COP-I to hKOPR and abrogated 14-3-3 ζ -mediated regulation of hKOPR. Both knockdown of 14-3-3 ζ by siRNA and usage of scavenger protein pGpLI-R18 showed compromised surface expression of the hKOPR in stable N2A-FLAG-hKOPR cells, suggesting that 14-3-3 ζ promotes forward transport of the hKOPR by overcoming RVR motif mediated ER retention¹⁶³.

An additional example is proteinase-activated receptors 4 (PAR4). Cunningham et al found that PAR4 was largely retained in the ER via an ER retention motif 183-RAR-185 located within its intracellular loop-2. Mutation of 183-RAR-185 to 183-AAA-185 allowed efficient plasma membrane expression of PAR4 ²¹³. When PAR4 and PAR2, another family member of proteinase-activated receptors, were co-expressed in NCTC cells, heterodimerization between PAR2 and PAR4 has been shown to facilitate surface delivery of PAR4 through recruiting 14-3-3 ζ and effective disruption of COP-I binding, indicating that binding of 14-3-3 to PAR2 and PAR4 dimer promotes anterograde

trafficking of the assembled complex ²¹³. In summary, accumulating evidence suggests that 14-3-3 plays critical role in forward transport of a number of membrane proteins, in which binding of 14-3-3 promotes their surface expression and reduces their ER localization.

Lipid phosphatase SAC1 is an ER/Golgi localized integral membrane protein, containing a canonical di-lysine ER retention signal (583-KEKID-587) at its extreme Cterminus. At steady state, SAC1 constantly shuttles between the ER and the Golgi compartments. Here, we found that SAC1 also possesses a potential 14-3-3 binding motif in its cytoplasmic N-terminus. We therefore speculated that binding of 14-3-3 to SAC1 might interfere with the classic KXKXX COP-I coatomer-binding motif (KEKID in SAC1) and regulate anterograde ER to Golgi trafficking of SAC1. We examined this hypothesis and also investigated the molecular basics that regulate 14-3-3-SAC1 interactions in chapter three.

Moreover, despite considerable progress have been made on Sac1-mediated PI4P metabolism in multicellular organisms and on subcellular localization of Sac1 at the ER/Golgi ^{79, 80, 91}, how the Golgi subregional distribution of Sac1 is regulated remains obscure. In chapter two, we utilized the COP-I binding deficient, Golgi targeted mutant, SAC1-K2A, as a model and investigated the signals that control the Golgi distribution of SAC1. Surprisingly, we found that even the Golgi targeted SAC1-K2A mutant might localize at the cis/medial/trans Golgi, instead of the TGN.

FIGURES AND FIGURE LEGENDS

Figure 1



Figure 1. Phosphatidylinositol (PI) and the seven phosphoinositides. The glycerophospholipid phosphatidylinositol (PI) is composed of a hydrophobic diacyglycerol backbone linked to a polar inositol headgroup. The headgroup can be phosphorylated at the D3, D4 and D5 positions by various kinases to create seven phosphoinositides.

Figure 2

А.

B.



Figure 2. PI 4-kinases and PI4P phosphatases in yeast (A) and mammalian (B).

There are three PI4 Kinases (Pik1, Stt4 and Lsb6) in charge of generating D4 phosphorylated phosphoinositides (PI4P) in yeast (B). There are four PI 4-Kinases (PI4KIIα, PI4KIIβ, PI4KIIIα and PI4KIIIβ) in mammalian in charge of generating D4 phosphorylated phosphoinositides (PI4P) (A). Sac1p and SAC1 are the sole PI4P phosphatase in yeast and in human respectively.

| Features | PI4KIIα | ΡΙ4ΚΙΙβ | PI4KIIIa | ΡΙ4ΚΙΙΙβ |
|---|--|---|--------------------------------|---------------------------|
| Gene | PI4KIIA | PI4KIIB | PI4KIIIA | PI4KIIIB |
| MW | 54 kDa | 55 kDa | 230 kDa | 92 kDa |
| Yeast homolog | Lsb6p | Lsb6p | Stt4p | Pik1p |
| Wortmannin | Insensitive | Insensitive | IC ₅₀ 50-300 nM | IC ₅₀ 50-300nM |
| LY-294002 | Insensitive | Insensitive | IC ₅₀ 50-100 mM | IC ₅₀ 50-100mM |
| Adenosine | Micromolar | Micromolar | Insensitive | Insensitive |
| | [TGN] | [PM] | [ER] | [Golgi] |
| [Subcellular localization] and function | Recruit adaptors AP-1 and GGA; TGN-PM transport | Recruit to PM in response to PDGF and Rac | Resupply of PM PI4 <i>P</i> | Golgi-to-PM traffic |
| | [Late endosome] | | [Mitochondria] | [Nucleus] |
| | Interact with AP-3; regulates degradation of EGFR | | Not known | Not known |

Table 1 Distinctive feature of mammalian PI4-kinase isoform

| 1 1 1 | MATAAYEQLKLHITPEKFYVEACDDGA-DDVLTIDRVSTEVTLAVKKDVPPSAV MDSREENAVYDDMNLYIAPQSFIIEPNGG-DELLVIGRHDKVTRVQPASGGLVANLRP MTGPIVYVQNADGIFFKLAEGKGTNDAVIHLANQDQGVRVLGAEEFPVQGE .*:: * * * * ::: * . | 53 57 51 | Q9NTJ5 Q9W016 P32368 | SAC1_HUMAN SAC1_DROME SAC1_YEAST |
|-------------|---|----------------|----------------------------|--|
| 54 | TRPIFGILGTIHLVAGNYLIVITKKIKVGEFFSHVVWKATDFDVLSYKKTMLHLTDIQLQ | 113 | Q9NTJ5 | SAC1 HUMAN |
| 58 | TRRICGVLGTIHLLSCDYLLVATHRLFVGVLNGAVVWRLAGYDIIPYIPNSFQRK | 112 | Q9W0I6 | SAC1_DROME |
| 52 | VVKIASLMGFIKLKLNRYAIIANTVEETGRFNGHVFYRVLQHSIVSTKFNSRIDS | 106 | P32368 | SAC1_YEAST |
| | . * .::* *:* * ::* : . *.:::: | | | |
| 114 | DNKTFLAMLNHVLNVDGFYFSTTYDLTHTLQRLSNTSPEFQ-EMSLLERADQRFVWNGHL | 172 | Q9NTJ5 | SAC1_HUMAN |
| 113 | ENENYLRLLRQTLDTKFFYFSYRYDLTNSLQRQREVAQSRPEVSGLLQRAEQRFVWNGYV | 172 | 0 9M010 | SAC1_DROME |
| 107 | EEAEYIKLLELHLKNSTFYFSYTYDLTNSLQRNEKVGPAASWKTADERFFWNHYL :: :: :*. * **** ****.:*** : : *::** | 161 | P32368 | SAC1_YEAST |
| 173 | LRELSAOPEVHREALPVLHGEITMHSCSINGKYEDWILISRRSCERAGVRYYVRGI | 228 | O9NTJ5 | SAC1 HUMAN |
| 173 | LROFNCD-KMEKFOLPLVLGFVSINOVOINGOTFFWSIITRRSVORAGTRLFCRGS | 227 | 09W016 | SAC1 DROME |
| 162 | TEDLRNFAHODPRIDSFIOPVIYGYAKTVDAVLNATPIVLGLITRRSIFRAGTRYFRRGV | 221 | P32368 | SAC1 YEAST |
| | .11 1.1.**11*11*. 1 1*1*** ***.* 1 ** | | | - |
| 229 | DSEGHAANFVETEOIVHYNGSKASFVOTRGSIPVFWSORPNLKYKPLPOISKVA | 282 | O9NTJ5 | SAC1 HUMAN |
| 228 | DEOGHVANFVETEOIVEFNGOLTGFVOTRGSMPFHWHOLPNLRYKPRPVLVPGK | 281 | 09W016 | SAC1 DROME |
| 222 | DKDGNVGNFNETEQILLAENPESEKIHVFSFLQTRGSVPIYWAEINNLKYKPNLVLGE | 279 | P32368 | SAC1 YEAST |
| | *.:*** ****** :*:*****:** : **:*** : | | | - |
| 283 | NHMDGFORHFDSOVIIYGKOVIINLINOKGSEKPLEOTFATMVSSLGSGMMRYIAFDFHK | 342 | O9NTJ5 | SAC1 HUMAN |
| 282 | DHLAACGLHFKEOIRLYGNNVAVNLVDHKGAEGELEATYARLVREMGNPOVRYESFDFHS | 341 | 09W0I6 | SAC1 DROME |
| 280 | NSLDATKKHFDQQKELYGDNYLVNLVNQKGHELPVKEGYESVVHALNDPKIHYVYFDFHH | 339 | P32368 | SAC1 YEAST |
| | *** :**.: :**:::** :: : :* : . ::* **** | | | - |
| 343 | ECKNMRWDRLSILLDOVAEMODELSYFLVDSAGOVVANOEGVFRSNCMDCLDRT | 396 | 09NTJ5 | SAC1 HUMAN |
| 342 | ECRKMRWDRLNILIDRLAHEODOFGVYHVFDDGKLVSTOTGVFRTNCIDCLDRT | 395 | 09W016 | SAC1 DROME |
| 340 | ECRKMQWHRVKLLIDHLEKLGLSNEDFFHKVIDSNGNTVEIVNEQHSVVRTNCMDCLDRT | 399 | P32368 | SAC1 YEAST |
| | **!!*!*.*!.!*!*!! . !! ! . * !!* * .*.*!**!***** | | | - |
| 397 | NVIOSLLARRSLOAOLORLGVLHVGOKLEEO-DEFEKIYKNAWADNANACAKOYAGTGAL | 455 | O9NTJ5 | SAC1 HUMAN |
| 396 | NVVOSMLARRSLTAVLOKLGVLHVGOKVEHASDIFESIFKGVWADNADLVSLOYSGTCAL | 455 | 09W016 | SAC1 DROME |
| 400 | NVVQSVLAQWVLQKEFESADVVATGSTWEDNA-PLLTSYQNLWADNADAVSVAYSGTGAL | 458 | P32368 | SAC1 YEAST |
| | **:**:**: * :: *:.*. *. :.:: *****: : *:** ** | | | - |
| 456 | KTDFTRTGKRTHLGLIMDGWNSMIRYYKNNFSDGFRODSIDLFLGNYSVDELESHSP | 512 | 09NTJ5 | SAC1 HUMAN |
| 456 | KTDFTRTGKRTKSGAMODGKNSLMRYYLNNFADGORODSIDLFLGKYLVNDNEGGAVPSP | 515 | 09W016 | SAC1 DROME |
| 459 | KTDFTRTGKRTRLGAFNDFLNSASRYYONNWTDGPRODSYDLFLGGFRPHTASIKSP | 515 | P32368 | SAC1 YEAST |
| | *************************************** | | | - |
| 513 | LSVPRDWKFLALPIIMVVAFSMCIICLLMAGDTWTETLAYVLFWGVASIGTFFIILYN | 570 | Q9NTJ5 | SAC1_HUMAN |
| 516 | LESKHGWRFFTFPSVLLVAVAMFMITMTYPAEFNTENLLFMLFWGAMIAVSATGILHY | 573 | Q9W0I6 | SAC1_DROME |
| 516 | FPDRRPVYIQLIPMIICAALTVLGATIFFPKDRFTSSKNLLYFAGASIVLALSTKFMFKN | 575 | P32368 | SAC1_YEAST |
| | ** * | | | |
| 571 | GKDFVDAPRLVQKEKID 587 Q9NTJ5 | SA | C1 HUMAN | |
| 574 | GVEFVQWPRLFPPISFRDP 592 Q9W016 | SA | C1_DROME | |
| 576 | GIQFVNWPKLVDVGFLVVHQTHDKEQQFKGLKYAQSPKFSKPDPLKRD 623 P32368 * :**: *:*. : | SA | C1_YEAST | |

Figure 3. Sequence alignments of the Sac1 phosphatases. The protein sequences of human (UniProtKB entry: Q9NTJ5), fruit fly (UniProtKB entry: Q9W0I6) and baker's yeast (UniProtKB entry: P32368) were aligned by ClustalW2, a general multiple sequence alignment program for DNA or proteins. Asterisk (*) indicates conserved amino acid residues; Colon (:) indicates strongly similar residues; Period (.) indicates weakly similar residues.

| Figure | 4 |
|--------|---|
|--------|---|

| А | Luminal | | |
|--|---------|---|--|
| | | 000 | 0000 |
| | | (MAG) | COV |
| | | UCCC | CEW |
| | | <u>s</u> eco | ©VA3 |
| | | VVAE | 0 ₀ |
| | | ©00® | ©©() |
| | | COOD | 00v |
| GOSCERSCISSERVEREDERSSERVEREDERSS BasesCistoreoleeneerservereneers BasesCistoreoleeneerservereneer Boscerse Boscerse | | ^C IMMONOMICONSEDSEDSEDSEDSEDSEDJOD MASEDSCACSEDSEDSEDSEDSEDSEDJODD ³ MASEDSCACSEDSEDSEDSEDSEDSEDJODSE MANAGEMENTESSEDSEDSEDSEDSEDJODSE | 00000000000000000000000000000000000000 |

Cytoplasmic

В

| 1 <u>0</u> | 2 <u>0</u> | 3 <u>0</u> | 4 <u>0</u> | 5 <u>0</u> | 6 <u>0</u> |
|-------------|-------------------|----------------|---------------|--|--------------------|
| MATAAYEQLK | LHITPEKFYV | EACDDGADDV | LTIDRVSTEV | TLAVKKDVPP | SAVTRPIFGI |
| | | | | | |
| 70 | 80 | 90 | 100 | 110 | 120 |
| LOTTHI VACN | VT.TVTTKKTK | VCEFFSHVVW | KATDEDVI.SV | KKTMI.HI.TDI | OLODNKTELA |
| DOLLIDAHOR | IDIVIIMIN | VODI I DIIVVN | INTEL DV LDI | AAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAA | Zužpuutt mi |
| 120 | 140 | 150 | 1.00 | 170 | 100 |
| 130 | 140 | 150 | 160 | 170 | 180 |
| MLNHVLNVDG | FYFSTTYDLT | HTLQRLSNTS | PEFQEMSLLE | RADQRFVWNG | HLLRELSAQP |
| | | | | | |
| 19 <u>0</u> | 20 <u>0</u> | 21 <u>0</u> | 22 <u>0</u> | 23 <u>0</u> | 24 <u>0</u> |
| EVHRFALPVL | HGFITMHSCS | INGKYFDWIL | ISRRSCFRAG | VRYYVRGIDS | EGHAANFVET |
| | | | | | |
| 250 | 260 | 270 | 280 | 290 | 300 |
| FOTVHYNGSK | ASEVOTREST | PVFWSORPNI. | KYKPLPOTSK | VANHMDGEOR | HEDSOVITING |
| BEIMINODI | norvgindor | I VI NDQICI ND | KINI III QIDK | Villanin Dor Sic | III DOQ IIII O |
| 210 | 220 | 220 | 240 | 250 | 260 |
| 310 | 320 | 330 | 340 | 35 <u>0</u> | 360 |
| KÖAIINTINÖ | KGSEKPLEQT | FATMVSSLGS | GMMRYIAFDF | HKECKNMRWD | RLSILLDQVA |
| | | | | | |
| 37 <u>0</u> | 38 <u>0</u> | 39 <u>0</u> | 40 <u>0</u> | 41 <u>0</u> | 420 |
| EMQDELSYFL | VDSAGQVVAN | QEGVFRSNCM | DCLDRTNVIQ | SLLARRSLQA | QLQRLGVLHV |
| | | - | | | |
| 430 | 440 | 450 | 460 | 470 | 480 |
| CONTERODER | FKTYKNAWAD | NANACAKOVA | CTCAL KTDET | BTCKBTHLCL. | TMDCWNSMTR |
| oğunseğder | BRITRAAMAD | MARACHIQIA | 010HIMIDE1 | KIGKKIIII00 | THEOWNOFILK |
| 100 | 500 | E10 | 620 | E 2.0 | E 40 |
| 49 <u>0</u> | 500 | 510 | 520 | 530 | 540 |
| YYKNNFSDGF | RQDSIDLFLG | NYSVDELESH | SPLSVPRDWK | FLALPIIMVV | AFSMCIICLL **** |
| | | | | TN | 11 |
| 55 <u>0</u> | 56 <u>0</u> | 57 <u>0</u> | 58 <u>0</u> | | |
| MAGDTWTETL | AYVLFWGVAS | IGTFFIILYN | GKDFVDAPRL | VQKEKID | |
| *** * | ********** TM2 | ****** | | | |
| | 111/12 | | | | |

Figure 4. 2D topological diagram (A) and protein sequence of human SAC1 (B).

SAC1 (UniProtKB entry: Q9NTJ5) is composed of 587 amino acid residues. SAC1 has two transmembrane domains near its C-terminus. Both the N-terminus and the Cterminus of SAC1 face cytoplasm. Important motifs are highlighted: Red, di-lysine retrieval motif (583-KEKID-587); blue: short luminal domain (544-DTWTET-549); purple: CX5R(S/T) catalytic motif (CMDCLDRT); orange: potential mode II 14-3-3 binding site; cyan: Leucine zipper motif. This 2D topological diagram of human SAC1 is generated using the TOPO2 program (http://www.sacs.ucsf.edu/TOPO2/) (A) and the sequence of human SAC1 is numbered using the UniProt identifiers. The catalytic motif (CMDCLDRT) is underlined by red, and the star label indicates two transmembrane domains (TM1 and TM2) of human SAC1 (B).

Figure 5



Figure 5. Ribbon diagram of the structure of yeast Sac1p phosphatase. (A) Overall crystal structure of cytoplasmic N-terminus of yeast Sac1p(1-503) reveals a SacN domain (blue) and a catalytic domain (yellow). The proposed unstructured domain is not shown here. The catalytic CX5R(T/S) motif (P-loop) is indicated in red. This structural diagram of Sac1p (PDB ID: 3LWT) is generated using the PyMol software. Figure is derived from Manford et al ⁶⁸



Figure 6. Cis-/trans-functional model of Sac1 at the membrane interface. The SacN sub-domain is colored with cyan and the catalytic sub-domain with yellow and the catalytic site P-loop is showing in red. Both SacN domain and catalytic domain dock on membrane surface probably through the polarized charge. The long unstructured linker between the catalytic domain and the first transmembrane domain allows Sac1 to hydrolyze PI4P either in a trans- (A) or a cis- (B) functional mode. The surface structural diagram of Sac1p (PDB ID: 3LWT) is generated using the PyMol software. This model is derived from Manford et al ⁶⁸.

Figure 7



Figure 7. Human lipid phosphatase SAC1 shuttles between the ER and Golgi. In proliferating cells, Sac1 localizes at both ER and cisternal Golgi regions but is absent from the trans-Golgi network (TGN). The polarized distribution of Sac1 is critical for maintaining a steep PI4P gradient at the Golgi complex with the majority of PI4P confined to the TGN. During serum starvation and in quiescent cells Sac1 accumulates at the TGN, which reduces Golgi PI4P levels and slows anterograde trafficking. LZ, Leucine Zipper motif.



Figure 8. Bi-directional ER-to-Golgi transport. The anterograde transport of soluble and membrane secretory protein is mediated by COP-II coat complex while the retrograde retrieval is performed by COP-I coat complex. Those ER resident membrane proteins can be retrieved back to ER by COP-I via directly recognizing the KKXX or KXKXX retrieval motif. Soluble proteins with H/KDEL retention signal will be returned back to ER via the assistance of the KDEL receptor to carry them in COP-I-coated transport vesicles. Figure is derived from Alberts B, Johnson A, Lewis J, et al. the Molecular Biology of the Cell. 4th edition.



Figure 9. Simplified Golgi retention models. Only diagram of type II membrane protein is shown for clarify. A. The oligomerization mechanism. Oligomers can be formed through either cytoplasmic domain or stem region or the transmembrane domain. B. Transmembrane domain (TMD)-based partitioning mechanism. The ER and Golgi proteins usually have shorter transmembrane domain and cannot fit with thicker membrane bilayer such as TGN and PM, resulting in Golgi retention. C. Lipid composition-mediated Golgi partitioning. A gradient of sterols (cholesterol specifically) may exist in membranes of the secretory pathway and might explain this mode of retention. And ratios of lipids, particularly the ratio of glycerophospholipids to sphingolipids are increasing from the cis to the trans-Golgi, is the reason for observed Golgi protein. D. GOLPH3/VPS74 mediated retention. Loss of Vps74p in yeast results in mislocalization of several glycosyltransferases ¹³³. Vps74p/GOLPH3 was proposed to function as a late-Golgi resident glycosyltransferase sorting receptor for recruiting COP-I coat complex ^{133, 214}. Figure is derived from Banfield ¹¹⁵.



Figure 10. Crystal structures of 14-3-3 isoforms liganded with peptides. A side view of each isoform is shown: Yellow, Zeta (ζ) (PDB ID: 1QJB), liganded with mode 1 phosphopeptide RSHpSYPA; Lightorange, beta (β) (PDB ID: 2C23), liganded with a non-phosphorylated peptide (421-GLLDALDLASK-431) from exoenzyme S; Green, Sigma (σ) (PDB ID: 1YWT), liganded with a mode 1 phosphopeptide MARSHpSYPA; Palegreen, eta (η) (PDB ID: 2C74), liganded with a phosphopeptide RRQRpSAP; Blue, gamma (γ) (PDB ID: 2B05), liganded with a phosphopeptide RAIpSLP; Cyan, theta (θ) (PDB ID: 2BTP), liganded with a phosphopeptide RQRpSAP (Note: an N-terminal His tag was not removed and was indicated with a circle) and pink, epsilon (ε) (PDB ID: 2BR9), liganded with a phosphopeptide RRQRpSAP. pS denotes the phosphoserine residue. The liganded peptides are shown all the same color in red. Images are produced using PyMol software.

CHAPTER TWO

TWO DISTINCT REGIONS IN LIPID PHOSPHATASE SAC1 CONTROL ITS DISTRIBUTION WITHIN THE GOLGI

Jinzhi Wang[†], Juxing Chen[†], Caroline A. Enns[†], and Peter Mayinger^{*1}

*Division of Nephrology & Hypertension and †The Department of Cell & Developmental Biology, Oregon Health & Science University, Portland, OR 97239 Short title: Golgi localization of SAC1 lipid phosphatase ¹Corresponding author: Peter Mayinger, Division of Nephrology & Hypertension, Oregon Health & Science University, 3181 SW Sam Jackson Park Road, Portland, OR 97239 Tel.: 503-418-4012; Fax: 503-494-5330; email: <u>mayinger@ohsu.edu</u> Note: manuscript was submitted to PLOS one

1. ABSTRACT

The lipid phosphatase Sac1 cycles between endoplasmic reticulum (ER) and cisternal Golgi compartments. In proliferating mammalian cells, a canonical dilysine motif at the C-terminus of Sac1 is required for coatomer complex-I (COP-I)-binding and continuous retrieval to the ER. Serum starvation triggers accumulation of Sac1 at the Golgi. The mechanism responsible for Golgi retention of Sac1 is unknown. Here we show that the first of the two transmembrane regions in human SAC1 (TM1) can function in Golgi localization. A minimal construct containing only TM1 and the adjacent flanking sequences is concentrated at the Golgi. Transplanting TM1 into transferrin receptor 2 (TfR2) induces Golgi accumulation of this normally post-Golgi protein, indicating that TM1 is sufficient for Golgi localization. In addition, we determined that the N-terminal

cytoplasmic domain of SAC1 also promotes Golgi localization, even when TM1 is mutated or absent. We conclude that the distribution of SAC1 within the Golgi is controlled via both the length of TM1 dependent passive partitioning and a retention mechanism that requires the N-terminal cytoplasmic region.

2. INTRODUCTION

The lipid phosphatase Sac1 is an evolutionarily conserved regulator of phosphatidylinositol-4-phosphate (PI4P) and plays vital roles at ER/plasma membrane contact sites and in Golgi organization and trafficking ^{79, 80, 91}. Sac1 is an integral membrane protein containing a large N-terminal cytoplasmic domain and two transmembrane regions near its C terminus ⁹⁴. The crystal structure of the N-terminal catalytic domain of yeast Sac1p was resolved, but the arrangement of the two transmembrane regions and their role in Sac1p localization has not been determined ⁶⁸. In mammals, Sac1 cycles continuously between endoplasmic (ER) and Golgi compartments via the canonical trafficking mechanisms involving COP-I and COP-II⁹⁸. In proliferating cells, Sac1 localizes to both ER and cisternal Golgi regions but is absent from the trans-Golgi network (TGN)⁹³. The polarized distribution of Sac1 is critical for maintaining a steep PI4P gradient at the Golgi complex with the majority of PI4P confined to the TGN ⁹³. During serum starvation and in quiescent cells Sac1 accumulates at the TGN, which reduces Golgi PI4P levels and slows anterograde trafficking ⁸⁰. All mammalian Sac1 orthologs contain two distinct sequence motifs that are required for shuttling between ER and Golgi. A di-lysine motif at the C terminus of Sac1 is essential for interaction with the COP-I machinery and for retrieval to the ER^{76, 80}. A leucine repeat

region at the cytoplasmic N-terminal domain promotes oligomerization of Sac1 during serum starvation, which is a prerequisite for Golgi accumulation ^{76, 80}. However, how the distribution of Sac1 within the Golgi is controlled remains unclear.

The Golgi apparatus is a central sorting organelle guiding soluble and membranebound proteins arriving from the ER to their different endomembrane compartments. Passage through the Golgi is also required for post-translational processing of secretory proteins ¹¹⁵. The mechanisms responsible for the characteristic intra-Golgi distribution of resident enzymes that are required for glycosylation and other modifications are not well established. Unlike the classic retrieval motifs that control steady state localization of ER proteins, no common Golgi sorting sequence has been found ^{115, 215}. Two mechanisms have been proposed for Golgi retention, commonly referred to as the oligomerization and the bilayer thickness model ^{115, 216}. The former proposes that retention of Golgi enzymes is achieved by forming large oligomers, which prevent sorting into anterograde transport vesicles ^{217, 218}. The latter postulates that retention relies on the length of membranespanning domains and the membrane bilayer thickness of the individual Golgi sections ²¹⁷.

In this study, we determined that two distinct regions within human SAC1 function in Golgi retention. We found that a minimal construct containing only the first of the two transmembrane segments of SAC1 is efficiently concentrated at the Golgi. In addition, the large N-terminal cytosolic region of SAC1 was independently sufficient for Golgi localization. These results suggest that Golgi distribution of SAC1 is controlled via both membrane domain-dependent partitioning and protein-protein interactions.

3. MATERIAL AND METHODS

3.1 Cell culture and antibodies

HeLa cells were cultured in Dulbecco's modified Eagle medium containing 10% fetal bovine serum (Thermo scientific), 1 mM glutamine, 1 mM sodium pyruvate (Invitrogen). Cells were incubated in 5% CO₂ humidified incubator at 37°C. Anti-GM130 mouse mAb was purchased from BD Biosciences (catalog number: 610822). Anti-GRASP65 rabbit polyclonal sera were purchased from Novus Biological (catalog number: NBP1-57592). Anti-flag M2 mouse mAb was purchased from Sigma (catalog number: F1804). Alexa Fluor 488-conjugated goat anti-rabbit IgG and Alexa Fluor 546-conjugated goat antimouse IgG were purchased from Molecular Probes (catalog numbers: A-11008 and A-21143).

3.2 Plasmids

Plasmids pGFP-SAC1, pGFP-SAC1-K2A, pGFP-SAC1(512-587) and pGFP-SAC1(501-587) were described previously ⁸⁰. Plasmid pMito-TagRFP is a gift from Dr. Gary Banker (OHSU). To construct pTaqRFP-peroxisome, a cDNA encoding TagRFP with additional nucleotides encoding peroxisomal targeting signal 1 (PTS1) (Ser-Lys-Leu) at its extreme C-terminus was amplified by PCR and subcloned into vector pCMV-3Tag-1A with BamHI and SalI. To generate pGFP-SAC1(478-549) and pGFP-SAC1(478-587)-K2A constructs, corresponding cDNAs were amplified by PCR and digested with BamHI and SalI, ligated into pEGFP-C1 vector digested with BgIII and SalI by utilizing the isoschizomers BamHI and BgIII. To construct pGFP-SAC1(501-549) and pGFP-SAC1(512-549), cDNA fragments encoding GFP-SAC1(512-549) and GFP-SAC1(501-549) were amplified by PCR using pGFP-SAC1(512-587) or pGFP-SAC1(501-587) as templates respectively. The PCR products were digested with BamHI and SalI and subcloned into vector pCMV-3Tag-1A. To generate pGFP-TfR2(73-801) construct, human TfR2 cDNA encoding amino acid 73-801 was amplified by PCR and cloned into expression vector pEGFP-C2 by utilizing EcoRI and SalI restriction sites.

The SAC1 chimerical constructs containing the transmembrane domain of TfR2 (TMtfr2), pGFP-SAC1(TMtfr2)-K2A and pGFP-SAC1(478-549)TMtfr2, were generated by overlap extension PCR. The nucleotide sequence encoding TM1 of SAC1 was replaced with the sequence encoding the entire 24-residue TMtfr2. The PCR fragments were digested with BamHI and SaII and ligated into pEGFP-C1 as described above. Similarly, a TfR2 chimera containing the TM1 region of SAC1, GFP-TfR2(73-801)TM1, was generated by overlap extension PCR. The nucleotide sequence encoding TMtfr2 was substituted with the sequence encoding the entire 23-residue TM1 of SAC1. The cDNA was digested with EcoRI and SaII and ligated into pEGFP-C2 as described above.

To construct pFlag-SAC1(1-549) and pFlag-SAC1(1-549)TMtfr2, corresponding cDNA fragments were amplified by PCR using GFP-SAC1 and GFP-SAC1(TMtfr2)-K2A as templates respectively, and then subcloned into vector pCMV-3Tag-1A with BamHI and SalI. To construct pGFP-SAC1(152-549)TMtfr2 and pGFP-SAC1(152-549), pFlag-SAC1(1-549)TMtfr2 and pFlag-SAC1(1-549)TMtfr2 and pFlag-SAC1(1-549)TMtfr2 and pFlag-SAC1(1-549) were double digested with EcoRI and SalI and the resulting fragments of SAC1 were subcloned into vector pEGFP-C2 by utilizing the same restriction sites. All constructs were verified by sequencing and primer sequences are available upon request (see table 2). (GenBank accession numbers: TfR2, BC142630.1; SAC1, NM014016.3).

3.3 Mutagenesis

The plasmid pGFP-SAC1(1-518) was constructed by introducing two adjacent stop codons by site-directed mutagenesis using pGFP-SAC1 as a template. pGFP-SAC1(478-549)-E2A, pGFP-SAC1(478-549)C2S, pGFP-SAC1(478-549)ins3L, pGFP-SAC1-K2Ains3L were generated by mutagenesis using primers containing the desired mutations. QuikChange II XL Site-Directed Mutagenesis Kit was purchased from Agilent Technologies (catalog number: 200521). Primers were designed by utilizing online QuikChange Primer Design Software (https://www.genomics.agilent.com/). Experiments were performed according to manufacturer's instructions.

3.4 Immunofluorescence and confocal microscopy

Transient transfections were performed using the Lipofectamine2000 transfection reagent (Invitrogen) according to the manufacturer's protocol. For confocal microscopy, 1.5×10^5 HeLa cells were plated into each well of a 6-well plate (Corning) containing glass coverslips and allowed to attach for 18-20 h at 37°C. The cells were transfected with 1 µg of DNA mixed with 3 µl Lipofectamine2000 and incubated for 24 h at 37°C.

24-hour after transfection, HeLa cells were washed three times with PBS and fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde in PBS for 15 min. Cells were treated with blocking & permeabilization buffer (PBS, 2% normal goat serum, 0.5% Triton X-100) for 30 min. The cells were then incubated with antibody diluted in PBS for 1 h. Primary antibodies used were anti-GM130 mouse mAb (2.5µg/ml final concentration), anti-flag M2 mouse mAb (1:500) and anti-GRASP65 rabbit polyclonal sera (1:200). Cells were washed four times with washing buffer (PBS, 0.1% Triton X-100, 0.2% BSA) and incubated with secondary antibody Alexa Fluor 488-conjugated goat anti-rabbit IgG (1:500) or Alexa Fluor 546-conjugated goat anti-mouse IgG (1:500). Cells were then washed again four times with washing buffer. Coverslips were mounted onto microscope slides using Fluoromount-G (SouthernBiotech) and visualized on a Zeiss LSM 700 laser-scanning confocal microscope with a 63× 1.4 NA Plan-Apochromat objective lens. Excitation wavelengths of 488 nm (GFP; Alexa-488) or 555 nm (Alexa-546) were used. Images were analyzed using ZEN 2009 software. The depicted images are typical representatives of cells expressing a particular construct. All localization experiments were repeated at least twice.

3.5 Immunoprecipitation and Western blot

After transfection for 48 hrs, HeLa cells were washed twice with ice-cold PBS and lysed on ice in immunoprecipitation NET-T buffer (150 mM NaCl, 5 mM EDTA, 10 mM Tris, pH 7.4, 1% Triton X-100 with or without 5% glycerol) supplemented with 1xComplete Protease Inhibitor Cocktail (Roche Diagnostic, Indianapolis, IN). Cell lysates were centrifuged at 13,000rpm for 30 min to remove the cell debris and the supernatant was pre-cleared with either Protein A (Zymed, San Francisco, CA) or immobilized Protein G (PIERCE, Rockford, IL) beads for 1 hour at 4°C. Flag-tagged SAC1 and mutant proteins were then immunoprecipitated using anti-flag M2 antibody by overnight end-over-end rotation at 4°C. Next morning, SAC1 proteins were immunoprecipitated using mouse monoclonal anti-flag M2 antibody and protein G-Sepharose (Amersham Bioscience, USA). Cell lysates (10% of total) and immunoprecipitates were analyzed on western blots using indicated antibodies. After centrifugation, the beads were washed four times with NET-T buffer. All the samples were boiled in SDS sample buffer for 5 minutes and resolved by 12% SDS-PAGE. Proteins were transferred to nitrocellulose or PVDF

(polyvinylidene difluoride) membranes, and immuno-detected using mouse monoclonal M2 anti-flag (1:1,000) or anti-GFP antibody (1:1000).

4. RESULTS

4.1 Identification of Golgi localization domains in SAC1

The human phosphoinositide phosphatase SAC1 is an integral membrane protein with two transmembrane domains near the C-terminus (Figure 11A) ^{77, 94}. Consistent with our previous studies⁸⁰, transiently expressed GFP-SAC1 is mainly localized at the ER but also shows colocalization with the Golgi marker GM130 (Figure 11B). In contrast, GFP-SAC1-K2A, in which the two lysines in the C-terminal retrieval motif were replaced by alanines, quantitatively accumulates at the Golgi apparatus (Figure 11C). To map the regions in SAC1 that are required for Golgi targeting, a series of GFP and Flag-tagged truncation mutants were constructed (Figure 11A). The intracellular localization of these SAC1 mutants was analyzed by confocal microscopy and compared with either endogenous GM130 or endogenous GRASP65 as Golgi markers. To examine if the large cytoplasmic N-terminal domain contains a Golgi retention signal, GFP-SAC1 (1-518) was constructed, in which the entire cytoplasmic N-terminal domain was fused to GFP. GFP-SAC1(1-518) displayed cytoplasmic distribution but also showed some localization at the Golgi (Figure 11D), suggesting that the N-terminal domain itself may have a low affinity for the Golgi. However, this domain was not required for efficient Golgi retention because the mutant GFP-SAC1(478-587)-K2A, in which most of the cytosolic Nterminal domain was deleted, was quantitatively localized to the Golgi (Figure 11E). Furthermore, the truncation mutant Flag-SAC1(1-549), which contains the entire

cytoplasmic N-terminal domain, the transmembrane domain TM1, and six amino acids predicted to face the lumen, also showed robust Golgi localization (Figure 11F). These results suggested that the region from amino acid 478 to 549, which contains TM1 and short flanking sequences, was sufficient for Golgi retention. To test this idea, the GFPtagged construct GFP-SAC1(478-549), containing only this region, was generated. Immunofluorescence microscopy showed that GFP-SAC1(478-549) displayed strong colocalization with the Golgi marker GM130 (Figure 11G). GFP-SAC1(478-549) contains only one of the two SAC1 transmembrane domains and is a bona-fide tailanchored membrane protein, but showed no mis-targeting to other organelles such as mitochondria or peroxisomes (Figure 12). Taken together, these data indicate that the short TM1 construct contains all the elements that are needed for efficient Golgi retention.

4.2 The cytoplasmic region adjacent to TM1 is required for ER export

GFP-SAC1(478-549) contains a short 43 amino acid stretch that is part of the N-terminal cytoplasmic domain and six amino acids at the C-terminus that are predicted to face the ER and Golgi lumen. To further narrow down the sequence required for Golgi retention, a construct GFP-SAC1(478-543) was generated, in which the potential luminal region 544-DTWTET-549 was removed. GFP-SAC1(478-543) showed the same strong co-localization with Golgi marker GM130 as GFP-SAC1(478-549) (Figure 13A,B), suggesting that this short stretch in the SAC1 sequence is not required for Golgi retention. To examine if the adjoining N-terminal cytoplasmic region adjacent to TM1 is required for Golgi retention, pGFP-SAC1(501-549) and pGFP-SAC1(512-549) were constructed. Fluorescence microscopy showed that GFP-SAC1(501-549) localizes at both the Golgi and the ER (Figure 13C). In contrast, GFP-SAC1(512-549) is largely restricted to the ER

compartment (Figure 13D). This result suggested that the cytoplasmic region that flanks TM1 might be required for efficient trafficking of SAC1 from the ER. This region contains the sequence 505-DELE-508, which resembles the classical COP-II binding motif DXE ¹⁰². However, a GFP-SAC1(478-549)-E2A mutant showed no ER retention (Figure 14) and it remains unclear whether and how this portion of the protein is required for SAC1 trafficking.

4.3 Replacing TM1 with TMtfr2 disrupts Golgi localization of GFP-SAC1(478-549) To directly test whether TM1 is necessary for Golgi localization of SAC1(478-549), the chimeric construct GFP-SAC1(478-549)TMtfr2 was generated, in which TM1 was replaced with the 24-residue transmembrane domain of TfR2 (TMtfr2). TfR2 is an 801residue type II membrane protein with a small cytoplasmic domain (amino acids 1-80), a putative 24-residue TM domain (amino acids 81-104) and a large ectodomain (amino acids 105-801). At steady state, wild-type TfR2 localizes mainly to the plasma membrane and intracellular endosomes ^{219, 220}. HeLa cells were transfected with plasmids expressing either GFP-SAC1(478-549) or GFP-SAC1(478-549)TMtfr2 and analyzed by confocal fluorescence microscopy. GFP-SAC1(478-549) colocalized strongly with GM130 as expected (Figure 15A). In contrast, significant amounts of the GFP-SAC1 (478-549)TMtfr2 chimeric protein were detected at the plasma membrane (Figure 15B). This result confirms that SAC1-TM1 plays a critical role in Golgi retention of GFP-SAC1(478-549).

4.4 Inserting TM1 of SAC1 into TfR2 redirects this protein to the Golgi

In order to determine if the TM1 of SAC1 is sufficient for promoting Golgi association, we replaced the transmembrane domain of TfR2 with TM1. To achieve a clear and

distinguishing localization phenotype, a GFP-TfR2(73-801) mutant was generated in which most of the cytoplasmic domain of TfR2 containing the YQRV endocytic motif was removed. The corresponding chimera GFP-TfR2(73-801)TM1 was also constructed (Figure 16A). GFP-TfR2(73-801) showed plasma membrane localization in transfected cells when analyzed by fluorescence microscopy (Figure 16B). In contrast, GFP-TfR2(73-801)TM1 was retained predominantly at the Golgi and no cell surface staining was detectable (Figure 16C). These data suggested that the TM1 region of SAC1 is sufficient to direct an unrelated membrane protein to the Golgi.

4.5 Lengthening of TM1 triggers PM accumulation of GFP-SAC1(478-549)

Sequence alignment of the membrane-spanning domains of resident Golgi proteins show no sequence homology and no particular motif required for retention has been identified ^{221, 222}. However, in some cases cysteine residues within transmembrane domains play a role in Golgi retention. For example, cysteine residue in the transmembrane domains of β -1,4-galactosyltransferase is required for Golgi localization and dimerization ^{126, 127}. In contrast, cysteine residues in the transmembrane domains of alpha 2,6-sialyltransferase ²²³ and N-acetylglucosamine 6-O-sulfotransferases 1 (GlcNAc6ST-1) ¹²⁸ were found to be critical for its dimerization, but abolishment of dimer formation by mutagenesis did not lead to disruption of their Golgi localization. There are two cysteine residues present within TM1 of human SAC1

(FLALPIIMVVAFSM<u>C</u>II<u>C</u>LLMAG). To test whether these residues are critical for Golgi retention, they were mutated to serines. However, the corresponding GFP-SAC1(478-549)C2S mutant showed the same strong colocalization with Golgi marker GM130 as the

unsubstituted GFP-SAC1(478-549) and no cell surface labeling was detected (Figure 17A,B), demonstrating that the cysteines are not critical for Golgi localization.

According to the bilayer thickness model for Golgi retention, the length of transmembrane segments in resident Golgi proteins is the key determinant for localization. To examine if increasing the length of TM1 interferes with its capability to promote Golgi localization, three leucine residues were inserted into SAC1-TM1 converting it into a 26-residue-long hydrophobic domain (FLALPIIMVVAFSMCII CLLLLLMAG, inserted leucines are underlined). The elongated TM1 mutant, GFP-SAC1(478-549)ins3L, showed accumulation at the plasma membrane and reduced Golgi staining by fluorescence microscopy (Figure 17C). These data further support the idea that TM1 functions in the localization of SAC1 and indicate that the length of this domain is critical for proper Golgi partitioning.

4.6 The N-terminal cytoplasmic domain of SAC1 contributes Golgi localization

Because a truncated version of Sac1 comprising only the N-terminal cytoplasmic domain showed partial colocalization with Golgi markers (Figure 11D), we reasoned that this portion of the protein might independently promote Golgi targeting. To test this idea, we generated a construct in which the entire N-terminal region of Sac1 was fused to TMtfr2. The Flag-SAC1(1-549)TMtfr2 chimera efficiently accumulated at the Golgi and no plasma membrane localization was observed (Figure 18A). This result therefore suggests that the N-terminal region of Sac1 promotes Golgi targeting independently from the TM1-specific mechanism. Based on the structure of yeast Sac1p, the N-terminal region is composed of three distinct domains, the SacN domain (1-186), the catalytic domain (187-462) and an unstructured region (462-521). Our attempts to analyze these individual

domains for their potential roles in Golgi targeting were unsuccessful because the relevant truncated constructs GFP-SAC1(152-549) and GFP-SAC1(152-549)TMtfr2 formed aggregates and we were therefore unable to perform localization analyses (data not shown).

To examine the relevance of TM1 in the context of full-length SAC1, we replaced TM1 with either TMtfr2 or with the elongated TM1 that contains three additional leucines (ins3L). The GFP-SAC1 (TMtfr2)-K2A protein accumulated in the ER and was not present at Golgi membranes (Figure 18B). In contrast, the mutant GFP-SAC1ins3L-K2A localized to the Golgi where it was efficiently retained because no escape to the plasma membrane could be observed (Figure 18C). The TM1 region of SAC1 is therefore not strictly required for Golgi localization of the full-length SAC1 protein that lacks the COP-I retrieval motif. However, TM1 may play additional roles in the proper folding and arrangement of the two transmembrane segments, which is a prerequisite for ER exit.

4.7 A potential oligomerization domain is located at the adjacent region of TM1

A cysteine residue in β-1,4-galactosyltransferase is important for both its Golgi localization and dimerization ^{126, 127}. Although two cysteine residues within the stem and transmembrane of N-acetylglucosamine 6-O-sulfotransferases 1 (GlcNAc6ST-1) domain were found to be critical for its dimerization, disruption of the dimer by mutagenesis did not change its localization ¹²⁸. To investigate whether the cysteine residues in the SAC1-TM1 might be involved in dimerization, we performed co-immunoprecipitation assays to test whether Flag-SAC1(1-549) can pull down GFP-SAC1(478-549). HeLa cells were co-transiently transfected with the plasmid combinations as indicated, and then lysed and subjected to co-immunoprecipitation assays with anti-flag M2 antibody. The

immunoprecipitates and cell lysates were examined by immunoblotting with anti-flag M2 and anti-GFP antibodies. Surprisingly, Flag-SAC1(1-549) was able to recover GFP-SAC1(478-549), but not GFP-SAC1(501-587) (Figure 19A). These data suggest that the potential oligomerization domain of SAC1 may lie within the region from 478 to 501 of SAC1 instead of SAC1-TM1. To test this hypothesis, we examined whether Flag-SAC1(1-549) can pull down the chimeric GFP-SAC1(479-549)TMtfr2 and whether full length Flag-SAC1 can immunoprecipitate full-length chimeric mutant GFP-SAC1(TMtfr2)-K2A. Our results showed that Flag-SAC1(1-549) was able to recovery almost the same level of GFP-SAC1(478-549) as its corresponding chimeric mutant GFP-SAC1(478-549)TMtfr2. Similarly, full length Flag-SAC1 can co-immunoprecipitate with GFP-SAC1 as well as its corresponding chimeric mutant GFP-SAC1(TMtfr2)-K2A with no apparent difference (Figure 19B). These data suggested that replacement of SAC1-TM1 with TMtfr2 did not disrupt oligomerization. Moreover, sequence alignment revealed that primary sequences in the region of human SAC1(478-501) are as conserved as other regions across Sac1 family members (Figure 19C). Taken together, a potential oligomerization domain of SAC1 may reside within the cytoplasmic adjacent region of SAC1-TM1, most likely within the amino acid sequence of 478 to 501.

4.8 BFA treatment relocates GFP-SAC1-K2A and GFP-SAC1(478-549) to the ER

Brefeldin A (BFA) treatment can inhibit protein secretion and lead to the fusion of Golgi apparatus into the ER ¹³⁷⁻¹³⁹. In contrast, BFA causes the TGN to mix with the endosomal system instead of the ER ¹⁴⁰. In order to distinguish whether SAC1 localizes at the TGN or cis/medial/trans Golgi, we performed BFA treatment experiments. HeLa cells transiently trasfected with GFP-SAC1-K2A or GFP-SAC1(478-549) were treated with or

without 10 µg/ml BFA for 30min. Intracellular localization of SAC1 constructs was analyzed by indirect immunofluorescence with anti-GM130 antibody. GM130 itself served as an endogenous control for BFA treatment. We found that in untreated cells both GFP-SAC1-K2A (Figure 20A) and GFP-SAC1 (478-549) (Figure 20C) are localized at the Golgi revealed by colocalization with cis-Golgi marker GM130. However, BFA treatment resulted in the redistribution of GFP-SAC1-K2A (Figure 20B) and GFP-SAC1(478-549) (Figure 20D) and endogenous GM130 into the ER, suggesting that GFP-SAC1-K2A and GFP-SAC1(478-549) could be localized to the cis/medial/trans Golgi but not to the TGN.

5. CONCLUSIONS

We have identified two distinct regions within human SAC1 that can function in Golgi retention. Either the first transmembrane domain (SAC1-TM1) or the large N-terminal cytosolic region of SAC1 was independently sufficient for Golgi localization. Moreover, we found that the cytoplasmic adjacent region of SAC1-TM1 might be an additional oligomerization domain. Further, the vast majority of SAC1-K2A mutant was found to localize at the cis/medial/trans Golgi instead of trans-Golgi network (TGN) at least at steady state.

6. DISCUSSION

Mammalian Sac1 orthologs have several unique properties related to their tightly controlled intracellular localization. In proliferating cells, Sac1 displays a specific distribution between the ER and the cisternal Golgi, which is essential for spatial control

of PI4P⁹³. Serum starvation induces quantitative accumulation of Sac1 at the Golgi but this translocation is promptly reversed upon growth factor stimulation⁸⁰. Previous studies have shown that a canonical C-terminal di-lysine motif, present in all mammalian Sac1 orthologues, is required for steady state distribution at the ER $^{76, 80}$. In this study, we show that one of the two transmembrane domains in human SAC1 is sufficient for partitioning into the Golgi. The relevance of a transmembrane segment for Golgi localization is not unprecedented. For example, the first of three membrane-spanning domains of M1 glycoprotein of avian coronavirus was found to be sufficient to retain this protein in the cis-Golgi, When the membrane-spanning domain of M1 glycoprotein was transplanted into the VSVG protein, which can be efficiently delivered to the plasma membrane, the resulting chimera was retained in the Golgi ²²⁴. Furthermore, the single transmembrane domains in many Golgi glycosylation enzymes are key determinants of their specific localization at the Golgi⁷⁶. How transmembrane domains mediate Golgi retention is not entirely clear. Two mechanisms have been proposed, based either on oligomerization of Golgi enzymes into large complexes or on length of TM segment of membrane proteins. SAC1 can form oligomers, and oligomerization promoted by serum starvation coincides with Golgi accumulation⁸⁰. However, the data presented here show that a minimal construct encompassing only transmembrane region TM1 plus short flanking regions efficiently accumulates at the Golgi. Furthermore, transplanting the TM1 sequence without its flanking regions into TfR2 was sufficient to redirect this protein to the Golgi. Our experiments also show that lengthening of TM1 significantly reduced Golgi retention and induced plasma membrane localization. Based on these results, we propose that bilayer thickness may contribute to the precise distribution of Sac1 within the Golgi.

Based on the bilayer thickness model, relatively short transmembrane domains are thought to correlate with Golgi retention ^{122, 123}. A recent bioinformatics investigation used comprehensive comparisons of transmembrane domains of integral membrane proteins to show that the transmembrane length of resident membrane proteins varies along the secretory pathway ¹²¹. The mean hydrophobic length of transmembrane domains in vertebrate ER and Golgi proteins is 20.6 residues, whereas TGN membrane proteins have a mean value of 24.8 hydrophobic residues ¹²¹. The predicted length of TM1 is 23 amino acids, which is longer than the common transmembrane spanning domains of cisternal Golgi enzymes ¹²¹. It is therefore tempting to speculate that the specific dimensions of TM1 allow SAC1 to reach the TGN, which may be physiologically important because the phosphatase is responsible for downregulation of TGN PI4P levels during serum starvation.

An important question is whether steady state localization of human SAC1, especially the Golgi-targeted mutant SAC1-K2A, is located at the TGN or cis/medial/trans Golgi. Given the importance of PI4P in anterograde trafficking from the TGN, the presence of Sac1 in the TGN is paradoxical ⁹¹. In this study, I used the cis-Golgi marker GM130 and medial-Golgi marker GRASP65 but no TGN marker. Of interest, brefeldin A (BFA) treatment resulted in redistribution of GFP-SAC1-K2A to the ER, suggesting that even the Golgi-targeted mutant SAC1-K2A could localize at the cis/medial/trans Golgi instead of the TGN ¹⁴⁰. Previous confocal immunofluorescence microscopy studies showed that SAC1 proteins did localize at the TGN because they colocalized with the TGN marker TGN46 ^{80, 91}. These controversial results need to be tested by using high-resolution microscope like electron microscopy (EM). In deed, EM

analysis revealed that wild type SAC1 is absent from the TGN, thus confining PI(4)P at the TGN ⁹³. If SAC1-K2A has no chance to reach the TGN, then TGN secretion will not be greatly affected by over-expression of SAC1-K2A at least at steady state.

There is evidence showing that even the Golgi-targeted SAC1-K2A mutant may not function at the TGN. Dr. Bankaitis laboratory (University of North Carolina) has established a HeLa cell line stably expressing SAC1-GFP (3-fold than endogenous level)⁹¹. This stable cell line was unintentionally generated with a GFP tag at the Cterminus of human SAC1, which disrupted the di-lysine motif (583-KEKID-587), and therefore, it is a counterpart to SAC1-K2A mutant instead of wild type SAC1. Surprisingly, they did not observe any obvious defect in the trafficking of VSVG along the secretory pathway using this stable cell line, implying that the TGN PI4P level is not affected by the stably over-expressed SAC1-GFP⁹¹. However, studies from Dr. Balla lab (National Institutes of Health) showed that acute PI4P depletion achieved by using rapamycin-induced TGN-targeted Sac1 phosphatase could rapidly eliminate TGN PI4P, terminate the formation of transport vesicles from the Golgi and block the transports of both the VSVG and the cation-independent mannose 6-phosphate receptor (CI-M6PR)²²⁵. Taken together, these data suggest that Golgi-localized SAC1-K2A mutant may not targeted to the TGN and may have limited roles in depleting TGN PI4P.

Nonetheless, serum starvation seems to cause TGN accumulation of human SAC1 ⁸⁰. Then, how serum starvation releases the cis/medial/trans Golgi retention of human SAC1 and subsequently results in TGN PI4P depletion needs further investigation.

A specific distribution of human SAC1 within the Golgi is required to establish a cis-to-trans PI4P gradient in proliferating cells ⁹³. The N-terminal cytoplasmic region of SAC1 may play multiple roles in this process. Oligomerization of this domain is a key determinant in controlling ER exit or interaction with COP-I because oligomerization-deficient SAC1 mutants remain concentrated at the ER during serum starvation ⁹⁸. The presented data suggest that the N-terminal region of SAC1 plays an additional role in the targeting of SAC1 to the Golgi. In yeast, the N-terminal domain of Sac1p interacts with the peripheral Golgi protein Vps74, a PI4P effector required for Golgi localization of glycosyltransferases ²²⁶. Whether GOLPH3, the human homolog of Vps74 ²⁸, interacts with SAC1 has not been examined. However, deletion of Vps74 in yeast does not abrogate Golgi localization of Sac1p and there is evidence that additional integral Golgi membrane proteins are involved in Sac1p localization ⁴⁶.

In summary, we have identified two specific regions in human SAC1 that are independently involved in Golgi targeting. Combined with our previous studies, these results support a multi-step mechanism controlling distribution of SAC1 at the Golgi. During proliferation, SAC1 partitions into the cisternal Golgi but is continuously retrieved to the ER by interacting with retrograde COP-I complexes. The first transmembrane segment TM1 is sufficient to bring about Golgi localization but only when the COP-I sorting motif is absent. Because Golgi partitioning via transmembrane domains is a passive process an additional retention mechanism must be in place to establish the steady state distribution of SAC1 at the cisternal Golgi in proliferating cells. Our data show that the N-terminal domain of SAC1 plays an important role in this process. This view is supported by our previous work showing that elimination of the N-

terminal domain of SAC1 triggers ER accumulation if the C-terminal COP-I binding motif is intact. When ER retrieval is turned off during serum starvation, SAC1 behaves like a resident Golgi enzyme and TM1 may then direct the protein to Golgi regions with appropriate membrane thickness resulting in the turnover of PI4P at these sites.

7. FIGURES AND FIGURE LEGENDS

Figure 11



Figure 11. Mapping the Golgi retention motif in SAC1. (A) Overview of truncated
SAC1 constructs. (B-G) HeLa cells were transfected with the indicated Flag-tagged
SAC1 (red) or GFP- constructs (green), costained with anti-GM130 (red) or antiGRASP65 antibodies (green) and analyzed by confocal immunofluorescence microscopy.
(B) GFP-SAC1; (C) GFP-SAC1-K2A; (D) GFP-SAC1(1-518); (E) GFP-SAC1(478587)-K2A; (F) Flag-SAC1(1-549); (G) GFP-SAC1(478-549). Scale bar, 50 μm.


Figure 12. No mistargeting of GFP-SAC1(478-549) to mitochondrial and

peroxisomal membranes. HeLa cells were cotransfected with GFP-SAC1(478-549) (green) and pTagRFP-Mito (red) to visualize mitochondria (**A**) or pTagRFP-Pero (red) to visualize peroxisomes (**B**). Localization of the expressed proteins was analyzed by confocal fluorescence microscopy. Scale bar, 50 μm.









Figure 14. The 505-DELE-508 sequence adjacent to TM1 is not required for ER export. HeLa cells were transfected with GFP-SAC1(478-549)-E2A (green), costained with anti-GM130 antibodies (red) and analyzed by confocal immunofluorescence microscopy. Scale bar, 50 μm.



Figure 15. Replacing TM1 with the transmembrane domain of TfR2 results in loss of Golgi retention. HeLa cells were transfected with the indicated GFP-tagged SAC1 constructs (green), costained with anti-GM130 antibodies (red) and analyzed by confocal immunofluorescence microscopy. (**A**) GFP-SAC1(478-549); (**B**) SAC1(478-549)TMtfr2. Scale bar, 50 μm.

Α 105 801 81 TfR2 Cytodomain TMtfr2 Ectodomain 7381 105 801 GFP-TfR2(73-801) TMtfr2 Ectodomain GFP-7381 105 801 GFP-TfR2(73-801)TM1 Ectodomain GFP-TM1 GFP-TfR2(73-801) GM130 Merge GFP-TfR2(73-801)TM1 GM130 Merge

Figure 16. Insertion of TM1 induces Golgi retention of TfR2. HeLa cells were transfected with the indicated GFP-tagged TfR2 constructs that lack the N-terminal endocytic sorting motif (green), costained with anti-GM130 antibodies (red) and analyzed by confocal immunofluorescence microscopy. (A) GFP-TfR2(73-801); (**B**) GFP-TfR2(73-801)TM1. Scale bar, 50 μm.



Figure 17. Lengthening TM1 by inserting three leucine residues results in a loss of Golgi retention. HeLa cells were transfected with the indicated GFP-tagged SAC1 constructs (green), costained with anti-GM130 antibodies (red) and analyzed by confocal immunofluorescence microscopy. (**A**) GFP-SAC1(478-549); (**B**) GFP-SAC1(478-549)C2S; (**C**) GFP-SAC1(478-549)ins3L. Scale bar, 50 μm.



Figure 18. The N-terminal domain of SAC1 promotes Golgi retention. HeLa cells were transfected with the indicated SAC1 constructs, costained with anti-GM130 antibodies (red) and analyzed by confocal immunofluorescence microscopy. (**A**) Flag-SAC1(1-549)TMtfr2; (**B**) GFP-SAC1(TMtfr2)-K2A; *C*, GFP-SAC1ins3L-K2A. Scale bar, 50 μm.

A.



B.



C.

| | 478 | 502 | 520 | | | |
|------------|---|--------------------|------------------|--|--|--|
| SAC1_HUMAN | MIRYYKNNFSDGFRQDSIDLFLGNYSVDELESHSPLSVPRDWK | | | | | |
| SAC1_DROME | LMRYYLNNFADG | QRQDSIDLFLGKYLVNDN | EGGAVPSPLESKHGWR | | | |
| SAC1_XENLA | LIRYYKNNFSDG | FRQDSIDLFLGNYSVEEA | YSTSPLHIQTDWK | | | |
| SAC1_YEAST | ASRYYQNNWTDG | PRQDSYDLFLGGFRPHTA | SIKSPFPDRRPVY | | | |
| | *** **::** | **** ***** : . | **: | | | |

Figure 19. A potential oligomerization domain is located at the adjacent region of SAC1-TM1. (A) Flag-SAC1(1-549) immunoprecipitates GFP-SAC1(478-549) but not GFP-SAC1(501-587). HeLa cells plated in 10cm plates were co-transiently transfected with the combinations of control vector pCMV-3Tag-1A and GFP-SAC1(478-549); Flag-SAC1(1-549) and GFP-SAC1(501-587); and Flag-SAC1(1-549) and GFP-SAC1(478-549) (each plasmid $3\mu g$) plasmids as indicated. The cells were lysed and cell lysates were recovered by immunoprecipitation using an anti-flag M2 antibody. Cell lysates and the IPs were analyzed by western blotting using anti-flag M2 (1:000) and anti-GFP antibody (1:1000). (B) SAC1-TM1 is not responsible for oligomerization. HeLa cells were cotransiently transfected with the combinations of pFlag-SAC1(1-549) and vector pEGFP-C1; pFlag-SAC1(1-549) and vector pGFP-SAC1; pFlag-SAC1(1-549) and vector pGFP-SAC1(478-549)TMtfr2; pFlag-SAC1 (3µg) and pGFP-SAC1-K2A (3µg); and pFlag-SAC1 (3µg) and pGFP-SAC1(TMtfr2)-K2A (3µg) plasmids as indicated, The cells were lysed and cell lysates were recovered by immunoprecipitation using an anti-flag M2 antibody. Cell lysates and the IPs were analyzed by western blotting using anti-flag M2 (1:000) and anti-GFP antibody (1:1000). (C) Sequence alignment indicates highly homologous in the region from amino acid 478 to 501 (numbered as in human SAC1). The amino acid sequences of SAC1(478-520) adjacent to TM1 of human SAC1 protein are aligned with Zebrafish (DANDR), Xenopus laevis (XENLA), and Yeast sequences. The sequence alignments were generated using ClustalW2 program.



Figure 20. Brefeldin A (BFA) treatment relocates GFP-SAC1-K2A and GFP-SAC1(478-549) to the ER compartment. HeLa cells were transiently transfected with GFP-SAC1-K2A (**A** and **B**) (green) or GFP-SAC1(478-549)(**C** and **D**) (green) for 24 hours. The cells were then untreated (A and C) or treated (B and D) with 10µg/ml of BFA for 30 minutes. Cells were fixed and probed with anti-GM130 (red). Intracellular localization of constructs was analyzed by indirect immunofluorescence with GM130 as endogenous control. Scale bar, 50µm

CHAPTER THREE

14-3-3 PROTEINS REGULATE ER EXIT OF LIPID PHOSPHATASE SAC1

Jinzhi Wang[†] and Peter Mayinger^{*1}

*Division of Nephrology & Hypertension and †The Department of Cell & Developmental Biology, Oregon Health & Science University, Portland, OR 97239 Short title: 14-3-3 interacts with lipid phosphatase SAC1 Note: this work is not published.

1. ABSTRACT

At steady state, human lipid phosphatase SAC1 (Suppressor of actin mutations 1) continuously cycles between the ER and Golgi, which is crucial for the spatial regulation of phosphatidylinositol-4-phosphate (PI4P) at both organelles. A classic KXKXX retrieval motif present at the C-terminus of SAC1 suffices to maintain ER retrieval from post ER compartments. However, it was unclear how ER exit and anterograde transport of SAC1 is regulated. Here, we show that 14-3-3 proteins bind to SAC1 through recognizing a classic mode II-like 14-3-3-binding motif (145-RLSNTSP-151) in the cytoplasmic N-terminal domain of human SAC1. A deletion mutant of SAC1, SAC1(Δ 145-151), which lacks the 14-3-3-binding motif, cannot coimmunoprecipite with 14-3-3 proteins. When over-expressed, all 14-3-3 isoforms, with the exception of 14-3-3 ζ , can co-immunoprecipitate with SAC1. A consensus phosphorylation site (threonine 149) in the putative 14-3-3-binding motif is not critical because the SAC1-T149A mutant that eliminates the consencus sequence does not abrogate 14-3-3 association. However, a SAC1-S147A/T149A/S150A mutant shows much reduced interaction with 14-3-3, indicating that phosphorylation may be involved in regulating the interaction between SAC1 and 14-3-3. Moreover, the GFP-SAC1 (Δ 145-151) mutant shows a greatly compromised ability to traffic out of the ER compared to wild-type GFP-SAC1. This finding suggests that binding of 14-3-3 may regulate the ER to Golgi transport of lipid phosphatase SAC1.

2. INTRODUCTION

The lipid phosphatase Sac1, an originating member of Sac phosphatase domain protein family, is an evolutionary conserved phosphatidylinositol-4-phosphate (PI4P) metabolic enzyme ^{76-78, 80}. Sac1 is an integral membrane protein containing a large N-terminal cytoplasmic domain and two transmembrane regions close to its C terminus with a short C-terminal domain also facing the cytosol ⁹⁴. Crystal struture of cytoplasmic N-terminal domain of yeast Sac1p reveals that the N-terminal 500 amino acid residues region contains a SacN domain, a catalytic domain and an unstructured region, but the function relevance of these domains is not known⁶⁸. The unstructured region consisting of about 70 amino acid residues has been proposed to allow trans-action of Sac1 to regulate the PI4P on other membranes ⁶⁸. Correspondingly, Sac1 was reported to play vital roles at ER/plasma membrane contact sites by regulating the PM PI4P level ⁷⁹. At steady state, SAC1 continuously cycles between the ER and Golgi, which is important to mop up the inappropriately generated PI4P at the improper Golgi membranes, and to maintain a steep PI4P gradient in the early secretory pathway from the ER to the Golgi compartment, with PI4P mainly concentrated at the TGN^{80, 91, 93}. Although the N-terminal leucine zipper

motif-mediated oligomerization has been reported to promote Golgi accumulation of human SAC1 during serum starvation ^{76, 80}, the molecular mechanism that regulates ER to Golgi trafficking of human SAC1 remains unclear.

14-3-3 family proteins are highly conserved and ubiquitously expressed in eukaryotic cells ¹⁴³. They are small, acidic cytosolic proteins with monomeric molecular weight about 30kD¹⁴³. 14-3-3 proteins exist in homodimers or heterodimers in nature¹⁴³. They are seven 14-3-3 isoforms in human and mice ¹⁴⁵. The crystal structure of 14-3-3 isoforms revealed that each monomer of 14-3-3 dimer has a large negatively charged groove. Therefore, every 14-3-3 dimer has two binding sites ¹⁵². Binding of 14-3-3 to ligands depends on specific phosphoserine/threonine-containing motifs in the ligand proteins, and the dimeric nature of 14-3-3 allows them to function as intramolecular and intermolecular bridges. As cytosolic adaptor proteins, 14-3-3 proteins have been suggested to take part in multiple signaling processes with many biologic consequences ¹⁵². Several hundred of 14-3-3 interacting proteins have been identified ¹⁶⁵. 14-3-3 proteins regulate almost all primary biological processes such as signal transduction ^{166-168, 227}; apoptosis ^{169, 170}; transcriptional regulation ¹⁶⁸; metabolism ¹⁷¹; cell-cycle control ¹⁷²⁻¹⁷⁵. Moreover, a number of membrane protein have been found to be 14-3-3 interacting proteins, binding of 14-3-3 to them controls the surface transport of these transmembrane proteins ^{159, 160, 207, 228}.

In this study, we showed that 14-3-3 proteins are novel human SAC1 interacting partners. We suggested that 14-3-3 binds to SAC1 through recognizing a consensus mode II-like 14-3-3 binding site (145-RLSNTSP-151) located in the SacN domain of SAC1. Deletion of this binding site in SAC1 results in failure of co-immunoprecipitation of 14-

3-3 proteins with SAC1. We hypothesize that binding of 14-3-3 may regulate ER exit of lipid phosphatase SAC1 by probing the correctly assembled SAC1 oligomers. Consistently, the 14-3-3 binding deficient SAC1 mutant showed compromised traffic out of ER compared with wild type SAC1 protein.

3. MATERIAL AND METHODS

3.1 Cell culture and antibodies

HeLa cells (ATCC number CCL-2) and COS7 cells (ATCC number CRL-1651) were cultured in Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DMEM) (Sigma, USA) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS) (Sigma, USA). Hep3B cells (ATCC Number: HB-8064) were obtained from Dr. Caroline Enns lab at Oregon Health Science University (OHSU). Hep3B and the derived stable cells Hep3B/Flag-SAC1 were cultured in the Minimum essential medium (Eagle) supplemented with 2 mM L-glutamine and Earle's Balanced Salt Solution (EBSS) adjusted to contain 1.5 g/L sodium bicarbonate, 0.1 mM non-essential amino acids, and 1.0 mM sodium pyruvate and 10% FBS. Anti-flag M2 agarose was obtained from Sigma (USA). Anti-flag M2 mouse monoclonal antibody was purchased from Sigma (catalog number: F1804). The polyclonal anti-GFP, N-terminal rabbit antibody was purchased from Sigma (catalog number: G1544). Mouse monoclonal anti-myc-tag antibody (9E10) was purchased from Sigma (USA) (catalog number: F1804). Mouse 12CA5 monoclonal anti-HA11 antibody was purchased from Abcam (USA) (catalog number: ab16918). Anti-14-3-3 pan antibody was purchased from Santa Cruz Biotechnology (USA) (catalog number: sc-13959). Secondary antibodies IRDye 800CW Goat (polyclonal) anti-Mouse IgG (H+L), (catalog number: 926-32210) and

IRDye 680 Conjugated Goat (polyclonal) anti-Rabbit IgG (H+L), were purchased from Rockland Immunochemicals (catalog number: 926-32221)

3.2 Transfections

Transient transfections were performed using the Lipofectamine 2000 transfection reagent (catalog number: 11668-019) (Invitrogen) according to the manufacturer's protocol. For confocal microscopy, 1.5×10^5 COS-7 cells were seeded into each well of a 6-well plate (Corning) containing glass coverslips and allowed to attach for 18-20 hours at 37°C. The cells were transfected with 0.5 μ g of DNA mixed with 1.5 μ l Lipofectamine2000 with a ratio of Lipofectamine2000/DNA=3/1 and incubated for 24 h at 37°C. For co-immunoprecipitation, HeLa or COS-7 cells were plated in the 10cm dishes and grow to 80-90% confluence sixteen hours prior to the transfection experiment. The DNA mixture of pCMV3Tag-1A-SAC1 (5µg) and each of the pMD-HA-14-3-3 isoforms (2.5µg each) were prepared with 10µl Lipofectamine 2000 at a ratio of Lipofectamine 2000/DNA=4/3 in all experiments. The overnight culture medium was removed by vacuum aspiration. 1ml of transfection mixture was then directly added into 10cm dishes. After one-hour incubation, the transfection mixture was replaced with normal culture medium (DMEM plus 10% FBS) and cells were allowed to grow for another 48 hours. Transfected cells were then processed for immunoprecipitation, immunoblotting or immunostaining as indicated.

3.3 Establishment of stable cell line Hep3B/Flag-SAC1

Hep3B cells were plated into a 35mm-dish (Corning) and allowed to attach to the surface overnight at 37°C. Next morning, transfection of Hep3B cells with pCMV3Tag-1A-SAC1 (1 µg of DNA mixed with 3 µl Lipofectamine 2000) was performed using

Lipofectamine 2000 according to the manufacturer's protocol (Invitrogen). 72 hours later, cells were selected by 400 µg/ml G418 (Geneticin) and the culture medium was replaced with fresh MEM medium supplemented with 400 µg/ml G418 every 4 days. After about 3 weeks of selection, the stable clones expressing pCMV3Tag-1A-SAC1 were recloned to obtain a pure cell line. Established clones were confirmed by gel electrophoresis and Western blot analysis with anti-flag M2 antibody. Subsequently characterized stable cells were preserved in minimal essential medium containing with 10% fetal bovine serum and 400 µg/ml G418 and stored at -80°C.

3.4 Plasmids and site-directed mutagenesis

The plasmids pEGFP-C1-SAC1 and pEGFP-C1-SAC1-K2A were described previously ⁸⁰. pcDNA3-myc-14-3-3 σ was a gift from Dr. Gary Thomas lab(OHSU). Plasmids encoding HA-tagged mouse 14-3-3 isoforms were kindly provided by Dr. Vivek Bhalla at the Stanford University. There are pMD-HA-14-3-3 β , pMD-HA-14-3-3 γ , pMD-HA-14-3-3 σ , pMD-HA-

Design Software (https://www.genomics.agilent.com/). QuikChange II XL Site-Directed Mutagenesis Kit was purchased from Agilent Technologies (catalog number: 200521). Experiments were performed according to manufacturer's instructions. All the constructs have been confirmed by sequencing and available upon request (see table 2).

3.5 Immunoprecipitation and Western blot

After transfection for 48 hrs, COS-7 cells were washed twice with ice-cold PBS and lysed on ice in immunoprecipitation NET-T buffer (150 mM NaCl, 5 mM EDTA, 10 mM Tris, pH 7.4, 1% Triton X-100 with or without 5% glycerol) supplemented with 1xComplete Protease Inhibitor Cocktail (Roche Diagnostic, Indianapolis, IN). Cell lysates were centrifuged at 13,000rpm for 30 min to remove the cell debris and the supernatant was pre-cleared with either Protein A (Zymed, San Francisco, CA) or immobilized Protein G (PIERCE, Rockford, IL) beads for 1 hour at 4°C. HA or Myctagged 14-3-3 proteins were immunoprecipitated using mouse monoclonal anti-HA11 or anti-myc (9E10) antibody and protein G-Sepharose (Amersham Bioscience, USA). Flagtagged SAC1 and mutant proteins were immunoprecipitated using anti-flag M2-agarose by overnight end-over-end rotation at 4°C. Cell lysates (10% of total) and immunoprecipitates were analyzed on western blots using indicated antibodies. After centrifugation, the beads were washed four times with NET-T buffer. All the samples were boiled in SDS sample buffer for 5 minutes and resolved by 12% SDS-PAGE. Proteins were transferred to nitrocellulose or PVDF (polyvinylidene difluoride) membranes, and immuno-detected using mouse monoclonal anti-HA (1:1,000), monoclonal anti-myc (1:1,000), M2 anti-flag (1:1,000), or anti-GFP antibody (1:1000).

3.6 Indirect immunofluorescence microscopy

Transient transfections were performed using the Lipofectamine2000 transfection reagent (Invitrogen) according to the manufacturer's protocol. For confocal microscopy, $1.5 \times 10^{\circ}$ COS-7 cells were plated into each well of a 6-well plate (Corning) containing glass coverslips and allowed to attach for 18-20 h at 37°C. The cells were transfected with 1 μ g of DNA mixed with 3 µl Lipofectamine2000 and incubated for 24 h at 37°C. 24-hour after transfection, COS-7 cells were washed three times with PBS and fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde in PBS for 15 min. Cells were treated with blocking & permeabilization buffer (PBS, 2% normal goat serum, 0.5% Triton X-100) for 30 min. The cells were then incubated with primary antibody, anti-GM130 mouse mAb (2.5µg/ml final concentration) diluted in PBS for 1 hr. Cells were washed four times with washing buffer (PBS, 0.1% Triton X-100, 0.2% BSA) and incubated with secondary antibody Alexa Fluor 546-conjugated goat anti-mouse IgG (1:500). Cells were then washed again four times with washing buffer. Coverslips were mounted onto microscope slides using Fluoromount-G (SouthernBiotech) and visualized on a Zeiss LSM 700 laser-scanning confocal microscope with a 63×1.4 NA Plan-Apochromat objective lens. Excitation wavelengths of 488 nm (GFP; Alexa-488) or 555 nm (Alexa-546) were used. Images were analyzed using ZEN 2009 software. The depicted images are typical representatives of cells expressing a particular construct. All localization experiments were repeated at least twice.

4. RESULTS

4.1 14-3-3σ is a new interacting partner for lipid phosphatase SAC1

By mass spectrometric analysis, we previously found that $14-3-3\sigma$ could be precipitated

with human lipid phosphatase SAC1 from COS-7 cells infected with AAV (Adenoassociated virus) expressing Flag-tagged SAC1 (data not shown). To verify this interaction, COS-7 cells were co-transfected with plasmids pEGFP-C1-SAC1 and pcDNA3-Myc-14-3-3 σ . After 48 hrs, cells expressing amino-terminal Myc-tagged 14-3- 3σ and GFP-tagged SAC1 were lysed and subjected to co-immunoprecipitation assays using anti-myc antibodies. Myc-14-3- 3σ pulled down GFP-SAC1 whereas the controls did not recover any GFP-SAC1 protein (Figure 21), indicating that the intracellular interaction between 14-3-3 and SAC1 is specific. Taken together, these data demonstrate that full length SAC1 interacts with 14-3-3 proteins, suggesting that 14-3- 3σ could be a new regulator of human lipid phosphatase SAC1.

4.2 Binding of 14-3-3σ to SAC1 via recognizing a classic mode II-like motif

The binding of 14-3-3 to its ligands usually depends on specific amino acid sequences in target proteins ¹⁴⁸. Two main interacting motifs are consensus mode I motif (RXXpS/pTXP) ¹⁷⁶ and mode II motif (RXSXpS/pTXP) ¹⁵⁸. We employed the online MiniMotif Miner application (http://mnm.engr.uconn.edu/MNM/SMSSearchServlet) to predict short motifs in human SAC1 ^{229, 230}. We identified a potential 14-3-3 binding motif in human lipid phosphatase SAC1 protein at position 145 of SAC1 (145-RLSNTSP-151) (Figure 22A). This N-terminal site exhibits highly similarity to the consensus mode II 14-3-3-binding motif (RXSXpSXP). To explore whether this presumed region composed of amino acids 145-151 of SAC1 acts as a 14-3-3-binding site, we generated a deletion mutant, pcDNA3-Flag-SAC1(Δ 145-151), in which the entire putative region (145-RLSNTSP-151) was removed by mutagenesis. WT (Flag-SAC1) or deletion mutant (Flag-SAC1(Δ 145-151)) were co-transfected with Myc-tagged 14-3-3\sigma

in COS-7 cells. Cells were lysed and subjected to co-immunoprecipitation assays with anti-flag antibody. The immunoprecipitates (IP) and cell lysates were examined by western blotting with anti-flag M2 and anti-myc antibodies. Myc-14-3-3 was able to be co-immunoprecipitated with Flag-tagged wild-type (WT) SAC1 protein, but not the deletion mutant protein Flag-SAC1(Δ 145-151) (Figure 22B). These data indicate that the region of amino acids 145–151 in human SAC1 is necessary for its binding to 14-3-3 σ . Therefore, we suggest that 14-3-3 might bind to lipid phosphatase SAC1 through recognizing amino acid RLSNTSP sequence of SAC1.

4.3 Effects of 14-3-3 on the ER export of SAC1

14-3-3 proteins are well known to regulate ER exit of various surface expression membrane proteins such as the potassium channels KCNK3 ²¹⁰ and human κ-opioid receptor ¹⁶³. These membrane proteins share an exceptional common feature that containing a 14-3-3 binding motif and an ER retention signal, often a di-arginine motif ¹⁵⁹. Binding of 14-3-3 was proposed to allow efficient surface expression of these membrane proteins by probing the multimeric assembly ²⁰⁴ and modulating ER exit by masking the ER retention signal ^{159, 160}. Of interest, lipid phosphatase SAC1 possesses a 14-3-3 binding motif in its cytoplasmic N-terminus and contains a canonical di-lysine ER retrieval/retention signal in its far C-terminus. At steady state, SAC1 constantly shuttles between the ER and cis-Golgi compartments. The canonical di-lysine motif at the Cterminus of Sac1 is vital for COP-I binding and retrograde traffic to the ER ^{76, 80}. We therefore speculated that 14-3-3 binding to SAC1 might interfere with the classic KXKXX COP-I binding motif (583-KEKID-587 in SAC1) and regulate anterograde ER to Golgi transport of SAC1. To examine this hypothesis, we generated GFP-SAC1(Δ145151) mutant, which is a GFP-tagged version of SAC1 with the 14-3-3-binding motif removed. COS-7 cells were transfected with plasmids expressing either GFP-SAC1 or GFP-SAC1(Δ 145-151) and treated with or without serum. When we analyzed the subcellular localization of this mutant by immunofluorescent microscopy, we found that GFP-SAC1(Δ 145-151) displayed much less colocalization with cis-Golgi marker GM130 than wild type GFP-SAC1 (Compare Figure 23A, C with Figure 23B, D). Even under serum starvation conditions, which have been reported to trigger Golgi accumulation of SAC1, we did not find significantly high level of localization of SAC1(Δ 145-151) at the Golgi compared to wild type SAC1 (Figure 23C and D). The compromised ER exit of GFP-SAC1(Δ 145-151) suggested that 14-3-3 proteins might play a role in anterograde transport of lipid phosphatase SAC1 from the ER to Golgi.

However, ER confined localization of GFP-SAC1(Δ 145-151) could simply due to misfolding of this deletion mutant protein. Dr. Blagoveshchenskaya in our laboratory have examined the phosphatase activity of mutant Flag-SAC1(Δ 145-151) and found that Flag-SAC1(Δ 145-151) mutant is enzymatically inactive compared to the WT(Flag-SAC1) (data not shown), raising a high chance of misfolding of this deletion mutant, but only when we excluded the possibility that 14-3-3 was not required for regulating the phosphatase activity of lipid phosphatase SAC1. Misfolding of this deletion mutant SAC1(Δ 145-151) may also void our claim that 145-RLSNTSP-151 is the region involving in 14-3-3-SAC1 interaction. Therefore, cautions should be taken here and further studies should be performed to examine whether this mutant is misfolded or not.

4.4 Isoform-specific binding of 14-3-3 to human SAC1

The mammalian 14-3-3 proteins are highly acidic and ubiquitously expressed proteins ^{148,}

¹⁵¹. There are seven mammalian 14-3-3 isoforms (β , γ , ε , σ , ζ , η and θ) in human and mice ²³¹. In many cases, the 14-3-3 ligands show certain preference for particular isoforms of 14-3-3 ^{203-205, 232}. To determine whether SAC1 interacts preferentially with a specific 14-3-3 isoform, we carried out co-immunoprecipitation analysis using the established stable cell line of Hep3B/Flag-SAC1, which constitutively expresses a Flagtagged SAC1 (Figure 24A). Hep3B/Flag-SAC1 cells were transfected with plasmids expressing specific 14-3-3 isoforms. Protein complexes were precipitated with anti-flag M2 antibody. Western blot analysis revealed that SAC1 associates with all isoforms but only very weakly with the ζ isoform. However, although repeated pull-downs showed variable binding of 14-3-3 isoforms, the γ isoforms consistently bound very strongly to SAC1 (Figure 24B), indicating a possible preference of SAC1 for interacting with this isoform.

4.5 S147A/T149A/S150A mutant shows greatly reduced interaction with 14-3-3

The principal function of 14-3-3 is to bind phosphoserine/threonine-containing motifs such as the consensus mode I motif (RSXpSXP), mode II (RXSXpSXP) and mode III SWTY motif ^{148, 204}. Next, we examined whether 14-3-3 binding to SAC1 is phosphorylation-dependent. Inspection of the amino acid sequence RLSNTSP of SAC1 revealed that there are three potential serine/threonine phosphorylation sites (S147, T149 and S150) in that region.

Initially, we generated two mutants by site-directed mutagenesis, pCMV3Tag-1A-SAC1(T149A) in which threonine T149 was changed to alanine, and pCMV3Tag-1A-SAC1(S147A) in which serine S147 was exchanged to alanine. We simultaneously constructed a Golgi-localized pCMV3Tag-1A-SAC1-K2A mutant, in which the two

lysines in the C-terminal retrieval motif were replaced by alanines. COS-7 cells were transiently cotransfected with plasmid pMD-HA-14-3-3γ and empty vector, Flag-tagged SAC1 or Flag-tagged SAC1-K2A. Cells were subjected to co-immunoprecipitation assays with anti-flag M2 antibody and analyzed by western blot analysis. The results showed that both the single alanine substitution mutants SAC1(T149A) and SAC1(S147A) precipitated the same level of 14-3-3 protein as the wild type Flag-SAC1 and the K2A mutant (Figure 25A). These results showed that the single alanine replacement does not abolish the association of 14-3-3 with SAC1.

Secondly, we generated a double alanine substitution mutant pCMV3Tag-1A-SAC1(S147A/T149A) in which 145-RLSNTSP-151 was mutated to 145-RLANASP-151. However, co-immunoprecipitation results showed that pulldown of 14-3-3 γ displayed no significant reduction in copurifying the S147A/T149A mutant compared to amounts of pulled-down wild type SAC1 (Figure 25B).

Finally, we generated a triple alanine substitution mutant, pCMV3Tag-1A-SAC1(S147A/T149A/S150A), in which 145-RLSNTSP-151 was mutated to 145-RLANAAP-151. The SAC1(S147A/T149A/S150A) mutant showed greatly decreased recovery of 14-3-3 from the precipitates compared to wild type SAC1 (Figure 25C). These results suggest that binding of 14-3-3 to SAC1 may be regulated by multiple phosphorylations in the mode II-like 14-3-3 binding motif. Single phosphorylated serine or threonine in this region may be sufficient to recruit 14-3-3 proteins.

5. DISCUSSION

Lipid phosphatase SAC1 (Suppressor of actin mutations 1) continuously shuttles between

the ER and Golgi, which are crucial for the spatial regulation of phosphatidylinositol-4phosphate (PI4P) at both organelles ^{7, 80}. At steady state, human SAC1 is predominantly localized at the ER, which is achieved by a classic KXKXX retrieval motif present in the C-terminal of SAC1 ^{76, 80}. COP-I coatomer has been demonstrated to directly bind to this di-lysine motif (584-KEKID-587) in SAC1, which is sufficient to maintain ER retrieval of SAC1 from post ER compartments ^{76, 80}. However, it was unknown how ER exit and forward transport of SAC1 is coordinated. The mammalian 14-3-3 family proteins are highly conserved and ubiquitously expressed in eukaryotic cells ²³³. 14-3-3 proteins interact with various proteins and regulate a wide range of biological functions ^{148, 234}. Here, we found that 14-3-3 proteins interact with human SAC1. We investigated the molecular basics on how 14-3-3 proteins bind to SAC1 and suggested a possible role for 14-3-3 in regulating anterograde ER to Golgi trafficking of human SAC1.

5.1 The molecular basis of SAC1 and 14-3-3 interactions

Relying on online motif-prediction software, we have identified a potential 14-3-3 binding site (145-RLSNTSP-151) in human SAC1. Based on the known crystal structure of yeast Sac1p, this motif is located at the cytoplasmic SacN domain ⁶⁸. We showed that removal of this short region of amino acids in SAC1 abolishes its association with 14-3-3. We therefore suggest that 14-3-3 binding to SAC1 occurs through recognizing this motif (145-RLSNTSP-151). However, we have not ruled out whether this deletion mutant is correctly folded or not. Sequence specific peptides from 14-3-3 binding ligands have been proved to competitively disrupt 14-3-3 protein-ligand interactions ^{154, 158, 176}. To further understand the 14-3-3-SAC1 interaction, we have tried to express and purify recombinant GST-tagged or His-tagged SAC1 and 14-3-3 proteins from bacterial

BL21(DE3) so that we could utilize the *in vitro* peptide competition assay to further characterize whether this is the site in SAC1 for 14-3-3-SAC1 interaction or not. Unfortunately, only recombinant 14-3-3 proteins have been successfully expressed and purified (see Appendices Figure 26). Recombinant SAC1 proteins either completely form inclusion bodies or could not be expressed in E.coli (see Appendices Figure 27). Therefore, it is not feasible to use this strategy to examine the interaction of 14-3-3 with SAC1 *in vitro*.

Although the highly conserved structure and shared identity at the amino acid level of the seven human 14-3-3 isoforms suggest their redundant functions ¹⁵², certain 14-3-3 isoform-specific interactions with their ligands have been reported ^{203, 204}. Here we found that, with the exception of 14-3-3 ζ , all 14-3-3 isoforms interact with human SAC1 but 14-3-3 γ shows consistently high level of recovery from the coimmunoprecipitation with SAC1. C-terminal amino acid residues of 14-3-3 isoforms are not as conserved as the region that forms the peptide binding groove ¹⁵². They are believed to be the most variable region among the 14-3-3 isoforms ¹⁵². C-terminal stretch of 14-3-3 was reported as an auto-inhibitory domain by occupying the ligand-binding groove and has been suggested playing a critical role in the regulation of 14-3-3-ligand binding ^{235, 236}. 14-3-3 ζ displays a slightly structural difference with a distinct extended C-terminus from other 14-3-3 isoforms (see Figure 10). We have no clue whether this slightly structural difference of 14-3-3 ζ accounts for the much lower level of pulldown of this isoform by human SAC1 or not.

It is generally known that interactions between 14-3-3 proteins and their ligands involve in phosphorylation of classic 14-3-3 binding motifs ¹⁴⁸. The primary function of

14-3-3 proteins is to bind phospho-serine/threonine-containing motifs in a sequencespecific manner, such as the well-characterized consensus mode I motif (RSXpSXP), mode II (RXSXpSXP) and mode III SWTY motif^{148, 204}. The amino acid sequence of RLSNTSP in SAC1 closely resembles the consensus mode II 14-3-3 binding motif. Examination of the amino acid sequence RLSNTSP further identified three potential phosphoserine/threonine sites in the 14-3-3-binding motif of SAC1. Among them, by prediction, Ser-147 (S147) is a potential Casein Kinase I (CKI) and/or PKA (protein kinase A) consensus phosphorylation site; Thr-149 (T149) is a potential Casein kinase II (CKII) consensus phosphorylation site; Ser-150 (S150) is a potential p38 MAPK phosphorylation site. The putative motif RLSNTSP bears high resemblance to the canonical mode II 14-3-3 binding motif, yet mutating the likely core phosphorylation sites T149 and S147 in this motif did not affect interaction with 14-3-3 proteins. However, elimination of all three phosphorylation sites in the RLSNTSP motif showed greatly reduced recovery of 14-3-3 from the immunoprecipitates. These results imply that binding of 14-3-3 to SAC1 may be regulated by multiple phosphorylations in the mode II-like 14-3-3 binding motif. One of phosphorylated serine or threonine in this region is sufficient to allow binding of 14-3-3 to human SAC1. To date, there is no evidence showing that human SAC1 is phosphorylated at these sites. Therefore, how 14-3-3 proteins binding to SAC1 is regulated awaits further studies.

5.2 The effect of 14-3-3 binding to SAC1

14-3-3 proteins have been implicated in regulating ER exit of various plasma membrane proteins such as the potassium channel KCNK3 $^{210, 211}$ and human κ -opioid receptor 163 . These membrane proteins share the common feature of containing a 14-3-3 binding motif

and possessing an ER retention signal. Binding of 14-3-3 was proposed to allow efficient surface expression of these membrane proteins by probing the multimeric assembly, modulating ER exit or by masking the ER retention signal ^{159, 181, 207, 228}. The 14-3-3 binding motif in SAC1 is situated near its cytoplasmic N-terminus whereas a canonical di-lysine ER retention signals located at its C-terminus. This arrangement of 14-3-3 binding motif and COP-I retention motif in SAC1 is very similar to that of potassium channel KCNK3, in which 14-3-3 binding motif and COP-I retention motif are placed at C-terminus and N-terminus respectively²¹⁰. At steady state, SAC1 constantly shuttles between ER and cis-Golgi compartments. The canonical di-lysine motif at the C-terminus of Sac1 is vital for coatomer complex-I (COP-I)-binding and returning to the ER. Serum starvation has been reported to provoke accumulation of SAC1 at the Golgi. We therefore speculate that 14-3-3 binding to SAC1 may interfere with classic KXKXX COP-I coatomer-binding motif (KEKID in SAC1) and regulate anterograde ER to Golgi transport of SAC1. Examination of subcellular localization of SAC1(Δ 145-151) mutant by confocal microscopy revealed that even serum starvations couldn't trigger this mutant out of the ER compared with the SAC1 wild type. We suggest that, like other membrane proteins that have a 14-3-3 binding site and an ER retention signal, 14-3-3 binding to SAC1 regulates anterograde trafficking of SAC1 from the ER to the Golgi.

In summary, we discovered that 14-3-3 proteins are novel interacting partners of human lipid phosphatase SAC1. We present that 14-3-3 binding to SAC1 occurs likely via a classic mode II-like motif (145-RLSNTSP-151) at the cytoplasmic N-terminus in SAC1. Isoform-specific interaction analysis indicated that most isoforms with exception of 14-3-3 ζ bind to human SAC1. Regulation of 14-3-3 binding to SAC1 may be

controlled by multiple phosphorylations as only substitution of all potential phsophorylation sites within the mode II-like motif resulted in a strong reduction in 14-3-3 binding. Fluorescence microscopy indicated that the SAC1(Δ 145-151) mutant displays greatly compromised trafficking out of the ER, which suggests that 14-3-3 might regulate anterograde ER to Golgi trafficking of lipid phosphatase SAC1.

6. FIGURES AND FIGURE LEGENDS

Figure 21



Figure 21. 14-3-3 σ is a novel human SAC1 binding protein. COS-7 cells were transiently co-transfected with 2.5µg of pcDNA3-Myc-14-3-3 σ and 5µg of pEGFP-C1-SAC1. The cells were lysed and subjected to Co-IP assays. Myc-14-3-3 σ in the cell lysates was recovered by immunoprecipitation with the anti-myc (9E10). Cell lysates and the IPs were analyzed by western blotting with anti-myc (1:1000) and the anti-GFP antibody (1:1000).



Figure 22. 14-3-3 σ associates with human SAC1 via a classic mode 2-like motif. (A) A schematic representation of human lipid phosphatase SAC1 with two transmembrane domains at its C-terminus. SAC1 domain: SAC1 phosphatase catalytic domain. The arrow indicates location of the putative 14-3-3 binding site (145-RLSNTSP-151) in SAC1. (B) Deletion of amino acid RLSNTSP sequence in SAC1 abolishes binding of 14-3-3 to SAC1. COS-7 cells were co-transfected with plasmid pCMV3Tag-1A-SAC1, which expresses Flag-tagged SAC1, and plasmid pcDNA3-Myc-14-3-3 σ , which expresses Myc-tagged 14-3-3 σ . After 48 hrs, the pre-cleared cell lysates were incubated with anti-flag M2 antibody overnight and purified using protein G sepharose. The proteins precipitated by anti-flag M2 antibody were subjected to SDS-PAGE and Western blot analysis.



Figure 23. Effects of 14-3-3 on the ER export of SAC1. COS-7 cells were transiently transfected with plasmids pEGFP-SAC1 (A and C) and pEGFP-SAC1(Δ 145-151) (B and D). After 24 hrs the cells were subjected to culture media containing 10% FBS serum (A and B) or to serum-depleted medium (0.2% FBS)(C and D) for 48 hrs. The cells were then fixed and co-stained with anti-GM130 antibody (red). Subcellular localization of wild type (WT) GFP-SAC1 (green) and deletion mutant GFP-SAC1(Δ 145-151) (green) was analyzed by confocal immunofluorescence microscopy. Scale bar, 50µm. Magnification (x180) Note: del145-151 means Δ 145-151 in this figure.

A.



B.



Figure 24. Interaction of 14-3-3 isoforms with human SAC1. (A) Establishment of Hep3B/Flag-SAC1 stable cell line. Hep3B cells were transfected with pCMV3Tag-1A-SAC1 (1 µg of DNA mixed with 3 µl Lipofectamine 2000) by using Lipofectamine 2000. After 72 hrs, transfected cells were selected using 400 µg/ml G418 (Geneticin). Established clones were screened by gel electrophoresis and subsequent western blot analysis. Results showed that one clone (#5) out of 8 expresses Flag-SAC1 when probed with anti-flag M2 antibody and anti-beta actin antibody (loading control). The #5 stable clone expressing Flag-SAC1 was picked and re-cloned to secure a pure cell line. Experiments for probing isoform-specific interactions of 14-3-3 with SAC1 were conducted by utilizing this stable cell line (#5); (B) All isoforms interact with SAC1 other than 14-3-3 ζ isoform. Hep3B/Flag-SAC1 cells plated in 10cm plates were transiently transfected with 5µg of empty vector, pMD-HA-14-3-3β, pMD-HA-14-3-3γ, pMD-HA-14-3-3ε, pMD-HA-14-3-3η, pMD-HA-14-3-3σ, pMD-HA-14-3-3θ and pMD-HA-14-3-3^ζ respectively. Meanwhile, Hep3B cells were transiently transfected with pMD-HA-14- $3-3\sigma$ as a negative control. The cells were lysed and cell lysates were used for immunoprecipitation with the anti-flag M2 antibody. Cell lysates and the IPs were analyzed by western blotting analysis with anti-flag M2 (1:000) and the anti-HA11 antibody (1:1000).

A.

| HA-14 | -3-3Y | + | + | + | + | + | |
|---------|--------|-------|-------|-----|--------|-----|----------------------------|
| Flag- | SAC1 | S147A | T149A | - | WT | K2A | |
| | 72kD- | | | | - | - | WB: anti-Flag Flag-SAC1 |
| ≞ | 34kD- | since | - | | - | | WB: anti-HA HA-14-3-3 |
| | 26kD-1 | | | | | |] |
| rt(10%) | 56kD- | - | | 記書で | Trans. | | -Flag-SAC1 |
| Inpu | 26kD- | - | | | | - | WB: anti-HA HA-14-3-3 |

B.



C.





Figure 25. Phosphorylation-dependent binding of 14-3-3 to human SAC1.

(A) Single alanine substitution mutants S147A and T149A did not disrupt 14-3-3 binding to SAC1. COS-7 cells plated in 10cm plates were co-transiently transfected with pMD-HA-14-3- 3γ (2.5µg) and corresponding SAC1 plasmids as indicated, The cells were lysed and cell lysates were recovered by immunoprecipitation using an anti-flag M2 antibody. Cell lysates and the IPs were analyzed by western blotting using anti-flag M2 (1:000) and anti-HA11 antibody (1:1000). (B) Double alanine substitution mutant SAC1(S147A/T149A) showed no reduction of association with 14-3-3 protein. COS-7 cells plated in 10cm plates were transiently co-transfected with plasmids as indicated combinations. Co-IP assays and subsequent western blot analysis were conducted as described above. (C) Triple alanine mutant SAC1(S147A/T149A/S150A) showed reduced binding of 14-3-3 proteins. COS-7 cells plated in 10cm plates were transiently co-transfected with plates were transiently cotransfected with plasmids as indicated. Co-IP assays and subsequent western blot were transiently cotransfected with plasmids as indicated. Co-IP assays and subsequent western blot were transiently cotransfected with plasmids as indicated. Co-IP assays and subsequent western blot were conducted as described above.
CHAPTER FOUR

FUTURE DIRECTIONS

In the chapter two, we identified two distinct regions (the first transmembrane domain (TM1) and cytoplasmic N-terminal domain) of human lipid phosphatase SAC1 are sufficient for its Golgi retention. Despite our discoveries, however, a number of questions remain unanswered regarding the exact mechanism and regulation of SAC1 retention in the Golgi. Those questions suggest the following future directions.

1) My data suggest that 43 amino acid residues (478-520) in the cytoplasmic region adjacent to the SAC1-TM1 could be potential oligomerization domain. However, the critical residues in this region that responsible for the oligomerization are unknown and whether and how this oligomerization of human SAC1 is regulated is unanswered. Also, we do not know whether oligomerization of human SAC1 occurs at the ER, Golgi, or both. Finally, we have not investigated whether oligomerization of human SAC1 affects its catalytic activity or whether SAC1 is a dimer or a multimer. Sequence alignment of the cytoplasmic region of SAC1 from amino acid 478 to 520 shows high homology among the Sac1 family proteins from yeast to human (see Figure 19C). Could this mean that this region is a universal oligomerization domain among the SAC1 family members? This will be interesting for yeast Sac1p, which has no conserved leucine zipper motif.

2) We showed that GFP-SAC1(512-549) mutant displayed the ER confined localization and could not get out of the ER when we tried to narrow down the cytoplasmic Golgi retention signal of the minimal construct GFP-SAC1(478-549), suggesting a potential ER export signal present in the adjacent region of SAC1-TM1. The sequence 505-DELE-508 in SAC1 has proved not to be an ER export signal, I

101

hypothesize that oligomerization of SAC1 could serve as an ER export signal in such that correctly assembled SAC1 oligomers may promote ER exit. In agreement with this hypothesis, previous studies from our laboratory have shown that yeast GFP-Sac1(Δ 494-504) deletion mutant strictly localizes at the ER ⁴⁶. Does this data suggest that the region between residues 494 and 502 in the yeast Sac1p may function as an ER export signal? Consistent with the yeast experiments, my co-IP assay revealed that the human Flag-SAC1(1-549) protein could recover much more GFP-SAC1(478-549) than GFP-SAC1(501-587), suggesting that the critical region for oligomerization of SAC1 is located at 478-501, but it needs to be tested.

3) We have not yet identified the signal at the cytoplasmic N-terminal domain of SAC1 that confers sufficient Golgi retention of SAC1. According to the known Golgi retention mechanisms, oligomerization of SAC1 mediated either by leucine zipper motif or by the TM1 adjacent region (478-520) or both could contribute to Golgi retention of SAC1. Another possibility is that the recently identified PI4P binding protein GOLPH3, a homolog of yeast Vps74, may be responsible for sufficient Golgi retention of human SAC1. Yeast Vps74 has been reported to be vital for properly maintaining Golgi sub-region distribution of some glycosylation enzymes ¹³³. Furthermore, a yeast two-hybrid assay confirmed that Vps74 could directly interact with Sac1p via the cytoplasmic N-terminal domain and retained Sac1p at the cis-Golgi and medial-Golgi in yeast ²²⁶. However, whether GOLPH3 interacts with human SAC1 is unknown.

4) One important question is whether steady state localization of human SAC1, especially the Golgi-targeted mutant SAC1-K2A, is located at the TGN or cis/medial/trans Golgi. In this study, I used the cis-Golgi marker GM130 and medial-

Golgi marker GRASP65. However, I did not use any TGN marker. Interestingly, brefeldin A (BFA) treatment resulted in redistribution of GFP-SAC1-K2A to the ER, suggesting that even the Golgi-targeted mutant SAC1-K2A could localize at the cis/medial/trans Golgi instead of TGN because BFA treatment normally results in TGN fusion with the endosomal system, not the ER ¹⁴⁰. Previous confocal immunofluorescence microscopy studies showed that SAC1 proteins do localize at the TGN because they colocalized with the TGN marker TGN46. These controversial results need to be resolved by using high-resolution electron microscopy (EM) and quantitative biochemical analysis.

5) Recent studies have shown that plus-strand RNA viruses could hijack host PI4P kinases to expand the PI4P enriched membranes at the Golgi in order to enlarge their replication platforms ³⁷. What happens to PI4P phosphatase SAC1 during these processes is not known. Is there simply too much PI4P for SAC1 to handle? Alternatively, could SAC1 phosphatase activity be inhibited by certain mechanism like binding of a viral protein? I will examine my hypothesis that non-structural NS5A protein of Hepatitis C virus (HCV) regulates SAC1 enzymatic activity through directly interacting with VAMP-associated protein (VAPB) protein, which has recently identified to interact with SAC1 and control phosphoinositide metabolism ^{79, 237, 238}. Moreover, it has been shown that depletion of the Golgi-specific PI4P pool by SAC1-K2A mutant leads to reduction in HCV secretion ²³⁹. Based on my BFA treatment data, the Golgi-targeted SAC1-K2A localizes at the cis/medial/trans Golgi, not the TGN. Could thus be possible that to release the brake of cis/medial/trans Golgi retention for SAC1-K2A so that it can reach TGN will make it a more potent antagonist for viral secretion?

103

For the 14-3-3 stories described in the chapter three, there are more questions than answers. Future studies should focus on the following questions:

1) We found that deletion mutant SAC1(Δ 145-151), in which the potential 14-3-3-binding motif is removed, showed compromised trafficking out of the ER compared with wild type SAC1. This ER-restricted steady state localization of SAC1(Δ 145-151) could be explained in at least three ways. Firstly, the deletion of the potential 14-3-3binding motif could affect a COP-II mediated anterograde trafficking. Secondly, the deletion could cause the speed-up of COP-I mediated retrograde retrieval. Finally, SAC1(Δ 145-151) could be simply misfolded. To test all these hypotheses, the wild type SAC1 and SAC1(Δ 145-151) proteins tagged with the green-to-red photoswitchable fluorescent protein Dendra2 would be instrumental. The advantage of these constructs is that they can be used to measure half-life of both the Dendra2-SAC1 and Dendra2-SAC1(Δ 145-151), as well as to track the SAC1 movement.

2) Investigation of human SAC1 binding to different isoforms of 14-3-3 revealed that the 14-3-3 γ isoform consistently shows higher binding affinity to human SAC1 than other isoforms. Could this mean that 14-3-3 γ is the main isoform of 14-3-3 responsible for SAC1 trafficking? An experiment in which 14-3-3 γ would be knocked down by siRNA *in vivo* would answer this question.

3) Compared to the wild type SAC1, the triple alanine mutant, SAC1(S147A/T149A/S150A), which lacks all potential phosphorylation sites, showed reduced association with 14-3-3. Combined with the SAC1 single or double alanine mutants tested, this result might suggest that binding of 14-3-3 to SAC1 is regulated by phosphorylation at multi-sites. Next experiments to continue with this project would include testing the hypothesis that phosphorylation on SAC1 occurs within the mode IIlike 14-3-3 binding motif (145-RLSNTSP-151). I can utilize mass spectrometry to identify SAC1 phosphorylation and isolate phosphorylated peptides from human SAC1. Once phosphorylated sites within 145-RLSNTSP-151 are confirmed, existing kinase specific phosphorylation prediction tools, such as NetPhos 2.0 ²⁴⁰ and Scansite ²⁴¹, will be used to predict the potential kinase(s) that can phosphorylate serine (S) sites and threonine site (T) within this 14-3-3 binding motif (145-RLSNTSP-151). Then, kinase selective inhibitors or dominant negative mutants will be used to decipher what are the signaling pathways that regulate the phosphorylation of SAC1 within its 14-3-3 binding site.

REFERENCES

- Majerus, P.W., Connolly, T.M., Ross, T.S., Ishii, H. & Deckmyn, H. The role of phosphoinositides in cell physiology. *Symposium on Fundamental Cancer Research* 39, 157-163 (1986).
- Di Paolo, G. & De Camilli, P. Phosphoinositides in cell regulation and membrane dynamics. *Nature* 443, 651-657 (2006).
- Balla, A. & Balla, T. Phosphatidylinositol 4-kinases: old enzymes with emerging functions. *Trends in cell biology* 16, 351-361 (2006).
- 4. De Matteis, M.A. & D'Angelo, G. The role of the phosphoinositides at the Golgi complex. *Biochemical Society symposium*, 107-116 (2007).

- Vicinanza, M., D'Angelo, G., Di Campli, A. & De Matteis, M.A.
 Phosphoinositides as regulators of membrane trafficking in health and disease.
 Cell Mol Life Sci 65, 2833-2841 (2008).
- Majerus, P.W. & York, J.D. Phosphoinositide phosphatases and disease. *Journal* of lipid research 50 Suppl, S249-254 (2009).
- 7. Blagoveshchenskaya, A. & Mayinger, P. SAC1 lipid phosphatase and growth control of the secretory pathway. *Molecular bioSystems* **5**, 36-42 (2009).
- Bottomley, M.J., Salim, K. & Panayotou, G. Phospholipid-binding protein domains. *Biochimica et biophysica acta* 1436, 165-183 (1998).
- Lemmon, M.A. Pleckstrin homology (PH) domains and phosphoinositides.
 Biochemical Society symposium, 81-93 (2007).
- Lemmon, M.A. Pleckstrin homology domains: two halves make a hole? *Cell* 120, 574-576 (2005).
- Lemmon, M.A. Pleckstrin homology domains: not just for phosphoinositides.
 Biochemical Society transactions 32, 707-711 (2004).
- 12. De Camilli, P. et al. The ENTH domain. FEBS letters 513, 11-18 (2002).
- 13. Stenmark, H., Aasland, R. & Driscoll, P.C. The phosphatidylinositol 3-phosphatebinding FYVE finger. *FEBS letters* **513**, 77-84 (2002).
- Sato, T.K., Overduin, M. & Emr, S.D. Location, location, location: membrane targeting directed by PX domains. *Science (New York, N.Y* 294, 1881-1885 (2001).
- Chishti, A.H. *et al.* The FERM domain: a unique module involved in the linkage of cytoplasmic proteins to the membrane. *Trends in biochemical sciences* 23, 281-282 (1998).

- Koo, S.J., Puchkov, D. & Haucke, V. AP180 and CALM: Dedicated endocytic adaptors for the retrieval of synaptobrevin 2 at synapses. *Cellular logistics* 1, 168-172 (2011).
- Minogue, S. & Waugh, M.G. The Phosphatidylinositol 4-Kinases: Don't Call it a Comeback. *Sub-cellular biochemistry* 58, 1-24 (2012).
- Carlton, J.G. & Cullen, P.J. Coincidence detection in phosphoinositide signaling. *Trends in cell biology* 15, 540-547 (2005).
- D'Angelo, G., Vicinanza, M., Di Campli, A. & De Matteis, M.A. The multiple roles of PtdIns(4)P -- not just the precursor of PtdIns(4,5)P2. *Journal of cell science* 121, 1955-1963 (2008).
- 20. De Matteis, M.A., Di Campli, A. & Godi, A. The role of the phosphoinositides at the Golgi complex. *Biochimica et biophysica acta* **1744**, 396-405 (2005).
- Hama, H., Schnieders, E.A., Thorner, J., Takemoto, J.Y. & DeWald, D.B. Direct involvement of phosphatidylinositol 4-phosphate in secretion in the yeast Saccharomyces cerevisiae. *The Journal of biological chemistry* 274, 34294-34300 (1999).
- 22. Wang, Y.J. *et al.* Phosphatidylinositol 4 phosphate regulates targeting of clathrin adaptor AP-1 complexes to the Golgi. *Cell* **114**, 299-310 (2003).
- Wang, J. *et al.* PI4P promotes the recruitment of the GGA adaptor proteins to the trans-Golgi network and regulates their recognition of the ubiquitin sorting signal.
 Molecular biology of the cell 18, 2646-2655 (2007).

- 24. Hirst, J., Motley, A., Harasaki, K., Peak Chew, S.Y. & Robinson, M.S. EpsinR: an ENTH domain-containing protein that interacts with AP-1. *Molecular biology of the cell* **14**, 625-641 (2003).
- 25. Balla, A., Tuymetova, G., Tsiomenko, A., Varnai, P. & Balla, T. A plasma membrane pool of phosphatidylinositol 4-phosphate is generated by phosphatidylinositol 4-kinase type-III alpha: studies with the PH domains of the oxysterol binding protein and FAPP1. *Molecular biology of the cell* 16, 1282-1295 (2005).
- Yamaji, T., Kumagai, K., Tomishige, N. & Hanada, K. Two sphingolipid transfer proteins, CERT and FAPP2: their roles in sphingolipid metabolism. *IUBMB life* 60, 511-518 (2008).
- 27. Godi, A. *et al.* FAPPs control Golgi-to-cell-surface membrane traffic by binding to ARF and PtdIns(4)P. *Nature cell biology* 6, 393-404 (2004).
- Dippold, H.C. *et al.* GOLPH3 bridges phosphatidylinositol-4- phosphate and actomyosin to stretch and shape the Golgi to promote budding. *Cell* 139, 337-351 (2009).
- 29. Scott, K.L. *et al.* GOLPH3 modulates mTOR signalling and rapamycin sensitivity in cancer. *Nature* **459**, 1085-1090 (2009).
- Reiss, S. *et al.* Recruitment and activation of a lipid kinase by hepatitis C virus NS5A is essential for integrity of the membranous replication compartment. *Cell host & microbe* 9, 32-45 (2011).
- 31. Zhang, L. *et al.* ARF1 and GBF1 generate a PI4P-enriched environment supportive of hepatitis C virus replication. *PloS one* **7**, e32135 (2012).

- 32. Berger, K.L., Kelly, S.M., Jordan, T.X., Tartell, M.A. & Randall, G. Hepatitis C virus stimulates the phosphatidylinositol 4-kinase III alpha-dependent phosphatidylinositol 4-phosphate production that is essential for its replication. *Journal of virology* 85, 8870-8883 (2011).
- 33. Saxena, V., Lai, C.K., Chao, T.C., Jeng, K.S. & Lai, M.M. Annexin A2 is involved in the formation of hepatitis C virus replication complex on the lipid raft. *Journal of virology* 86, 4139-4150 (2012).
- 34. Hsu, N.Y. *et al.* Viral reorganization of the secretory pathway generates distinct organelles for RNA replication. *Cell* **141**, 799-811 (2010).
- Sasaki, J., Ishikawa, K., Arita, M. & Taniguchi, K. ACBD3-mediated recruitment of PI4KB to picornavirus RNA replication sites. *The EMBO journal* **31**, 754-766 (2011).
- Delang, L., Paeshuyse, J. & Neyts, J. The role of phosphatidylinositol 4-kinases and phosphatidylinositol 4-phosphate during viral replication. *Biochemical pharmacology* 84, 1400-1408 (2012).
- Altan-Bonnet, N. & Balla, T. Phosphatidylinositol 4-kinases: hostages harnessed to build panviral replication platforms. *Trends in biochemical sciences* 37, 293-302 (2012).
- Lorente-Rodriguez, A. & Barlowe, C. Requirement for Golgi-localized PI(4)P in fusion of COPII vesicles with Golgi compartments. *Molecular biology of the cell* 22, 216-229 (2011).
- 39. Waugh, M.G. Phosphatidylinositol 4-kinases, phosphatidylinositol 4-phosphate and cancer. *Cancer letters* **325**, 125-131 (2012).

- 40. Lemmon, M.A. Membrane recognition by phospholipid-binding domains. *Nature reviews* **9**, 99-111 (2008).
- 41. Walch-Solimena, C. & Novick, P. The yeast phosphatidylinositol-4-OH kinase pik1 regulates secretion at the Golgi. *Nature cell biology* **1**, 523-525 (1999).
- 42. Audhya, A., Foti, M. & Emr, S.D. Distinct roles for the yeast phosphatidylinositol
 4-kinases, Stt4p and Pik1p, in secretion, cell growth, and organelle membrane
 dynamics. *Molecular biology of the cell* 11, 2673-2689 (2000).
- 43. Demmel, L. *et al.* Nucleocytoplasmic shuttling of the Golgi phosphatidylinositol
 4-kinase Pik1 is regulated by 14-3-3 proteins and coordinates Golgi function with
 cell growth. *Molecular biology of the cell* 19, 1046-1061 (2008).
- Garcia-Bustos, J.F., Marini, F., Stevenson, I., Frei, C. & Hall, M.N. PIK1, an essential phosphatidylinositol 4-kinase associated with the yeast nucleus. *The EMBO journal* 13, 2352-2361 (1994).
- 45. Strahl, T., Hama, H., DeWald, D.B. & Thorner, J. Yeast phosphatidylinositol 4kinase, Pik1, has essential roles at the Golgi and in the nucleus. *The Journal of cell biology* **171**, 967-979 (2005).
- 46. Faulhammer, F. *et al.* Growth control of Golgi phosphoinositides by reciprocal localization of sac1 lipid phosphatase and pik1 4-kinase. *Traffic (Copenhagen, Denmark)* 8, 1554-1567 (2007).
- Audhya, A. & Emr, S.D. Stt4 PI 4-kinase localizes to the plasma membrane and functions in the Pkc1-mediated MAP kinase cascade. *Developmental cell* 2, 593-605 (2002).

- 48. Foti, M., Audhya, A. & Emr, S.D. Sac1 lipid phosphatase and Stt4
 phosphatidylinositol 4-kinase regulate a pool of phosphatidylinositol 4-phosphate
 that functions in the control of the actin cytoskeleton and vacuole morphology. *Molecular biology of the cell* 12, 2396-2411 (2001).
- Han, G.S., Audhya, A., Markley, D.J., Emr, S.D. & Carman, G.M. The Saccharomyces cerevisiae LSB6 gene encodes phosphatidylinositol 4-kinase activity. *The Journal of biological chemistry* 277, 47709-47718 (2002).
- Shelton, S.N. *et al.* Saccharomyces cerevisiae contains a Type II phosphoinositide
 4-kinase. *The Biochemical journal* 371, 533-540 (2003).
- 51. Chang, F.S., Han, G.S., Carman, G.M. & Blumer, K.J. A WASp-binding type II phosphatidylinositol 4-kinase required for actin polymerization-driven endosome motility. *The Journal of cell biology* **171**, 133-142 (2005).
- 52. Cutler, N.S., Heitman, J. & Cardenas, M.E. STT4 is an essential phosphatidylinositol 4-kinase that is a target of wortmannin in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. *The Journal of biological chemistry* 272, 27671-27677 (1997).
- 53. Pike, L.J. Phosphatidylinositol 4-kinases and the role of polyphosphoinositides in cellular regulation. *Endocrine reviews* **13**, 692-706 (1992).
- 54. Barylko, B. *et al.* A novel family of phosphatidylinositol 4-kinases conserved from yeast to humans. *The Journal of biological chemistry* 276, 7705-7708 (2001).
- 55. Minogue, S. *et al.* Cloning of a human type II phosphatidylinositol 4-kinase reveals a novel lipid kinase family. *The Journal of biological chemistry* 276, 16635-16640 (2001).

- Wong, K. & Cantley, L.C. Cloning and characterization of a human phosphatidylinositol 4-kinase. *The Journal of biological chemistry* 269, 28878-28884 (1994).
- 57. Meyers, R. & Cantley, L.C. Cloning and characterization of a wortmanninsensitive human phosphatidylinositol 4-kinase. *The Journal of biological chemistry* **272**, 4384-4390 (1997).
- 58. Barylko, B. *et al.* Palmitoylation controls the catalytic activity and subcellular distribution of phosphatidylinositol 4-kinase II{alpha}. *The Journal of biological chemistry* **284**, 9994-10003 (2009).
- Godi, A. *et al.* ARF mediates recruitment of PtdIns-4-OH kinase-beta and stimulates synthesis of PtdIns(4,5)P2 on the Golgi complex. *Nature cell biology* 1, 280-287 (1999).
- 60. Hilfiker, S. Neuronal calcium sensor-1: a multifunctional regulator of secretion.
 Biochemical Society transactions 31, 828-832 (2003).
- 61. Haynes, L.P., Thomas, G.M. & Burgoyne, R.D. Interaction of neuronal calcium sensor-1 and ADP-ribosylation factor 1 allows bidirectional control of phosphatidylinositol 4-kinase beta and trans-Golgi network-plasma membrane traffic. *The Journal of biological chemistry* 280, 6047-6054 (2005).
- Weixel, K.M., Blumental-Perry, A., Watkins, S.C., Aridor, M. & Weisz, O.A. Distinct Golgi populations of phosphatidylinositol 4-phosphate regulated by phosphatidylinositol 4-kinases. *The Journal of biological chemistry* 280, 10501-10508 (2005).

- de Graaf, P. *et al.* Nuclear localization of phosphatidylinositol 4-kinase beta.
 Journal of cell science 115, 1769-1775 (2002).
- 64. Jung, G. *et al.* Molecular determinants of activation and membrane targeting of phosphoinositol 4-kinase IIbeta. *The Biochemical journal* **409**, 501-509 (2008).
- Wong, K., Meyers dd, R. & Cantley, L.C. Subcellular locations of phosphatidylinositol 4-kinase isoforms. *The Journal of biological chemistry* 272, 13236-13241 (1997).
- Balla, A. *et al.* Immunohistochemical localisation of two phosphatidylinositol 4kinase isoforms, PI4K230 and PI4K92, in the central nervous system of rats.
 Experimental brain research. Experimentelle Hirnforschung 134, 279-288 (2000).
- Hughes, W.E., Cooke, F.T. & Parker, P.J. Sac phosphatase domain proteins. *The Biochemical journal* 350 Pt 2, 337-352 (2000).
- Manford, A. *et al.* Crystal structure of the yeast Sac1: implications for its phosphoinositide phosphatase function. *The EMBO journal* 29, 1489-1498 (2010).
- Guo, S., Stolz, L.E., Lemrow, S.M. & York, J.D. SAC1-like domains of yeast SAC1, INP52, and INP53 and of human synaptojanin encode polyphosphoinositide phosphatases. *The Journal of biological chemistry* 274, 12990-12995 (1999).
- 70. Hughes, W.E. The Sac phosphatase domain. *Curr Biol* **11**, R249 (2001).
- 71. Hughes, W.E. *et al.* SAC1 encodes a regulated lipid phosphoinositide phosphatase, defects in which can be suppressed by the homologous Inp52p and Inp53p phosphatases. *The Journal of biological chemistry* **275**, 801-808 (2000).

- Stolz, L.E., Huynh, C.V., Thorner, J. & York, J.D. Identification and characterization of an essential family of inositol polyphosphate 5-phosphatases (INP51, INP52 and INP53 gene products) in the yeast Saccharomyces cerevisiae. *Genetics* 148, 1715-1729 (1998).
- 73. Stolz, L.E., Kuo, W.J., Longchamps, J., Sekhon, M.K. & York, J.D. INP51, a yeast inositol polyphosphate 5-phosphatase required for phosphatidylinositol 4,5-bisphosphate homeostasis and whose absence confers a cold-resistant phenotype. *The Journal of biological chemistry* 273, 11852-11861 (1998).
- Cleves, A.E., Novick, P.J. & Bankaitis, V.A. Mutations in the SAC1 gene suppress defects in yeast Golgi and yeast actin function. *The Journal of cell biology* 109, 2939-2950 (1989).
- Novick, P., Osmond, B.C. & Botstein, D. Suppressors of yeast actin mutations. *Genetics* 121, 659-674 (1989).
- Rohde, H.M. *et al.* The human phosphatidylinositol phosphatase SAC1 interacts with the coatomer I complex. *The Journal of biological chemistry* 278, 52689-52699 (2003).
- Whitters, E.A., Cleves, A.E., McGee, T.P., Skinner, H.B. & Bankaitis, V.A.
 SAC1p is an integral membrane protein that influences the cellular requirement for phospholipid transfer protein function and inositol in yeast. *The Journal of cell biology* 122, 79-94 (1993).
- 78. Nemoto, Y. *et al.* Functional characterization of a mammalian Sac1 and mutants exhibiting substrate-specific defects in phosphoinositide phosphatase activity. *The Journal of biological chemistry* 275, 34293-34305 (2000).

- 79. Stefan, C.J. *et al.* Osh proteins regulate phosphoinositide metabolism at ERplasma membrane contact sites. *Cell* **144**, 389-401 (2011).
- Blagoveshchenskaya, A. *et al.* Integration of Golgi trafficking and growth factor signaling by the lipid phosphatase SAC1. *The Journal of cell biology* 180, 803-812 (2008).
- Schorr, M., Then, A., Tahirovic, S., Hug, N. & Mayinger, P. The phosphoinositide phosphatase Sac1p controls trafficking of the yeast Chs3p chitin synthase. *Curr Biol* 11, 1421-1426 (2001).
- 82. Tahirovic, S. *et al.* Role for lipid signaling and the cell integrity MAP kinase cascade in yeast septum biogenesis. *Current genetics* **43**, 71-78 (2003).
- 83. Zhong, S. *et al.* Allosteric activation of the phosphoinositide phosphatase Sac1 by anionic phospholipids. *Biochemistry* **51**, 3170-3177 (2012).
- 84. Liu, Y., Boukhelifa, M., Tribble, E. & Bankaitis, V.A. Functional studies of the mammalian Sac1 phosphoinositide phosphatase. *Advances in enzyme regulation* 49, 75-86 (2009).
- Kochendorfer, K.U., Then, A.R., Kearns, B.G., Bankaitis, V.A. & Mayinger, P. Sac1p plays a crucial role in microsomal ATP transport, which is distinct from its function in Golgi phospholipid metabolism. *The EMBO journal* 18, 1506-1515 (1999).
- Piao, H. & Mayinger, P. Growth and metabolic control of lipid signalling at the Golgi. *Biochemical Society transactions* 40, 205-209 (2012).

- Hughes, W.E., Pocklington, M.J., Orr, E. & Paddon, C.J. Mutations in the Saccharomyces cerevisiae gene SAC1 cause multiple drug sensitivity. *Yeast* (*Chichester, England*) 15, 1111-1124 (1999).
- Tani, M. & Kuge, O. Requirement of a specific group of sphingolipidmetabolizing enzyme for growth of yeast Saccharomyces cerevisiae under impaired metabolism of glycerophospholipids. *Molecular microbiology* 78, 395-413 (2010).
- Rivas, M.P. *et al.* Pleiotropic alterations in lipid metabolism in yeast sac1 mutants: relationship to "bypass Sec14p" and inositol auxotrophy. *Molecular biology of the cell* 10, 2235-2250 (1999).
- 90. Zhong, R. *et al.* Mutation of SAC1, an Arabidopsis SAC domain phosphoinositide phosphatase, causes alterations in cell morphogenesis, cell wall synthesis, and actin organization. *The Plant cell* **17**, 1449-1466 (2005).
- 91. Liu, Y. *et al.* The Sac1 phosphoinositide phosphatase regulates Golgi membrane morphology and mitotic spindle organization in mammals. *Molecular biology of the cell* **19**, 3080-3096 (2008).
- 92. Wei, H.C. *et al.* The Sac1 lipid phosphatase regulates cell shape change and the JNK cascade during dorsal closure in Drosophila. *Curr Biol* 13, 1882-1887 (2003).
- 93. Cheong, F.Y. *et al.* Spatial regulation of Golgi phosphatidylinositol-4-phosphate is required for enzyme localization and glycosylation fidelity. *Traffic* (*Copenhagen, Denmark*) 11, 1180-1190 (2010).
- 94. Konrad, G., Schlecker, T., Faulhammer, F. & Mayinger, P. Retention of the yeast Sac1p phosphatase in the endoplasmic reticulum causes distinct changes in

cellular phosphoinositide levels and stimulates microsomal ATP transport. *The Journal of biological chemistry* **277**, 10547-10554 (2002).

- 95. Piao, H., MacLean Freed, J. & Mayinger, P. Metabolic activation of the HOG MAP kinase pathway by Snf1/AMPK regulates lipid signaling at the Golgi. *Traffic (Copenhagen, Denmark)* 13, 1522-1531 (2012).
- 96. Faulhammer, F. *et al.* Cell growth-dependent coordination of lipid signaling and glycosylation is mediated by interactions between Sac1p and Dpm1p. *The Journal of cell biology* **168**, 185-191 (2005).
- 97. Barlowe, C.K. & Miller, E.A. Secretory protein biogenesis and traffic in the early secretory pathway. *Genetics* **193**, 383-410 (2013).
- Szul, T. & Sztul, E. COPII and COPI traffic at the ER-Golgi interface. *Physiology* (*Bethesda*, *Md* 26, 348-364 (2011).
- Anelli, T. & Sitia, R. Protein quality control in the early secretory pathway. *The EMBO journal* 27, 315-327 (2008).
- Mancias, J.D. & Goldberg, J. Exiting the endoplasmic reticulum. *Traffic* (*Copenhagen, Denmark*) 6, 278-285 (2005).
- Palmer, K.J. & Stephens, D.J. Biogenesis of ER-to-Golgi transport carriers:
 complex roles of COPII in ER export. *Trends in cell biology* 14, 57-61 (2004).
- 102. Nishimura, N. *et al.* A di-acidic (DXE) code directs concentration of cargo during export from the endoplasmic reticulum. *The Journal of biological chemistry* 274, 15937-15946 (1999).
- Mossessova, E., Bickford, L.C. & Goldberg, J. SNARE selectivity of the COPII coat. *Cell* 114, 483-495 (2003).

- 104. Kappeler, F., Klopfenstein, D.R., Foguet, M., Paccaud, J.P. & Hauri, H.P. The recycling of ERGIC-53 in the early secretory pathway. ERGIC-53 carries a cytosolic endoplasmic reticulum-exit determinant interacting with COPII. *The Journal of biological chemistry* 272, 31801-31808 (1997).
- Dominguez, M. *et al.* gp25L/emp24/p24 protein family members of the cis-Golgi network bind both COP I and II coatomer. *The Journal of cell biology* 140, 751-765 (1998).
- 106. Fiedler, K., Veit, M., Stamnes, M.A. & Rothman, J.E. Bimodal interaction of coatomer with the p24 family of putative cargo receptors. *Science (New York, N.Y* 273, 1396-1399 (1996).
- 107. Jackson, L.P. *et al.* Molecular basis for recognition of dilysine trafficking motifs by COPI. *Developmental cell* 23, 1255-1262 (2012).
- 108. Teasdale, R.D. & Jackson, M.R. Signal-mediated sorting of membrane proteins between the endoplasmic reticulum and the golgi apparatus. *Annual review of cell* and developmental biology 12, 27-54 (1996).
- Gorelick, F.S. & Shugrue, C. Exiting the endoplasmic reticulum. *Molecular and cellular endocrinology* 177, 13-18 (2001).
- 110. Gomez, M., Scales, S.J., Kreis, T.E. & Perez, F. Membrane recruitment of coatomer and binding to dilysine signals are separate events. *The Journal of biological chemistry* 275, 29162-29169 (2000).
- 111. Stornaiuolo, M. *et al.* KDEL and KKXX retrieval signals appended to the same reporter protein determine different trafficking between endoplasmic reticulum,

intermediate compartment, and Golgi complex. *Molecular biology of the cell* **14**, 889-902 (2003).

- 112. Vincent, M.J., Martin, A.S. & Compans, R.W. Function of the KKXX motif in endoplasmic reticulum retrieval of a transmembrane protein depends on the length and structure of the cytoplasmic domain. *The Journal of biological chemistry* 273, 950-956 (1998).
- Jackson, M.R., Nilsson, T. & Peterson, P.A. Retrieval of transmembrane proteins to the endoplasmic reticulum. *The Journal of cell biology* **121**, 317-333 (1993).
- 114. Nakamura, N., Wei, J.H. & Seemann, J. Modular organization of the mammalian Golgi apparatus. *Current opinion in cell biology* 24, 467-474 (2012).
- Banfield, D.K. Mechanisms of protein retention in the Golgi. *Cold Spring Harbor* perspectives in biology 3, a005264 (2011).
- Tu, L. & Banfield, D.K. Localization of Golgi-resident glycosyltransferases. *Cell Mol Life Sci* 67, 29-41 (2010).
- Mullen, R.T., Lee, M.S., Flynn, C.R. & Trelease, R.N. Diverse amino acid residues function within the type 1 peroxisomal targeting signal. Implications for the role of accessory residues upstream of the type 1 peroxisomal targeting signal. *Plant physiology* **115**, 881-889 (1997).
- Munro, S. Sequences within and adjacent to the transmembrane segment of alpha-2,6-sialyltransferase specify Golgi retention. *The EMBO journal* 10, 3577-3588 (1991).
- 119. Grabenhorst, E. & Conradt, H.S. The cytoplasmic, transmembrane, and stem regions of glycosyltransferases specify their in vivo functional sublocalization and

stability in the Golgi. *The Journal of biological chemistry* **274**, 36107-36116 (1999).

- Jaskiewicz, E. Retention of glycosyltransferases in the Golgi apparatus. *Acta biochimica Polonica* 44, 173-179 (1997).
- Sharpe, H.J., Stevens, T.J. & Munro, S. A comprehensive comparison of transmembrane domains reveals organelle-specific properties. *Cell* 142, 158-169 (2010).
- Machamer, C.E. Golgi retention signals: do membranes hold the key? *Trends in cell biology* 1, 141-144 (1991).
- 123. Wong, S.H., Low, S.H. & Hong, W. The 17-residue transmembrane domain of beta-galactoside alpha 2,6-sialyltransferase is sufficient for Golgi retention. *The Journal of cell biology* **117**, 245-258 (1992).
- 124. Teasdale, R.D., D'Agostaro, G. & Gleeson, P.A. The signal for Golgi retention of bovine beta 1,4-galactosyltransferase is in the transmembrane domain. *The Journal of biological chemistry* 267, 13113 (1992).
- 125. Hassinen, A., Rivinoja, A., Kauppila, A. & Kellokumpu, S. Golgi Nglycosyltransferases form both homo- and heterodimeric enzyme complexes in live cells. *The Journal of biological chemistry* 285, 17771-17777 (2010).
- 126. Aoki, D., Lee, N., Yamaguchi, N., Dubois, C. & Fukuda, M.N. Golgi retention of a trans-Golgi membrane protein, galactosyltransferase, requires cysteine and histidine residues within the membrane-anchoring domain. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **89**, 4319-4323 (1992).

- 127. Yamaguchi, N. & Fukuda, M.N. Golgi retention mechanism of beta-1,4-galactosyltransferase. Membrane-spanning domain-dependent homodimerization and association with alpha- and beta-tubulins. *The Journal of biological chemistry* 270, 12170-12176 (1995).
- 128. de Graffenried, C.L. & Bertozzi, C.R. The stem region of the sulfotransferase GlcNAc6ST-1 is a determinant of substrate specificity. *The Journal of biological chemistry* **279**, 40035-40043 (2004).
- Andersson, A.M., Melin, L., Bean, A. & Pettersson, R.F. A retention signal necessary and sufficient for Golgi localization maps to the cytoplasmic tail of a Bunyaviridae (Uukuniemi virus) membrane glycoprotein. *Journal of virology* 71, 4717-4727 (1997).
- 130. Sasai, K. *et al.* The critical role of the stem region as a functional domain responsible for the oligomerization and Golgi localization of Nacetylglucosaminyltransferase V. The involvement of a domain homophilic interaction. *The Journal of biological chemistry* **276**, 759-765 (2001).
- Dirnberger, D., Bencur, P., Mach, L. & Steinkellner, H. The Golgi localization of Arabidopsis thaliana beta1,2-xylosyltransferase in plant cells is dependent on its cytoplasmic and transmembrane sequences. *Plant molecular biology* 50, 273-281 (2002).
- Burke, J., Pettitt, J.M., Humphris, D. & Gleeson, P.A. Medial-Golgi retention of N-acetylglucosaminyltransferase I. Contribution from all domains of the enzyme. *The Journal of biological chemistry* 269, 12049-12059 (1994).

- 133. Tu, L., Tai, W.C., Chen, L. & Banfield, D.K. Signal-mediated dynamic retention of glycosyltransferases in the Golgi. *Science (New York, N.Y* **321**, 404-407 (2008).
- 134. Schmitz, K.R. *et al.* Golgi localization of glycosyltransferases requires a Vps74p oligomer. *Developmental cell* **14**, 523-534 (2008).
- Stanley, K.K. & Howell, K.E. TGN38/41: a molecule on the move. *Trends in cell biology* 3, 252-255 (1993).
- 136. Wong, S.H. & Hong, W. The SXYQRL sequence in the cytoplasmic domain of TGN38 plays a major role in trans-Golgi network localization. *The Journal of biological chemistry* 268, 22853-22862 (1993).
- 137. Lippincott-Schwartz, J., Yuan, L.C., Bonifacino, J.S. & Klausner, R.D. Rapid redistribution of Golgi proteins into the ER in cells treated with brefeldin A: evidence for membrane cycling from Golgi to ER. *Cell* 56, 801-813 (1989).
- Doms, R.W., Russ, G. & Yewdell, J.W. Brefeldin A redistributes resident and itinerant Golgi proteins to the endoplasmic reticulum. *The Journal of cell biology* 109, 61-72 (1989).
- Fujiwara, T., Oda, K., Yokota, S., Takatsuki, A. & Ikehara, Y. Brefeldin A causes disassembly of the Golgi complex and accumulation of secretory proteins in the endoplasmic reticulum. *The Journal of biological chemistry* 263, 18545-18552 (1988).
- 140. Lippincott-Schwartz, J. *et al.* Brefeldin A's effects on endosomes, lysosomes, and the TGN suggest a general mechanism for regulating organelle structure and membrane traffic. *Cell* 67, 601-616 (1991).

- 141. Reaves, B., Horn, M. & Banting, G. TGN38/41 recycles between the cell surface and the TGN: brefeldin A affects its rate of return to the TGN. *Molecular biology of the cell* **4**, 93-105 (1993).
- Chege, N.W. & Pfeffer, S.R. Compartmentation of the Golgi complex: brefeldin-A distinguishes trans-Golgi cisternae from the trans-Golgi network. *The Journal* of cell biology 111, 893-899 (1990).
- 143. Aitken, A. 14-3-3 and its possible role in co-ordinating multiple signalling pathways. *Trends in cell biology* 6, 341-347 (1996).
- 144. Moore, B.W.a.P., V. J. Specific Acid Proteins in the Nervous System. *Englewood Cliffs, New Jersey: Prentice-Hall.* (1967).
- Takahashi, Y. The 14-3-3 proteins: gene, gene expression, and function. *Neurochemical research* 28, 1265-1273 (2003).
- 146. van Hemert, M.J., van Heusden, G.P. & Steensma, H.Y. Yeast 14-3-3 proteins.*Yeast (Chichester, England)* 18, 889-895 (2001).
- 147. van Heusden, G.P. & Steensma, H.Y. Yeast 14-3-3 proteins. *Yeast (Chichester, England)* 23, 159-171 (2006).
- 148. Aitken, A. 14-3-3 proteins: a historic overview. *Seminars in cancer biology* 16, 162-172 (2006).
- 149. Sehnke, P.C. *et al.* Evolution and isoform specificity of plant 14-3-3 proteins.*Plant molecular biology* 50, 1011-1018 (2002).
- 150. Finnie, C., Borch, J. & Collinge, D.B. 14-3-3 proteins: eukaryotic regulatory proteins with many functions. *Plant molecular biology* **40**, 545-554 (1999).

- 151. Aitken, A. *et al.* 14-3-3 proteins: a highly conserved, widespread family of eukaryotic proteins. *Trends in biochemical sciences* **17**, 498-501 (1992).
- 152. Gardino, A.K., Smerdon, S.J. & Yaffe, M.B. Structural determinants of 14-3-3 binding specificities and regulation of subcellular localization of 14-3-3-ligand complexes: a comparison of the X-ray crystal structures of all human 14-3-3 isoforms. *Seminars in cancer biology* 16, 173-182 (2006).
- 153. Liu, D. *et al.* Crystal structure of the zeta isoform of the 14-3-3 protein. *Nature*376, 191-194 (1995).
- 154. Petosa, C. *et al.* 14-3-3zeta binds a phosphorylated Raf peptide and an unphosphorylated peptide via its conserved amphipathic groove. *The Journal of biological chemistry* 273, 16305-16310 (1998).
- 155. Obsil, T., Ghirlando, R., Klein, D.C., Ganguly, S. & Dyda, F. Crystal structure of the 14-3-3zeta:serotonin N-acetyltransferase complex. a role for scaffolding in enzyme regulation. *Cell* **105**, 257-267 (2001).
- Xiao, B. *et al.* Structure of a 14-3-3 protein and implications for coordination of multiple signalling pathways. *Nature* 376, 188-191 (1995).
- 157. Benzinger, A. *et al.* The crystal structure of the non-liganded 14-3-3sigma protein: insights into determinants of isoform specific ligand binding and dimerization. *Cell research* **15**, 219-227 (2005).
- Yaffe, M.B. *et al.* The structural basis for 14-3-3:phosphopeptide binding specificity. *Cell* 91, 961-971 (1997).
- Mrowiec, T. & Schwappach, B. 14-3-3 proteins in membrane protein transport.
 Biological chemistry 387, 1227-1236 (2006).

- Smith, A.J., Daut, J. & Schwappach, B. Membrane proteins as 14-3-3 clients in functional regulation and intracellular transport. *Physiology (Bethesda, Md* 26, 181-191 (2011).
- Bridges, D. & Moorhead, G.B. 14-3-3 proteins: a number of functions for a numbered protein. *Sci STKE* 2005, re10 (2005).
- 162. Neasta, J. *et al.* Direct interaction between scaffolding proteins RACK1 and 14-33zeta regulates brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) transcription. *The Journal of biological chemistry* 287, 322-336 (2012).
- Li, J.G., Chen, C., Huang, P., Wang, Y. & Liu-Chen, L.Y. 14-3-3zeta Protein regulates anterograde transport of the human kappa-opioid receptor (hKOPR). *The Journal of biological chemistry* 287, 37778-37792 (2012).
- 164. Hermeking, H. The 14-3-3 cancer connection. *Nat Rev Cancer* **3**, 931-943 (2003).
- Obsil, T. & Obsilova, V. Structural basis of 14-3-3 protein functions. *Seminars in cell & developmental biology* 22, 663-672 (2011).
- 166. Fantl, W.J. *et al.* Activation of Raf-1 by 14-3-3 proteins. *Nature* **371**, 612-614 (1994).
- 167. Neal, C.L. *et al.* Overexpression of 14-3-3zeta in cancer cells activates PI3K via binding the p85 regulatory subunit. *Oncogene* **31**, 897-906 (2012).
- Roczniak-Ferguson, A. *et al.* The transcription factor TFEB links mTORC1 signaling to transcriptional control of lysosome homeostasis. *Science signaling* 5, ra42 (2012).

- 169. Zha, J., Harada, H., Yang, E., Jockel, J. & Korsmeyer, S.J. Serine phosphorylation of death agonist BAD in response to survival factor results in binding to 14-3-3 not BCL-X(L). *Cell* 87, 619-628 (1996).
- 170. You, H. & Thomas, G. A homeostatic switch in PACS-2 links membrane traffic to TRAIL-induced apoptosis. *Cell cycle (Georgetown, Tex* 8, 2679-2680 (2009).
- 171. Kleppe, R., Martinez, A., Doskeland, S.O. & Haavik, J. The 14-3-3 proteins in regulation of cellular metabolism. *Seminars in cell & developmental biology* 22, 713-719 (2011).
- Astuti, P., Boutros, R., Ducommun, B. & Gabrielli, B. Mitotic phosphorylation of Cdc25B Ser321 disrupts 14-3-3 binding to the high affinity Ser323 site. *The Journal of biological chemistry* 285, 34364-34370 (2010).
- Astuti, P. & Gabrielli, B. Phosphorylation of Cdc25B3 Ser169 regulates 14-3-3binding to Ser151 and Cdc25B activity. *Cell cycle* 10, 1960-1967 (2011).
- 174. Chun, J. *et al.* Phosphorylation of Cdc25C by pp90Rsk contributes to a G2 cell cycle arrest in Xenopus cycling egg extracts. *Cell cycle* **4**, 148-154 (2005).
- 175. Forrest, A. & Gabrielli, B. Cdc25B activity is regulated by 14-3-3. *Oncogene* 20, 4393-4401 (2001).
- Muslin, A.J., Tanner, J.W., Allen, P.M. & Shaw, A.S. Interaction of 14-3-3 with signaling proteins is mediated by the recognition of phosphoserine. *Cell* 84, 889-897 (1996).
- 177. Irie, K. *et al.* Stimulatory effects of yeast and mammalian 14-3-3 proteins on the Raf protein kinase. *Science (New York, N.Y* **265**, 1716-1719 (1994).

- 178. Fu, H. *et al.* Interaction of the protein kinase Raf-1 with 14-3-3 proteins. *Science* (*New York, N.Y* **266**, 126-129 (1994).
- 179. Rittinger, K. *et al.* Structural analysis of 14-3-3 phosphopeptide complexes identifies a dual role for the nuclear export signal of 14-3-3 in ligand binding. *Molecular cell* 4, 153-166 (1999).
- Johnson, C. *et al.* Bioinformatic and experimental survey of 14-3-3-binding sites.
 The Biochemical journal 427, 69-78 (2010).
- Coblitz, B., Wu, M., Shikano, S. & Li, M. C-terminal binding: an expanded repertoire and function of 14-3-3 proteins. *FEBS letters* 580, 1531-1535 (2006).
- 182. Coblitz, B. *et al.* C-terminal recognition by 14-3-3 proteins for surface expression of membrane receptors. *The Journal of biological chemistry* 280, 36263-36272 (2005).
- Chung, J.J. *et al.* PI3K/Akt signalling-mediated protein surface expression sensed by 14-3-3 interacting motif. *The FEBS journal* 276, 5547-5558 (2009).
- Shikano, S., Coblitz, B., Sun, H. & Li, M. Genetic isolation of transport signals directing cell surface expression. *Nature cell biology* 7, 985-992 (2005).
- 185. Jahn, T. *et al.* The 14-3-3 protein interacts directly with the C-terminal region of the plant plasma membrane H(+)-ATPase. *The Plant cell* 9, 1805-1814 (1997).
- 186. Svennelid, F. *et al.* Phosphorylation of Thr-948 at the C terminus of the plasma membrane H(+)-ATPase creates a binding site for the regulatory 14-3-3 protein. *The Plant cell* **11**, 2379-2391 (1999).
- 187. Jelich-Ottmann, C., Weiler, E.W. & Oecking, C. Binding of regulatory 14-3-3 proteins to the C terminus of the plant plasma membrane H+ -ATPpase involves

part of its autoinhibitory region. *The Journal of biological chemistry* **276**, 39852-39857 (2001).

- Chung, H.J., Sehnke, P.C. & Ferl, R.J. The 14-3-3 proteins: cellular regulators of plant metabolism. *Trends in plant science* 4, 367-371 (1999).
- 189. Henriksson, M.L. *et al.* A nonphosphorylated 14-3-3 binding motif on exoenzyme S that is functional in vivo. *European journal of biochemistry / FEBS* 269, 4921-4929 (2002).
- 190. Ottmann, C. *et al.* Phosphorylation-independent interaction between 14-3-3 and exoenzyme S: from structure to pathogenesis. *The EMBO journal* 26, 902-913 (2007).
- 191. Zhai, J., Lin, H., Shamim, M., Schlaepfer, W.W. & Canete-Soler, R.
 Identification of a novel interaction of 14-3-3 with p190RhoGEF. *The Journal of biological chemistry* 276, 41318-41324 (2001).
- Wang, B. *et al.* Isolation of high-affinity peptide antagonists of 14-3-3 proteins by phage display. *Biochemistry* 38, 12499-12504 (1999).
- 193. Du, X., Fox, J.E. & Pei, S. Identification of a binding sequence for the 14-3-3 protein within the cytoplasmic domain of the adhesion receptor, platelet glycoprotein Ib alpha. *The Journal of biological chemistry* 271, 7362-7367 (1996).
- Masters, S.C., Pederson, K.J., Zhang, L., Barbieri, J.T. & Fu, H. Interaction of 143-3 with a nonphosphorylated protein ligand, exoenzyme S of Pseudomonas aeruginosa. *Biochemistry* 38, 5216-5221 (1999).

- 195. Du, Y., Khuri, F.R. & Fu, H. A homogenous luminescent proximity assay for 143-3 interactions with both phosphorylated and nonphosphorylated client peptides. *Current chemical genomics* 2, 40-47 (2008).
- 196. Cao, W. *et al.* Targeting 14-3-3 protein, difopein induces apoptosis of human glioma cells and suppresses tumor growth in mice. *Apoptosis* 15, 230-241 (2010).
- 197. Xu, Z. *et al.* 14-3-3 adaptor proteins recruit AID to 5'-AGCT-3'-rich switch regions for class switch recombination. *Nature structural & molecular biology* 17, 1124-1135 (2010).
- 198. Zhao, J. *et al.* Discovery and structural characterization of a small molecule 14-33 protein-protein interaction inhibitor. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 108, 16212-16216 (2011).
- Bier, D. *et al.* Molecular tweezers modulate 14-3-3 protein-protein interactions.
 Nature chemistry 5, 234-239 (2013).
- 200. Subramanian, R.R. *et al.* Interaction of apoptosis signal-regulating kinase 1 with isoforms of 14-3-3 proteins. *Experimental cell research* **294**, 581-591 (2004).
- Rosner, M., Hanneder, M., Siegel, N., Valli, A. & Hengstschlager, M. The tuberous sclerosis gene products hamartin and tuberin are multifunctional proteins with a wide spectrum of interacting partners. *Mutation research* 658, 234-246 (2008).
- 202. Paul, A.L., Denison, F.C., Schultz, E.R., Zupanska, A.K. & Ferl, R.J. 14-3-3 phosphoprotein interaction networks - does isoform diversity present functional interaction specification? *Frontiers in plant science* **3**, 190 (2012).

- Roberts, M.R. & de Bruxelles, G.L. Plant 14-3-3 protein families: evidence for isoform-specific functions? *Biochemical Society transactions* 30, 373-378 (2002).
- 204. Michelsen, K. *et al.* A multimeric membrane protein reveals 14-3-3 isoform specificity in forward transport in yeast. *Traffic (Copenhagen, Denmark)* 7, 903-916 (2006).
- 205. Mils, V. *et al.* Specific interaction between 14-3-3 isoforms and the human CDC25B phosphatase. *Oncogene* **19**, 1257-1265 (2000).
- 206. Jagemann, L.R. *et al.* The functional interaction of 14-3-3 proteins with the ERK1/2 scaffold KSR1 occurs in an isoform-specific manner. *The Journal of biological chemistry* 283, 17450-17462 (2008).
- 207. Yuan, H., Michelsen, K. & Schwappach, B. 14-3-3 dimers probe the assembly status of multimeric membrane proteins. *Curr Biol* **13**, 638-646 (2003).
- 208. Nufer, O. & Hauri, H.P. ER export: call 14-3-3. *Curr Biol* 13, R391-393 (2003).
- Shikano, S., Coblitz, B., Wu, M. & Li, M. 14-3-3 proteins: regulation of endoplasmic reticulum localization and surface expression of membrane proteins. *Trends in cell biology* 16, 370-375 (2006).
- 210. O'Kelly, I., Butler, M.H., Zilberberg, N. & Goldstein, S.A. Forward transport. 143-3 binding overcomes retention in endoplasmic reticulum by dibasic signals. *Cell*111, 577-588 (2002).
- Zuzarte, M. *et al.* Intracellular traffic of the K+ channels TASK-1 and TASK-3:
 role of N- and C-terminal sorting signals and interaction with 14-3-3 proteins. *The Journal of physiology* 587, 929-952 (2009).

- 212. Rajan, S. *et al.* Interaction with 14-3-3 proteins promotes functional expression of the potassium channels TASK-1 and TASK-3. *The Journal of physiology* 545, 13-26 (2002).
- 213. Cunningham, M.R. *et al.* Novel role for proteinase-activated receptor 2 (PAR2) in membrane trafficking of proteinase-activated receptor 4 (PAR4). *The Journal of biological chemistry* 287, 16656-16669 (2012).
- Wood, C.S. *et al.* PtdIns4P recognition by Vps74/GOLPH3 links PtdIns 4-kinase signaling to retrograde Golgi trafficking. *The Journal of cell biology* 187, 967-975 (2009).
- Colley, K.J. Golgi localization of glycosyltransferases: more questions than answers. *Glycobiology* 7, 1-13 (1997).
- 216. Munro, S. Localization of proteins to the Golgi apparatus. *Trends in cell biology* 8, 11-15 (1998).
- 217. Bretscher, M.S. & Munro, S. Cholesterol and the Golgi apparatus. *Science (New York, N.Y* **261**, 1280-1281 (1993).
- 218. Weisz, O.A., Swift, A.M. & Machamer, C.E. Oligomerization of a membrane protein correlates with its retention in the Golgi complex. *The Journal of cell biology* **122**, 1185-1196 (1993).
- 219. Johnson, M.B., Chen, J., Murchison, N., Green, F.A. & Enns, C.A. Transferrin receptor 2: evidence for ligand-induced stabilization and redirection to a recycling pathway. *Molecular biology of the cell* 18, 743-754 (2007).

- 220. Chen, J., Wang, J., Meyers, K.R. & Enns, C.A. Transferrin-directed internalization and cycling of transferrin receptor 2. *Traffic (Copenhagen, Denmark)* 10, 1488-1501 (2009).
- 221. Swift, A.M. & Machamer, C.E. A Golgi retention signal in a membrane-spanning domain of coronavirus E1 protein. *The Journal of cell biology* **115**, 19-30 (1991).
- 222. Munro, S. An investigation of the role of transmembrane domains in Golgi protein retention. *The EMBO journal* **14**, 4695-4704 (1995).
- 223. Qian, R., Chen, C. & Colley, K.J. Location and mechanism of alpha 2,6sialyltransferase dimer formation. Role of cysteine residues in enzyme dimerization, localization, activity, and processing. *The Journal of biological chemistry* 276, 28641-28649 (2001).
- Machamer, C.E. & Rose, J.K. A specific transmembrane domain of a coronavirus
 E1 glycoprotein is required for its retention in the Golgi region. *The Journal of cell biology* 105, 1205-1214 (1987).
- 225. Szentpetery, Z., Varnai, P. & Balla, T. Acute manipulation of Golgi phosphoinositides to assess their importance in cellular trafficking and signaling. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **107**, 8225-8230 (2010).
- 226. Wood, C.S. *et al.* Local control of phosphatidylinositol 4-phosphate signaling in the Golgi apparatus by Vps74 and Sac1 phosphoinositide phosphatase. *Molecular biology of the cell* **23**, 2527-2536 (2012).

- Butt, A.Q., Ahmed, S., Maratha, A. & Miggin, S.M. 14-3-3epsilon and 14-3-3sigma inhibit Toll-like receptor (TLR)-mediated proinflammatory cytokine induction. *The Journal of biological chemistry* 287, 38665-38679 (2012).
- 228. Michelsen, K., Yuan, H. & Schwappach, B. Hide and run. Arginine-based endoplasmic-reticulum-sorting motifs in the assembly of heteromultimeric membrane proteins. *EMBO reports* **6**, 717-722 (2005).
- 229. Schiller, M.R. Minimotif miner: a computational tool to investigate protein function, disease, and genetic diversity. *Current protocols in protein science / editorial board, John E. Coligan et al* **Chapter 2**, Unit 2 12 (2007).
- Rajasekaran, S. *et al.* Minimotif miner 2nd release: a database and web system for motif search. *Nucleic acids research* 37, D185-190 (2009).
- Burbelo, P.D. & Hall, A. 14-3-3 proteins. Hot numbers in signal transduction.
 Curr Biol 5, 95-96 (1995).
- 232. Rosenquist, M., Sehnke, P., Ferl, R.J., Sommarin, M. & Larsson, C. Evolution of the 14-3-3 protein family: does the large number of isoforms in multicellular organisms reflect functional specificity? *Journal of molecular evolution* 51, 446-458 (2000).
- 233. Martens, G.J., Piosik, P.A. & Danen, E.H. Evolutionary conservation of the 14-33 protein. *Biochemical and biophysical research communications* 184, 1456-1459 (1992).
- 234. Ferl, R.J. 14-3-3 Proteins and Signal Transduction. *Annual review of plant physiology and plant molecular biology* **47**, 49-73 (1996).

- 235. Obsilova, V. *et al.* 14-3-3zeta C-terminal stretch changes its conformation upon ligand binding and phosphorylation at Thr232. *The Journal of biological chemistry* 279, 4531-4540 (2004).
- 236. Silhan, J. *et al.* 14-3-3 protein C-terminal stretch occupies ligand binding groove and is displaced by phosphopeptide binding. *The Journal of biological chemistry* 279, 49113-49119 (2004).
- 237. Forrest, S. *et al.* Increased levels of phosphoinositides cause neurodegeneration in a Drosophila model of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Human molecular genetics* (2013).
- 238. Gao, L., Aizaki, H., He, J.W. & Lai, M.M. Interactions between viral nonstructural proteins and host protein hVAP-33 mediate the formation of hepatitis C virus RNA replication complex on lipid raft. *Journal of virology* 78, 3480-3488 (2004).
- Bishe, B., Syed, G. & Siddiqui, A. Phosphoinositides in the hepatitis C virus life cycle. *Viruses* 4, 2340-2358 (2012).
- Blom, N., Gammeltoft, S. & Brunak, S. Sequence and structure-based prediction of eukaryotic protein phosphorylation sites. *Journal of molecular biology* 294, 1351-1362 (1999).
- 241. Iakoucheva, L.M. *et al.* The importance of intrinsic disorder for protein phosphorylation. *Nucleic acids research* **32**, 1037-1049 (2004).

APPENDICES

Table 2. Plasmid information

| Plasmids | Primer pairs (5'-3') | Cutting |
|--|--|---------|
| | | sites |
| pcDNA3- | gcggcagcaggacggaggttcctggctttgcctattatcatggttgttgccttttcaatgt | BamHI |
| TfR2(TM1) | gcattatctgtttgcttatggctggtcgagggtcctgccaggcg | EcoRI |
| | cgcctggcaggaccctcgaccagccataagcaaacagataatgcacattgaaaagg | Liona |
| | caacaaccatgataataggcaaagccaggaacctccgtcctgctgccgc | |
| pCMV-3Tag- 1A-TaqRFP- peroxisome | catgtcgacctattacagcttactaagtttgtgccccag | BamHI |
| | catggatccatggtgtctaagggcgaag | SalI |
| pGFP- | catggatccatgatacgatattataag | BamHI |
| SACI(470-347) | catgtcgacttattatgtttctgtccaagtgtc | SalI |
| pGFP- SAC1(478-587)- K2A | catggatccatgatacgatattataag | BamHI |
| | catgtcgactcagtctatcgcttctgcctggaccagtctggg | SalI |
| pGFP- SAC1(501-549) | atggatccatggtgagcaagggcgag | BamHI |
| | catgtcgacttattatgtttctgtccaagtgtc | SalI |
| pGFP- | atggatccatggtgagcaagggcgag | BamHI |
| SAC1(512-549) | catgtcgacttattatgtttctgtccaagtgtc | SalI |
| pGFP- TfP2(73-801) | atgaattcaacctcattccctgggc | EcoRI |
| 11K2(75-801) | gagtcgacttatcagaagttgttatcaatg | SalI |
| pGFP- | ccaagggactggaaagctgcccctacctggtcctgacggccctgctgatcttcactg | BamHI |
| SAC1(TMtfr2)- K2A | gggcetteetaetgggetaegtegeettegaeaettggaeagaa | SalI |
| 112/1 | ttctgtccaagtgtcgaaggcgacgtagcccagtaggaaggccccagtgaagatcag | |
| | cagggccgtcaggaccaggtagggggcagctttccagtcccttgg | |
| pGFP- SAC1(478- 549)TMtfr2 | catggatccatgatacgatattataag | BamHI |
| | catgtcgacttattatgtttctgtccaagtgtc | SalI |
| pEGFP-C2- | atgaattcaacctcattccctgggc | EcoRI |
| (73-801)TM1 | gagtcgacttatcagaagttgttatcaatg | SalI |
| pCMV-3Tag- 1A-SAC1 (1-549) | catggatccgcgacggcggcctacgag | BamHI |
| | catggatccatgatacgatattataag | SalI |
| pCMV-3Tag- 1A-SAC1 (1.540)TMtfr2 | ccaagggactggaaagctgcccctacctggtcctgacggccctgctgatcttcactg | BamHI |
| | gggccttcctactgggctacgtcgccttcgacacttggacagaa | SalI |
| (1-349)1Mur2 | ttctgtccaagtgtcgaaggcgacgtagcccagtaggaaggccccagtgaagatcag cagggccgtcaggaccaggtagggggcagctttccagtcccttgg | |
| | | |

| pGFP-SAC1 | taagtgttccaagggactgataattcctggctttgcctaata | BamHI |
|-----------------------------|--|-------|
| (1-518) | tattaggcaaagccaggaattatcagtcccttggaacactta | - |
| pGFP- | cttggaaactattcagtggatgcattagcatctcatagtcctttaagtgtt | BamHI |
| SAC1(478-549)- E2A | aacacttaaaggactatgagatgctaatgcatccactgaatagtttccaag | SalI |
| pGFP- | gttgccttttcaatgtccattatctctttgcttatggctggtgacac | BamHI |
| SAC1(478- 549)C2S | gtgtcaccagccataagcaaagagataatggacattgaaaaggcaac | SalI |
| pGFP- | catggatccatgatacgatattataag | BamHI |
| SAC1(478- 549)ins3L | catgtcgacttattatgtttctgtccaagtgtc | SalI |
| pGFP-SAC1- | attatctgtttgcttctcctactgatggctggtgacact | BamHI |
| K2Ains3L | agtgtcaccagccatcagtaggagaagcaaacagataat | |
| pCMV3Tag-1A- | catggatecgegacggeggeetacgagea | BamHI |
| SACI | catgtcgacttatcagtctatcttttctttc | SalI |
| pCMV3Tag-1A- | catggatccgcgacggcggcctacgagca | BamHI |
| SACI-KZA | catgtcgactcagtctatcgcttctgcctggaccagtctggg | SalI |
| pCMV3Tag-1A- | atttgacccatactttgcaggaattccaagaaatgagtct | BamHI |
| SAC1 (Δ145-151) | agactcatttcttggaattcctgcaaagtatgggtcaaat | SalI |
| pEGFP-C1- | atttgacccatactttgcaggaattccaagaaatgagtct | BamHI |
| SAC1 (Δ145-151) | agactcatttcttggaattcctgcaaagtatgggtcaaat | |
| pCMV3Tag-1A- | ctttgcagcggctagccaacactagtcc | BamHI |
| SAC1 (\$147A) | ggactagtgttggctagccgctgcaaag | SalI |
| pCMV3Tag-1A- | cageggetatecaaegetagteetgaattee | BamHI |
| SAC1 (T149A) | ggaattcaggactagcgttggatagccgctg | SalI |
| pCMV3Tag-1A- | ccatactttgcagcggctagacaacgctagtcctgaattccaaga | BamHI |
| SAC1(S147A/ T149A) | tcttggaattcaggactagcgttgtctagccgctgcaaagtatgg | SalI |
| pCMV3Tag-1A- | gacccatactttgcagcggctagccaacgctgctcctgaattccaagaaatg | BamHI |
| SAC1(S147A/T 149A/S150A) | catttettggaatteaggageagegttggetageegetgeaaagtatgggte | SalI |
| pET28a- | catggatccgcgacggcggcctacgag | BamHI |
| SAC1(1-504) | catgtcgacttaccactgaatagtttccaag | EcoRI |
| pGEX-4T-1- | catggatccgcgacggcggcctacgag | BamHI |
| SAC1(1-458) | catgtcgacttagtcagtcttcaaggcaccag | EcoRI |
| pGEX-4T-1- | catggatccgcgacggcggcctacgag | BamHI |
| SAC1(1-504) | catgtcgacttaccactgaatagtttccaag | EcoRI |
| pEGFP-C2- | enzymatic digestion | EcoRI |
|---------------|---------------------|-------|
| SAC1(152- | | Sall |
| 549)TMtfr2 | | San |
| | | |
| pEGFP-C2- | enzymatic digestion | EcoRI |
| SAC1(152-549) | | Sall |
| | | San |
| | | |
| pET28a-14-3- | enzymatic digestion | BamHI |
| 3episilon | | FcoRI |
| | | Leon |
| | | |
| pGEX-4T-1-14- | enzymatic digestion | BamHI |
| 3-3sigma | | EcoRI |
| | | Leona |
| | | ł |

Figure 26



Figure 26. Expression and purification of GST and GST-14-3-3σ in E.coli.

Constructs of pGEX-4T-1 and pGEX-4T-1-14-3-3 σ were transformed into bacterial BL21(DE3). Expression of recombinant proteins was induced by IPTG at 30°C for 3hrs. Cells were precipitated and lysed. Recombinant proteins were purified from the supernatent. Samples of purified proteins were resolved on SDS-PAGE gel and transferred to PVDF membrane and stained with Panceau S. 1-recombinant GST protein; 2-4, recombinant GST-14-3-3 σ

Figure 27



Figure 27. Expression of recombimant GST- or His-tagged SAC1 and 14-3-3 proteins in E.coli. Constructs of pET-28a-14-3-3ε, pET28a-SAC1(1-504), pGEX-4T-1-SAC1(1-458) and pGEX-4T-1-SAC1(1-504) were transformed into bacterial BL21(DE3). Expression of recombinant proteins was induced by IPTG at 30°C for 3hrs. Cells were precipitated and lysed. Recombinant proteins were purified from the supernatent. Samples of recombinant proteins from the supernatent were resolved on SDS-PAGE gel and analyzed by Coomassie staining. Only recombinant 14-3-3 proteins were successfully expressed in E.coli. No soluble recombinant SAC1 proteins can be detected.